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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

We are an international biotechnology company ith&dcused primarily in the field of regenerativedicine. We are committed to the
discovery and development of best-in-class thesapésigned to extend and enhance the quality oihuife. We have established a portfolio
of therapeutic product development programs toesisignificant unmet medical needs in multipleaée areas. We are developing our lead
platform product, MultiSter® a patented and proprietary allogeneic stem cedyebthat has been evaluated in two completed Hidisgcal
trials and is currently being evaluated in two angdPhase Il clinical trials. Our current clinickvelopment programs are focused on treating
inflammatory and immune disorders, neurologicalditions, cardiovascular disease, and other conditidhese represent major areas of
clinical need, as well as substantial commercigloofunities.

We believe MultiStem represents a breakthroughefield of regenerative medicine and stem celiahg and could be used to treat a range c
disease indications. MultiStem is a patented angnpetary product that enhances tissue repair aatirtg in multiple ways, including reducing
inflammatory damage, protecting tissue that issit following acute or ischemic injury, and promnmagfiformation of new blood vessels in
regions of ischemic injury. The cells comprising Il&tem appear to be responsive to the environimewhich they are administered, homing
to sites of injury, providing active disease resgmowhile producing proteins that may provide béanefboth acute and chronic conditions. In
contrast to traditional pharmaceutical productbiofogics that generally act through a single bi@adal mechanism of action, MultiStem can
enhance healing and tissue repair through multijsiénct mechanisms acting in parallel, such aptoglucing a range of therapeutic factors,
dynamically responding to the needs of the body-ttieg) in a more effective therapeutic response.

The MultiStem product is unique among regeneratieglicine approaches, because it can be manufaaoradarge scale, may be
administered in an “off-the-shelfhianner with minimal processing, and can augmerirtgea multiple ways, providing biological poteneyd
therapeutic effects that other cell therapy apgreasnay not be able to achieve. Additionally, Mit#im has demonstrated a consistent safety
profile in both preclinical and clinical studieske drugs and biologics, the product is clearedfthe body over time, enhancing product s¢
relative to other types of stem cell therapy. WHhhle product does not permanently engraft in thizph the therapeutic effects of treatment
with MultiStem appear to be quite durable.

We believe the therapeutic and commercial potefaraMultiStem to be very broad, applying to muléiareas of significant unmet medical
need. We are pursuing opportunities in severalmiatemulti-billion dollar markets. While traditi@ pharmaceuticals or traditional biologic
therapies typically may be used to treat only glsinlisease or narrowly defined set of related itimms, MultiStem appears to have far broe
potential and could be developed in different folations and with different delivery approachesffedively treat a range of disease
indications.

We have evaluated the use of MultiStem as a peatendiatment in multiple disease areas. Workindp it international network of leading
investigators and prominent research and clinitgtitutions, and through our own internal effowts, have explored the potential for MultiSt
to be used in acute and chronic forms of inflammaémd immune disorders, neurological conditiomsdmvascular disease, certain pulmor
conditions, and other areas.

To date, we have successfully advanced MultiStemfine clinical stage programs, each of which addes a significant area of medical neec
and represents a large commercial market oppoytuditiltiStem has been evaluated in two completédaal trials, one exploring the potent

to treat patients that have suffered a heart asadkthe other evaluating the potential to prewemeduce graft-versus-host disease, or GvHD,
as well as other complications, and to provide sujpge care to patients being treated for leukeonieelated conditions. MultiStem is currently
being evaluated in two additional clinical programshe inflammatory and immune disease and negicéd areas. In one study, which is be
conducted with our partner, Pfizer Inc, or PfizdyltiStem is being administered to patients witbaunhtive colitis, a common form of
inflammatory bowel disease, or IBD. In another angastudy, we are evaluating the potential to tpedtents that have suffered neurological
damage from a stroke. In addition, a leading clihaenter in Europe that is a research collabotaserrecently received authorization to
conduct an initial clinical trial evaluating adnstriation of MultiStem in patients that have recdiggliver transplant.
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In addition to our MultiStem programs, we have #&ipbur pharmaceutical discovery capabilities entify and develop novel pharmaceutit
to treat obesity, related metabolic conditions saglliabetes, and certain neurological indicatsuth as schizophrenia. Further, small
molecule compounds that may be used to enhang&dldection or therapeutic effectiveness of MultiSter related products are under
development. These compounds may increase biolggitancy for certain indications and lead to seconthird generation products in the
regenerative medicine area. Our 5SHT2c agonist pragor obesity works by the same mechanism as kera#® , which was recently
approved by the United States Food and Drug Admnatien, or FDA, for the treatment of obesity. Waibve our compounds may have the
potential for providing superior weight loss perfance, while also achieving a superior safety alatability profile. In addition, we have
demonstrated that our compounds are complemeni#imother agents that have been approved by the feD#eating obesity. Furthermore,
certain compounds that we developed may also hedgeance in other disease areas, such as the &miadinschizophrenia. We are actively
exploring partnership opportunities for our 5SHT2ogram in both the obesity and schizophrenia arsgjell as for certain programs involv
MultiStem.

We were incorporated in Delaware on October 24518 June 8, 2007, we merged with a wholly owndssigliary of BTHC VI, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, and, on August 31, 2007, BNHdnc. changed its name to Athersys, Inc.

Business Strategy

Our principal business objective is to discoveralep and commercialize novel therapeutic prodfartglisease indications that represent
significant areas of clinical need and commercppartunity. The key elements of our strategy arttired below:

. Efficiently Conduct Clinical Development to EstahliClinical Proof of Concept and Biological Activivith our Lead Produc
CandidatesMultiStem represents a novel therapeutic modatitytiie treatment of inflammatory and immune systiésorders,
neurological conditions and cardiovascular diseasayell as in other areas. MultiStem may be adsténed like other biologics,
intravenously, via catheter, or by local injectidime cells appear to be responsive to their enmet, homing to sites of injury al
producing proteins that may provide benefit in aaut chronic conditions. Additionally, MultiStemlctherapy may deliver
therapeutic benefit through several distinct metdmsa of action, including reducing inflammatory dege, protecting tissue that is
at risk following acute or ischemic injury, and proting tissue repair, such as through formationesf blood vessels in regions of
ischemic injury. We are conducting a number ofichhstudies with the intent to establish prootohcept and/or proof of
biological activity in a number of important diseameas where the cell therapies would be expéateave benefit — inflammatory
and immune system dysfunctions, neurological cormtand cardiovascular disease. Our focus is adwating well-designed
studies early in the clinical development processstablish a robust foundation for subsequentldpreent, partnering activity and
expansion into complementary areas. We are conthtitta rigorous clinical and regulatory framewankich we believe has
helped us to advance our programs efficiently, jgiog high quality, transparent regulatory subnuasi Our discussions with the
FDA have resulted in a successful regulatory pastrip that has helped to advance our programsgesitly.

. Continue to Refine and Improve our Manufacturind &elated Processes and Deepen our Understandiberpeutic
Mechanisms of ActiolA key aspect of MultiStem is its substantial expangapacityex vivorelative to other cell types. This
enables large scale production of the clinical poydwhich enables greater consistency, specifanity cost of goods advantages
over other cell therapies. We plan to build on thignsic biological advantage by continuing toradce and optimize our
production and process development approachebefulieveloping new manufacturing techniques incgdiur bioreactor
platform, and optimizing the plant-to-bedside sypgiiain to support late-stage development and cowiatization of MultiStem.
Additionally, we will continue to refine our undéasisding of our products’ activities and mechanigrhaction to enable
optimization of administration and dosing and tegare the foundation for product enhancements extgeneration opportunitie
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. Enter into Licensing or Product (-Development Arrangements in Core Areas, while IOcgnsing Opportunities in Non-Core
Areas.In addition to our internal development efforts,important part of our product development stratisgp work with
collaborators and partners to accelerate produaldement, reduce our development costs, and broaalecommercial access. \
have entered into licensing and product co-devetyrarrangements with qualified commercial partt@@chieve these
objectives. We anticipate that this strategy wéllghus to develop a portfolio of high quality pratidevelopment opportunities,
enhance our clinical development and commerciatimatapabilities, and increase our ability to gatewalue from our proprietary
technologies. Over the past decade, we have erntaetbchnology licensing arrangements and estadd product
commercialization and co-development partnershits @mpanies such as Pfizer, Angiotech Pharmazastilnc., or Angiotech,
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, or Bristblyers Squibb, Johnson & Johnson, Wyeth Pharmaedsititc. and RTI Biologics, Inc
or RTI. These partnerships generate revenue anideroapital that allows us to advance certain @og further in developmer

. Efficiently Explore New High Potential Therapewtipplications, Leveraging Thi-Party Research Collaborations and our Results
from Related Area:Our product candidates have shown promise in neltjsease areas, including in treating inflammagord
immune disorders, neurological conditions, cardsowdar disease, and other areas. We are comnmtidptoring potential clinical
indications where our therapies may achieve bestass profile, and where we can address signifisamet medical needs. In
order to achieve this goal, over the past decadéhave established collaborative research reldtipasvith investigators from
many leading research and clinical institution®asrthe United States and Europe, including theetded Clinic, Case Western
Reserve University, University of Minnesota, thedital College of Georgia, the University of Oreddealth Sciences Center, the
University of Texas Health Science Center at Hausttee University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Ketholieke Universiteit
Leuven, or KUL, and other institutions. Throughsthietwork of collaborations, we have studied M in a range of preclinical
models that reflect various types of human diseasejury in the cardiovascular, neurological, aminunological areas. These
collaborative relationships have enabled us to efisttively explore where MultiStem may have tipenatic relevance, and how it
may be utilized to advance treatment over currimical care. Additionally, we have shown that wvandeverage clinical safety d:
and preclinical results from some programs to supgexelerated clinical development efforts in otheeas, saving substantial
development time and resources compared to traditidrug development where generally each progsaseparately develope

. Continue to Expand our Intellectual Property PolitioWe have a broad intellectual property estate thaeis our proprietary
products and technologies, as well as methodsaofyation and methods of use. Our intellectual priype important to our
business and we take significant steps to proteealue. We have ongoing research and developefiiemts, both through internal
activities and through collaborative research @@ with others, which aim to develop new intelleal property and enable us to
file patent applications that cover new applicagiohour existing technologies or product candisliaitecluding MultiStem and oth
opportunities

Our Current Programs

By applying our proprietary MultiStem cell therapgoduct, we have established therapeutic produaldpment programs treating
inflammatory and immune disorders, neurologicaldittons, cardiovascular disease, and other contditido date, we have advanced five
programs to the clinical development stage, inclgdhe following:

« Inflammatory Bowel DiseaseMultiStem is being evaluated in an ongoing PHasénical study involving administration of
MultiStem to patients suffering from ulcerativeitis| or UC, the most common form of IBD. This sfuid a double blind, placebo
controlled trial that began enrolling patients 012 and is being conducted with our partner, PfiretC patients who have an
inadequate response or are refractory to curreatrtrent. Enrollment of the trial is ongoing andigiesd to include approximately
130 patients, with initial results expected to &earted in the second half of 2013.
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» Ischemic Stroke In an ongoing Phase Il clinical study, we areleating the administration of MultiStem to patieatso
have suffered an ischemic stroke. In contrastgattnent with thrombolytics, which must be administiewithin 3 to 4 hours after a
stroke, we are treating patients one to two datgs #ie stroke has occurred. In preclinical studagninistration of a single dose of
MultiStem, even several days after a stroke, redut significant and durable improvements. Thishide blind, placebo-controlled
trial is being conducted at leading stroke cerdersss the United States and may include sitesiiofe. The study is expected to
enroll approximately 136 patients. We completedfiftst patient cohorts, and the independent safaipitoring committee found in
2012 that MultiStem was safe and well tolerateldadh of the doses evaluated. Patient enrolimettiefrial is ongoing, and patiel
are being randomized to receive either high doski$tem or placebo. We anticipate announcing ihigsults for the study in the
first half of 2014.

» Acute Myocardial Infarction We have evaluated the administration of MultiSterpatients who have suffered an acute
myocardial infarction, or AMI, in a Phase | clinicdudy. In 2010, we announced preliminary resigdtghis study, demonstrating a
favorable safety profile and encouraging signsrgirovement in heart function among patients thhtted severely compromis
heart function prior to treatment. This data waklished in a leading peer reviewed scientific jairn 2012. One-year follow-up
data suggested that the benefit observed was sedtaver time. We have completed preliminary plagrior a 150 patient Phase |l
trial that has been authorized by the FDA. Our planmove the AMI program forward into subsequervstiopment will depend on
the availability of capital resources, progresstn other clinical studies and our business devetq activities.

» Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant / GviH/e completed a Phase | clinical study of the adsivation of MultiStem to
patients suffering from leukemia or certain othieoll-borne cancers in which patients undergo ramhiaherapy and then receive a
hematopoietic stem cell, or HSC, transplant. Swatfepts are at significant risk for serious comgtiiens, including GvHD, an
imbalance of immune system function caused by plansed immune cells that attack various tissuesaagans in the patient. In
2011 and in 2012, we released data from the stubich demonstrated the safety of MultiStem in thidication and suggested that
MultiStem may have a beneficial effect in reducihg incidence and severity of GVHD, as well as fatiog other benefits. This
program has been assigned orphan drug designationtifie FDA, which provides us with seven yearmafket exclusivity upon
approval and certain other benefits. We have mit tie FDA to discuss the results of the clinidably and our proposed plans for
the next phase of clinical development in this aBssed on current plans, we intend to be readyatit this study in the second half
of 2013, but the initiation will depend on the pregs in our other clinical trials and the achievenwd certain business developm
and financial objectives.

We are also collaborating with a leading transptaotip at the University of Regensburg in Germdmag has recently obtained authorizatio
initiate an institutional sponsored clinical tredploring the administration of MultiStem in patigfollowing a liver transplant. We plan to
provide limited financial support for this investigr-sponsored Phase | study and provide the ptadwonduct the trial.

In addition to our current and anticipated clinidavelopment activities, we are engaged in prexdirdevelopment and evaluation of
MultiStem in other inflammatory and immune, neugdé@l and cardiovascular disease areas, as wedréain other indications. We conduct
such work both through our own internal researébresf and through a broad network of collaboratiseshave established with investigators
at leading research institutions across the Uritiatles and in Europe.

We are in discussions with third parties aboutatmrating in the development of MultiStem for cerfarograms and may enter into one or
more business partnership(s) to advance thesegmsgr

We have also collaborated with RTI on the develapnoé products for certain orthopedic applicatiaising our stem cell technologies in the
bone graft substitutes market. RTI's product depelent activities are progressing, and we recemtigraded our agreement to accelerate $2.C
million of contingent milestone payments into 2@d2Zonnection with technical support to assist RiTits development efforts. We will also
receive royalty revenue from product sales shdudy bccur, as well as potential additional milestpayments.
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We are also engaged in the development of novell smadecule therapies to treat obesity and otherditions, such as schizophrenia.
Currently, we are focused on the development céiohighly selective compounds that act throughudation of a specific receptor in the
brain, the 5SHT2c serotonin receptor. We are coridggireclinical evaluation of novel compounds tathave developed that exhibit favore
attributes, including outstanding receptor selétgtias well as greater potency and activity thtmren5HT2¢ agonists. We have also
demonstrated our compounds are complementary witr agents and believe these compounds couldwechést in class weight loss, along
with a superior safety and tolerability profile.rthermore, we have evaluated certain compoundeeitiipical models of schizophrenia that
exhibit an attractive selectivity profile and alsioserved that these compounds exhibit potent sff&ée are in discussions with interested
companies and may elect to enter into a partnetehapvance the development of our 5SHT2c agon@jnam, either for the treatment of
obesity, schizophrenia, or both indications.

Regenerative Medicine Progran
MultiStem— A Novel Therapeutic Modality

We are developing a proprietary non-embryonic,gaieic stem cell product candidate, MultiStem, #abelieve has potential utility for
treating a broad range of diseases and could haespread application in the field of clinical regeative medicine. Unlike traditional bone
marrow transplants or other stem cell therapiedfiBiem may be manufactured on a large scale andb@administered without tissue
matching or the need for immune suppression, ana®¢p type O blood. Potential applications of N&tkkm include the treatment of
cardiovascular disease, neurological disease aryignd conditions involving the immune systemjudag autoimmune disease and other
conditions. We believe that MultiStem represerggaificant advancement in the field of stem dedirapy and could have broad clinical
application. We currently have open Investigatiddalv Drug applications, or INDs, for the study ofifiStem in distinct clinical indications,
and a collaborating institution recently obtainetharization in Europe to initiate a clinical pragn through an investigator sponsored clinical
trial application, obtained with our permission augport.

MultiStem is a patented biologic product that isnefactured from human stem cells obtained fromtdatuhe marrow, although these cells
may alternatively be obtained from other tissuaces; which are also covered under our intelleqiugperty. The product consists of a specia
class of human stem cells that have the abiligxjaress a range of therapeutically relevant preteid other factors, as well as form multiple
cell types. Factors expressed by MultiStem haveithtential to deliver a therapeutic benefit in sal@vays, such as the reduction of
inflammation, regulation of immune system functipmtection of damaged or injured tissue, the fdimmaof new blood vessels in regions of
ischemic injury and augmentation of tissue repadt bealing in other ways. Like drugs, these ceby ime stored for an extended period of t
(in frozen form) and used off-the-shelf. Followiagministration, the cells have been shown to espmrastiple therapeutically relevant
proteins, but unlike a traditional transplant, subsequently cleared from the body over time, aymale to a drug or biologic.

The therapeutic benefit of bone marrow transpléomdtas been recognized for decades, and its alinge has grown since Congress passed
the National Organ Transplant Act in 1984 and tla¢idthal Marrow Donor Registry was established iBA.3However, widespread bone
marrow or stem cell transplantation has yet to bexa reality. Some of the limitations that havespreed broader clinical application of bone
marrow or stem cell transplantation include theuregment for tissue matching between donor angieaf, the typical need for one donor for
each patient (a reflection of the inability to ergacells in a controlled and reproducible manrfegjuent use of immune suppressive drugs to
avoid rejection or immune system complications,ittability to efficiently produce significant quaties of stem cells and a range of potential
safety issues.

A stem cell therapy that has the potential to askltbe challenges mentioned above could repredmetaithrough in the field of regenerative
medicine, since it could greatly expand the clihagaplication of stem cell therapy or other fornfisegenerative medicine. In 2003, we
acquired technology originally developed at theugnsity of Minnesota related to a novel stem ggiet Multipotent Adult Progenitor Cell, or
MAPC @, that may be isolated from adult bone maremmvell as other tissue sources. Over the pastadergars, we have further developed
this technology and the manufacturing of thesesdell use in ongoing clinical trials. We refer ke tcurrent product platform as MultiStem.
During several years of preclinical work, MultiStéras demonstrated the potential to address mathedfindamental limitations observed
with traditional bone marrow or hematopoietic stesl transplants.
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We believe that MultiStem represents a potentiat-ireclass stem cell therapy because it exhibits eatheofollowing characteristics based
research and development conducted to date:

. Broad plasticity and multiple potential mechanismhsiction.MultiStem cells have a demonstrated ability in aadimodels to form
a range of cell types and also appear to be aldelicer therapeutic benefit by producing factdrsttprotect tissues against damage
and inflammation, as well as enhancing or playimtirect role in revascularization or tissue regatien.

. Large scale productiorUnlike conventional stem cells, such as bldodning or hematopoietic stem cells, mesenchynehstells
or other cell types, MultiStem cells may be prodloa a large scale, processed, and cryogenicalyepved, and then used
clinically in a rapid and efficient manner. Matémdtained from a single donor may be used to precdwndreds of thousands or
millions of individual doses, representing a yitdd greater than other stem cells have been aldehizve

. “Off-the-shelf” utility. Unlike traditional bone marrow or hematopoietimsteell transplants that require extensive genettching
between donor and recipient, MultiStem is admimetevithout tissue matching or the requiremenifamune suppressive drugs.
MultiStem is administered as a cryogenically presdrallogeneic product, meaning that these cedis\at genetically matched
between donor and recipient. This feature, combimigld the ability to establish large MultiStem bankould make it practical for
clinicians to efficiently deliver stem cell therafiya large number of patien

. Safety Other stem cell types, such as undifferentiatedrgamic stem cells or induced pluripotent stem cle#ise shown the
capacity to form ectopic tissue or teratomas, whiehtumor-like growths. These could pose seriatesty risks to patients. In
contrast, MultiStem cells have shown a consistadtautstanding safety profile that has been cordpler several years of
preclinical study in a range of animal models hsadety of investigators and that is supported imgrging clinical date

At each step of the MultiStem production procesfis@are analyzed according to pre-establishedr@ito ensure that a consistent, well
characterized product candidate is produced. @ediharvested from a pre-qualified, healthy, cotisgrionor and these cells are then
expanded to form a master cell bank from which wiesequently produce clinical grade material. Weshdemonstrated the ability to harvest
cells that meet our rigorous criteria from healttonors with a high degree of consistency. Furthegmia multiple animal models, MultiStem
has been shown to be non-immunogenic, and is ast@iad without the genetic matching that is typycadquired for conventional bone
marrow or stem cell transplantation.

The distinctive profile of MultiStem allows us tague multiple high value commercial opportunifiesn a single product platform. Based
upon work that we and independent collaboratore ltanducted over the past several years, we bahewd/ultiStem has the potential to tr
a range of distinct disease indications, includsgipemic injury and cardiovascular disease, cettgoas of neurological conditions or injury,
autoimmune disease, transplant support (includingnicology patients and solid organ transplantsyreand a range of orphan disease
indications. As a result, we believe we will beeatn leverage our foundation of safety and efficdata to add clinical indications efficiently,
enabling us to reduce development costs and tieebabstantially.

MultiStem for Treating Immune System Disorders, ldadrological Conditions and Cardiovascular Disei

Healthcare represents a significant part of théaleconomy. In the United States, it represenpgdaximately 18% of all economic activity
20009, or about $2.49 trillion dollars annually. Hoxer, the United States, along with many otheronatiis experiencing an unprecedented
demographic shift that is resulting in a signifitgrexpanded population of older individuals. Aodimg to United States Census data, in the
next few years there will be a dramatic increasthénnumber of individuals over the age of 65 hés $egment of the population increases fror
40.2 million individuals in 2010 to more than 72lan people in 2030, representing an increasepfeximately 80%. The aging of the
population will create enormous financial pressurehe healthcare system in the United States #radt oountries around the world, resulting
in significant clinical challenges, but also remgtin substantial commercial opportunities.

8



Table of Contents

Data from the National Center for Health Statisshews that as people get older, they are moreeptibte to a variety of age related
conditions, including heart disease, stroke, ceffimims of cancer, diabetes, progressive neuradglisorders, various chronic inflammatory
and immune conditions, renal disease and a rangthefs. As a consequence, as people get oldespgend far more on healthcare— on
average they spend three to seven times more dif¢eea annually at age 65 than when they were geuand more healthy. According to the
Alliance for Aging Research, 83% of healthcare siiegis associated with chronic conditions, anceotiesearch shows that 62% of healthcar
spending is associated with multiple chronic candg. Traditional medical approaches have faileddequately address this problem.

We have worked with independent investigatorsrairaber of leading institutions, such as the Clawl@linic, University of Minnesota, the
National Institutes of Health, the Medical CollezfeGeorgia, the University of Oregon Health Scien€enter, the University of Texas Hee
Science Center at Houston, KUL and other institgtior hrough this network of collaborations, we hawelied MultiStem in a range of
preclinical models that reflect various types ofrtaun disease or injury in the cardiovascular, negiokl, and immunological areas. To date,
we and our collaborators have published reseamalitsallustrating the potential benefits of Mulié® in a range of indications including
myocardial infarction, vascular disease, ischenrmke, traumatic brain injury, or TBI, brain damadyge to restricted blood flow in newborns,
spinal cord injury, and bone marrow transplant sug@vHD. In addition, we have explored and intémdurther explore, the potential
application of MultiStem in the treatment of a rargf other conditions, including other forms ofdiavascular disease, neurological
conditions, and immune related disorders.

As stated above, we have consistently observedvbliStem is safe and effective in animal modéis.a result, we have advanced MultiStem
to clinical development stage in four clinical iodfions or disease areas: treatment of IBD (ihjtf@icused on UC); support in the hematologic
malignancy setting to reduce certain complicatiassociated with traditional bone marrow or HSCdpantation; treatment for stroke caused
by a blockage of blood flow in the brain; and treant of damage caused by myocardial infarction.i#ialthlly, in collaboration with a leading
transplant center in Europe, a fifth program ingb&d organ transplant area has been advancdihimat development.

We may expand to other clinical indication areaseaslits warrant and resources permit.

Immunological Disorders— MultiStem for IBD and HSC Transplant Support

Inflammatory and immune disorders represent a fiogmit burden to society. There are over 80 recmphautoimmune disorders, which are
conditions caused by an acute or chronic imbalamtiee immune system. In these conditions, celithefimmune system begin to attack
certain tissues or organs in the body, resultinissue damage and loss of function. Some inflarargatnd immune conditions are associated
with age-related conditions (e.g., rheumatoid &ty but some are due to other causes that mayebetic, environmental or a combination of
both (e.g., Type 1 diabetes, IBD). Still other citiods may reflect complications associated with tfeatment of other conditions (e.g., GvHD,
a frequent complication associated with transpteiatedures used to treat leukemia or related bbmyde cancers). Each of these conditions
shares certain biological characteristics, in thatimmune system imbalance results from the irgppate activation of certain populations of
immune cells that subsequently results in significssue damage and destruction. This immune iamc&l may result in a complex cascade o
inflammation that can result in pain, progressissue deterioration and loss of function. Whilereatly available immunomodulatory drugs
have proven to be effective for many patients, theye failed to adequately address the needs of wther patients that suffer from
inflammatory and immune disorders.

In multiple studies, MultiStem has shown potent inmomodulatory properties, including the abilityéaluce active inflammation through
various modes of action, stimulate tissue repairrastore immune system balance. Accordingly, wiewethat MultiStem could have broad
application in the area of treating immune systésorders, including certain autoimmune diseaseso#imel conditions, including GvHD,
which is a frequent immunological complication asated with bone marrow or HSC transplantation.

In 2009, we entered into a collaboration agreemétht Pfizer to develop and commercialize MultiStéanthe treatment of IBD for the
worldwide market. IBD is a group of inflammatorydaautoimmune conditions that affect the colon andlkintestine, typically resulting in
severe abdominal pain, weight loss, vomiting ardrtiea. The most common forms of the disease irdli@ and Crohn’s disease, which are
estimated to affect four million people or morehe United States, five major European marketst@dnkKingdom, Germany, France, Italy and
Spain) and Japan. Chronic IBD can be a severeljitd¢ibg condition, and advanced cases may recgurgery to remove the affected region
of the bowel, and may also require temporary onfagrent colostomy or ileostomy. In many cases, syrgees not achieve a permanent cure,
and patients suffer a return of the disease. Ir128droliment commenced in our Phase Il clinicatigtbeing conducted with our partner,
Pfizer, to administer MultiStem to patients suffigrifrom UC, and we anticipate reporting initiabtriesults in the second half of 2013.
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Another area of focus is the use of MultiStem garaative treatment for HSC/bone marrow transplesgiclias therapy in hematologic
malignancy. For many types of cancer, such as haigker other blood-borne cancers, treatment tyfyigabolves radiation therapy or
chemotherapy, alone or in combination. Such treatro@n substantially deplete the cells of the bland immune system, by reducing the
number of stem cells in the bone marrow from whiety arise. The more intense the radiation treatmechemotherapy, the more severe the
resulting depletion is of the bone marrow, bloatj anmune system. Other tissues may also be affesteh as cells in the digestive tract and
in the pulmonary system. The result may be seveeen&@, immunodeficiency, substantial reductionigedtive capacity, and other problems
that may result in significant disability or death.

One strategy for treating the depletion of bonerowaiis to perform a peripheral blood stem cell §@ant or a bone marrow transplant. This
approach may augment the patient’s ability to foew blood and immune cells and provide a significamvival advantage. However, finding
a closely matched donor is frequently difficultemen impossible. Even when such a donor is founthany cases there are immunological
complications, such as GvHD, which may result incges disability or death.

Working with leading experts in the stem cell amthé marrow transplantation field, we have studiadti@tem in animal models of radiation
therapy and GvHD. In multiple animal models, Mulé has been shown to be rniamunogenic, even when administered without theetie
matching that is typically required for conventibhane marrow or stem cell transplantation. Furtiane, in animal model systems testing
immune reactivity of T-cells against unrelated dotigsue, MultiStem has been shown to suppres$-tall-mediated immune responses that
are an important factor in causing GvHD. MultiSteemated animals also displayed a significant ineedna survival relative to controls. As a
result, we believe that the administration of Msd&m in conjunction with or following standard H8@nsplantation may have the potential to
reduce the incidence or severity of complicationd may enhance gastrointestinal function, whidneguently compromised as a result of
radiation treatment or chemotherapy.

We completed a Phase | clinical trial examininggshéety and tolerability of a single dose or repkging of MultiStem administered
intravenously to patients receiving a bone marrolwammatopoietic stem cell transplant as part af theatment of leukemia or other
hematological condition. The trial was an open laleilticenter trial that involved leading expeirighe field of bone marrow transplantation.
In February 2012, we announced the top-line reudta the trial. We observed a consistent safetfilerin both the single and multiple dose
arms of the study, and at all dose levels testéttioAgh the trial was not specifically designediéamonstrate efficacy, we also observed
clinically meaningful improvement in medically imgpiant parameters relative to historical clinicapesience, including reduced incidence and
severity of acute GvHD, improved relapse free sualyino graft failures, and enhanced engraftmeesreelative to other forms of treatment.

In 2010, we announced that we had been grantecombtug designation by the FDA for MultiStem in firevention of GvHD. In April 2012,
we met with the FDA to review the results from Btease | trial and discuss plans for the next pb&sknical development, which could
include a Phase II/1ll study of MultiStem for GvHophylaxis and HSC transplant support. We havensttdd our proposed plan for such a
study, which is currently under consideration by BEDA. Based on current plans, we intend to beyréadtart this study in the second half of
2013, but the initiation will depend on the progrésour clinical trials and the achievement ottaier business development and financial
objectives.

Neurological Injury and Diseas+— MultiStem for Ischemic Stroke

Another focus of our regenerative medicine progisithe use of MultiStem for the treatment of neagatal injury as a result of acute or
chronic conditions. Neurological injury and diseasgresents an area of significant unmet medioad n@ major burden on the healthcare
system, and also represents a huge commercial topgr
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Many neurological conditions require extensive kvagn therapy, and many require extended hospitiidiz and/or institutional care, creating
an enormous cost burden. Stroke represents anvaeya the clinical need is particularly significasince it represents a leading cause of dea
and significant long term disability. Currentlyetie are approximately 800,000 individuals in thététhStates that suffer a stroke each year,
more than two million stroke victims in the Unit8thtes, Europe and Japan combined, and approxynid&ehillion people that suffer a stroke
each year globally. The vast majority of these (apimately 85% to 90%) are ischemic strokes, thatcaused by a blockage of blood flow in
the brain, that cuts off the supply of oxygen anttients, and can result in tissue loss and negicéb damage, as well as long term or
permanent disability. The remaining 10% to 15%lemorrhagic strokes, which occur when a blood Vdmgsts and bleeding into the brain
ensues.

Studies show that in recent years there has bdesmnaatic rise in ischemic strokes among young adu#., individuals in the 25 to 45 age
group), which is likely due to a combination ofimig rates of obesity and other factors. Unfortulyaturrent therapeutic options for ischemic
stroke victims are limited, as the only availalllerapy, a clot dissolving agent or “thrombolytimtist be administered within several hours of
the occurrence of the stroke. As a consequendalfitnited time window, only a small percentagestvtbke victims are treated with the
currently available therapy—most simply receivesutive or “palliative” care. The long-term costisstroke are substantial, with many
patients requiring extended hospitalization, ex¢éehphysical therapy or rehabilitation (for thoséigrds that are capable of entering such
programs), and many require long-term instituticoralamily care. Similarly, there are other acute grogressive neurological conditions that
require substantial healthcare resources, withtdithéxisting treatment options that are only madiyrclinically effective.

We have published research with independent callding investigators that demonstrates that Mutistonveys biological benefits in
preclinical models of ischemic stroke, as well #t'eeomodels of neurological damage and injury udeig TBI, neonatal hypoxic ischemia (a
cause of neurological damage in infants), and $pra injury. We have also conducted preclinicakkvin other neurological areas, and have
been awarded grants to support work in areas suttheandications described above and for evalgdtie potential of MultiStem to treat
chronic conditions such as Multiple Sclerosis, @&,Mr Parkinson’s disease. Our research has sH@ativultiStem conveys benefits through
distinct mechanisms, including reducing inflammgtdamage, protecting at risk tissue at the sit@jafy, and through direct neurotrophic
effects that stimulate the recovery of damagedareurAs a result, we believe that MultiStem mayehalevance to multiple forms of
neurological injury and disease.

Our initial clinical focus in the neurological ar@eolves evaluating administration of MultiStemtteat ischemic stroke. Ischemic stroke is a
leading cause of death and disability globally, andounts for approximately 85% of all strokes. &¢@rogress toward the development of
safer and more effective treatments for ischemaksthas been disappointing. Despite the factitichemic stroke is one of the leading cause:
of death and disability in the United States, theas been little progress toward the developmetreatments that improve the prognosis for
stroke victims. The only FDA-approved drug currgraVailable for ischemic stroke is the anti-clagtiiactor, tPA. According to current clinical
guidelines, tPA must be administered to strokeepidi within several hours after the occurrencdefischemic stroke to remove the clot while
minimizing potential risks, such as bleeding irfte brain. Administration of tPA after three to fdwurs is not recommended, since it can
cause cerebral bleeding or even death. Givenithite therapeutic window, it is estimated thaslésan 5% of ischemic stroke victims in the
United States currently receive treatment with tPA.

In preclinical studies conducted by investigatarsiuding at both the University of Minnesota, #edical College of Georgia, and the
University of Texas Health Science Center at Haussgnificant functional improvements have beesesbed in rodents that have undergone
an experimentally induced stroke, or that haverirzlisignificant neurological damage due to sintij@es of ischemic events, such as a resul
of neonatal hypoxic ischemia or TBI, and then reeditreatment with MultiStem. Published researchdemonstrated that administration of
MultiStem even one week after a surgically indus&dke results in substantial long-term therapeugicefit, as evidenced by the improvemen
of treated animals compared with controls in adrgtof tests examining mobility, strength, fine mrskills, and other aspects of neurological
functional improvement.
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Based on the research conducted by us and ouboddieors, we believe MultiStem conveys significhenefits through several mechanisms,
including reduction of inflammation and immune gystmodulation in the ischemic area, and the prioteeind rescue of damaged or injured
cells, including neuronal tissue. Research reguéisented at the 2011 and 2012 American Heart Aetgmt International Stroke Conference
collaborators from the University of Texas HealtlieBice Center at Houston demonstrated that admaticet of MultiStem 24 hours following
a stroke reduced inflammatory damage in the braghrasulted in significant functional improvemeanid that some of these results were
achieved by reducing the inflammatory response atranfrom the spleen. These results confirm thaltidtem treatment is well tolerated,
does not require immunosuppression and resultsobwast and durable therapeutic benefit, and ansistent with prior results that show
MultiStem can provide significant benefits even wiaelministered up to one week after the initiadlstrevent.

We are currently enrolling patients in a 13@&ient Phase Il clinical trial exploring the adimstration of MultiStem to patients that have suéfd
an ischemic stroke. In this trial, MultiStem is ddistered 24 to 36 hours after a stroke has ocdutfeshown to be safe and effective, this
would represent a significant extension of thettrest window relative to existing standard of canel could provide an important new
therapeutic option for stroke patients. We belihat the potential market for a new therapy tottstamke could be $15 to $20 billion or more
annually.

We are also interested in the application of Mt for other neurological indications that représereas of significant unmet medical need,
such as TBI, which represents the leading causiésability among children and young adults, andaaling cause of death. Approximately
1.7 million cases of TBI are seen in the United&ta@ach year, nearly half a million cases of whighchildren age 0 to 14 years old. The
United States Center for Disease Control and Ptareror CDC, estimates that more than 5.3 miliiodividuals are living with a disability
and have a long-term or lifelong need for helpedgrm activities of daily living as a result offl&Il. The annual direct and indirect costs for
TBI are approximately $60 billion a year, accordinghe National Institute of Neurological Disorg@nd Stroke, which is part of the National
Institutes of Health. In preclinical studies of TRBHministration of MultiStem dramatically redudéé extent of damage caused by a TBI, and
promoted accelerated healing of the blood-brainidraiEarly in 2012, we announced grant fundingraggting $3.6 million to further advance
our MultiStem programs and cell therapy platforngluding further development of MultiStem for tlegtment of TBI and further
development of our cell therapy formulations andafacturing capabilities.

We are also conducting preclinical work explorihg ipplication of MultiStem in other neurologicadlications. In 2010, we announced that
we and collaborators at the Center for Stem CellRagenerative Medicine and Case Western Resernveidity were awarded $1.0 million
through the Ohio Third Frontier Biomedical Programsupport preclinical and translational reseantb the treatment of spinal cord injury, or
SCI, with MultiStem. In October 2012, we preserdata at the Annual Society for Neuroscience medhiagdemonstrated that intravenous
administration of MultiStem one day after SCI résih statistically significant and sustained imgments in gross locomotor function, fine
locomotor function and bladder control compareddntrol treated animals.

In 2011, we announced the award of grant fundingpotfo $640,000 to investigate the potential forthtiem to treat chronic progressive MS
based on initial results in preclinical modelsQatober 2012, in collaboration with scientists fr@ase Western Reserve University, and with
the support of Fast Forward and the National Mldticlerosis Society, we reported research rethdtsdemonstrate the potential benefits of
MultiStem therapy for treating MS. In standard firécal models of MS, researchers observed thati®8tgm administration results in
sustained behavioral improvements, arrests the eigmagion process that is central to the patholoigyS, and supports remyelination of
affected axons.

Cardiovascular Disease— Evaluating MultiStem for Treating Damage from a HebAttack

Cardiovascular disease is an area of significanicell need that is expected to expand signifigaimtithe years ahead. Despite treatment
advances in recent years, cardiovascular diseassne the leading cause of death, and represeatsfdhe leading causes of disability arounc
the world. In the United States, approximately 5,280 patients suffer a heart attack each yearapptbximately 5.7 million individuals in t
United States are currently suffering from heaittifa. Another eight million suffer from peripherafterial disease, which is associated with
significant morbidity and mortality. According tagjections published recently by the American Héagociation in February 2011 in the
journalCirculation, aggregate costs for treating heart disease ibJtiited States are expected to soar in the congagsy In 2010, annual
direct costs for treating cardiovascular disease 273 billion, but by 2030 these are expectauetrly triple, to a projected $818 billion per
year. This increase will occur primarily as a résdithe aging population, and may not fully refléiee impact of the dramatic escalatior
obesity rates that has occurred for both adultschildren in recent years, which could further extaate the long-term challenges and increas
costs associated with cardiovascular disease &ed ovnditions.
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In a Phase | clinical trial, we have explored tke of MultiStem as a treatment for damage causesMiy Myocardial infarction is one of the
leading causes of death and disability in the Wh8&ates. Myocardial infarction is caused by tteckhge of one or more arteries that supply
blood to the heart. Such blockages can be causedxédmple, by the rupture of an atheroscleroticjpeé deposit. According to the American
Heart Association 2012 Statistical Update, theresvag@proximately 935,000 cases of myocardial iti@ncthat occurred in the United State:
2008 and approximately 7.9 million individuals hg in the United States that had previously sufferdeart attack. In addition, there were
approximately 812,000 deaths that occurred frorfoaths of cardiovascular disease, including 462,@0viduals that died as a result of
coronary heart disease or heart failure. A varidtsisk factors are associated with an elevatddafanyocardial infarction or atherosclerosis,
including age, high blood pressure, smoking, sedghifestyle and genetics. While advances in tlagubosis, prevention and treatment of h
disease have had a positive impact, there is gleaoim for improvement-mayocardial infarction remains a leading cause atldand disabilit
in the United States and the rest of the world.

MultiStem has been studied in validated animal fedEAMI, including at both the Cleveland Cliniaéthe University of Minnesota.
Investigators demonstrated that the administratfacadlogeneic MultiStem into the hearts of animddesnaged by experimentally induced heart
attacks resulted in significant functional improwemhin cardiac output and other functional paransatempared with animals that received
placebo or no treatment. Furthermore, the admatistr of immunosuppressive drug was not required@ovided no additional benefit in this
study, and supports the concept of using MultiSasnan allogeneic product.

Working with a contract research organization, wepleted additional preclinical studies in estadt#i pig models of AMI using catheter
delivery and examining various factors such agdiée and method of MultiStem administration, degging, and timing of treatment. In
2008, we initiated a multicenter, open-label PHadmical trial in this indication, and the stuég/now completed. In July 2010, we announced
the preliminary results from this trial, which shedvthat MultiStem was well tolerated at all doseels and exhibited a favorable safety profile
In addition, patients that received treatment WithitiStem exhibited meaningful improvements in gawdscular function, including left
ventricular ejection fraction, wall motion scoragsd other parameters. These results were publidkeetionically byCirculation Researcin
November 2011

Pharmaceutical Program:
Novel 5HT2c agonists for the treatment of obesity ather condition:

Obesity is a substantial contributing factor t@aage of diseases that represent the major causkesatsf and disability in the developed world
today. Individuals who are clinically obese havevated rates of cardiovascular disease, strokicdypes of cancer and diabetes. According
to the CDC, the incidence of obesity in the Uni&dtes has increased at an epidemic rate duringeste20 years. CDC now estimates that
almost 70% of all Americans are overweight, inchgdmore than on#hird that are considered clinically obese. Thepetage of young peof
who are overweight has more than tripled since 198@re has also been a dramatic rise in the faibesity in Europe and Asia. Despite the
magnitude of this problem, current approachesitocell obesity are largely ineffective, and we aveare of relatively few new therapeutic
approaches in clinical development.

We are developing novel pharmaceutical treatmamteliesity, which are compounds designed to aestibyulating a key receptor in the brain
that regulates appetite and food intake—the 5HE&2eptor. The role of this receptor in regulatingdantake is well understood in both animal
models and humans. In 1996, Wyeth launched theochetity drug Reduf (dexfenfluramine), a non-spesiérotonin receptor agonist that
was used with the stimulant phentermine in a coatibn commonly known as fen-phen. This diet drugnbimation gained rapid and
widespread acceptance in the clinical marketplaceveas shown to be highly effective at regulatipgetite, reducing food intake, and causing
significant weight loss. Unfortunately, in addititmstimulating the SHT2c receptor, Redux also stated the 5SHT2b receptor that is found in
the heart. The activation of 5HT2b by Redux isdnedid to have caused significant cardiovascularlpnod®in a number of patients and, as a
result, Redux was withdrawn from the market in 1997
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Since the withdrawal of Redux from the market, salvgroups have published research and clinical thett implicate stimulation of the SHT
receptor as the underlying cause of the cardioVaspuwoblems. These findings suggest that highlgctiwe compounds that stimulate the
5HT2c receptor, but that do not appreciably stineutae 5SHT2b receptor, could be developed that mainthe desired appetite suppressive
effects without the cardiovascular toxicity. Recelittical data supports this hypothesis and algmests that the 5SHT2c agonists may also
cause a statistically significant reduction in #meount of sugar in the blood, as measured by faslivod glucose and HbAlc levels, which are
both clinically relevant measures for patients atiiffg from diabetes.

Recently, the FDA approved Lorcaserin, a 5SHT2c &ipfor the treatment of obesity. We believe tigigresents a significant event for our
program because it illustrates that the FDA reczegand agrees with the concept that SHT2c¢ agdhistslisplay appropriate selectivity,
biological activity and clinical safety are apprbiafor indications such as obesity.

Our drug development program is focused on cregtgtgnt and selective orally administered compouhdsstimulate the SHT2c receptor,
but that avoid the 5SHT2b receptor and other reaspsach as 5HT2a,or other receptors that couldecadverse side effects. Based on
extensive preclinical studies that we have condlaftith compounds that we have generated, we haveiigtrated the ability to develop
compounds that are highly potent and selectivéhiferlSHT2c¢ receptor, and that lack activity at eithidT2a or 5HT2b. We believe that clinical
trials will demonstrate that this achievement repras a significant advance in the field, and thatpotency and selectivity profile displayec
compounds we are developing will result in subsadigitbetter efficacy and a cleaner safety andredddity profile, as well as a more
convenient dosing schedule than other 5HT2¢ agpnigframs including Lorcaserin. We also evaluatsthin of our compounds when
administered as a monotherapy or in conjunctioh wiher weight loss agents, and have observedtieeess with both approaches. We are
conducting preclinical evaluation of novel compositigat we have developed that exhibit outstandiegptor selectivity and are working
toward the selection of a clinical development ¢datd for this program.

Certain potent and highly selective compoundsweahave developed display a profile that we belimag have utility in treating
schizophrenia. We evaluated some of these companmaisclinical models of schizophrenia and haveeobed that they exhibit efficacy in
these models.

We are currently exploring partnering opportunifi@sthis program and may elect to enter into anmaship to advance the development of
program for the treatment of obesity and relataications, schizophrenia, or multiple indications.

Other Small Molecule Programs & Key Technologies

In addition to our other programs, we believe thate are significant opportunities for synergywsstn our small molecule platform and
related capabilities and our MultiStem technoldgpecifically, we believe that substantial opportiesi exist for identifying and utilizing small
molecule modulators of therapeutically relevantdmccal activity exhibited by MultiStem or othelesh cell types. We believe that applying
capabilities in both areas could lead to next gatiwt product development opportunities, includingre potent stem cell based therapies that
have been optimized for use in specific indicatoeas.

In addition to our current product development paogs, we developed our patented RAGE technologyptitarides us with the ability to
produce human cell lines that express specifidpgioally well validated drug targets without redgi upon cloned and isolated gene sequence
While our RAGE technology is not a therapeutic pretdit is a commercial technology that we havecessfully applied for the benefit of our
partners and that we have also used for our ovenriat drug development programs. Modern drug sangeapproaches typically require the
physical isolation and structural modification afjene of interest, an approach referred to as geneg, in order to create a cell line that
expresses a drug target of interest. Researchershmia use the genetically modified cell line tentify pharmaceutical compounds that inhibit
or stimulate the target of interest. The RAGE tetbgy enables us to turn on or amplify the exp@ssif a drug target without having to
physically clone or isolate the gene. In effecg, tichnology works through the random insertiotinyf, proprietary genetic switches that
randomly turn genes on without requiring their pbgsisolation, or any advance knowledge of th&uature. This technology provides us w
broad freedom to work with targets that may be wtise unavailable as a result of intellectual propeestrictions on the use of specific clol
and isolated genes. In recent years, we have peddegll lines that express drug targets in a rafigisease areas such as metabolic disease,
infectious disease, oncology, cardiovascular desesaflammation, and central nervous system disstddany of these were produced for drug
development programs at major pharmaceutical corapdhat we have collaborated with, such as Bristpérs Squibb, and some have been
produced for our internal drug development programs
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Collaborations and Partnerships
Pfizer

In 2009, we entered into a collaboration agreemaétht Pfizer to develop and commercialize MultiStéanthe treatment of IBD for the
worldwide market. Under the terms of the agreemeatreceived a non-refundable up-front cash paymw&$6.0 million from Pfizer and
research funding and support during the initialgghaf the collaboration that ended in 2012. In taldlj we are also eligible to receive
milestone payments of up to $105 million upon thecgssful achievement of certain development, e¢gnl and commercial milestones,
though there can be no assurance that we will eelifeese milestones, and no significant milestanerents were received as of Decembe
2012. We are responsible for manufacturing andePfiays us for manufacturing product for clinicaldlopment and commercialization
purposes. Pfizer has responsibility for developmeagulatory and commercialization and will paytiesed royalties on worldwide commercial
sales of MultiStem IBD products. Alternatively,liau of royalties and certain commercializationastbnes, we may elect to co-develop with
Pfizer and the parties will share development amdroercialization expenses and profits/losses cagaged basis beginning at Phase I
clinical development.

The Pfizer collaboration does not have a spedafimination date, but will terminate upon the laséxpire royalty term, unless terminated
earlier by either party. Either party can terminifie agreement for an uncured material breachfautlePfizer is permitted to terminate the
agreement upon advance written notice to us ifwstasn certain turnover levels for employees waglam the program, if our license with the
University of Minnesota is terminated, if we exgerte a specified change of control event, or isats discretion. We can terminate the
agreement if a certain milestone event has notroeddy a defined period of time, or if we reasdpdielieve that Pfizer has failed to satisfy
obligations to progress the development of the yauog Following termination of the agreement byalklicenses granted to Pfizer to develop
and commercialize MultiStem for IBD will terminatether than certain more limited research licenaad,ownership of regulatory and clinical
data will revert to us. Following termination okthgreement by Pfizer, the licenses granted t@P#il remain in effect according to their
terms, unless the termination is due to our breagiployee turnover or termination of the licensthwdniversity of Minnesota, in which case
payments to us will be reduced from what was otism\payable. Also, if Pfizer terminates in its soigcretion, then Pfizer retains its
obligation to fund our research and developmentiscas set forth in the agreement.

RTI

In 2010, we entered into an agreement with RTleleetbp and commercialize MAPC technoldogsed biologic implants for certain orthope
applications in the bone graft substitutes mardetier the terms of our RTI agreement, we receivgf.@ million license fee in installments,
which $3.0 million was received in 2010 and 201id 2.0 million was received in 2012 in connectigth an amendment that accelerated
these payments in connection with our providindaiertechnical support to RTI. In accordance with agreement, we are also eligible to
receive an additional $35.5 million in cash paymermon the successful achievement of certain cowriatenilestones, though there can be no
assurance that such milestones will be achievatinarsignificant milestone payments were receivedfdecember 31, 2012. In addition, we
will receive tiered royalties on worldwide commecsales of implants using our technologies.

Angiotech

In 2011, we reached an agreement with Angiotecdhrtuinate the collaboration agreement and liceeded®en the parties, reflecting a change
in Angiotech’s business and financial strategy aAesult of the termination, we regained ownersifigll rights for developing our stem cell
technologies and products for cardiovascular des@atications, including AMI, congestive heart taé, chronic ischemia, and peripheral
vascular disease, and Angiotech no longer hasiegryse rights or options with respect to our teébgies and products. Angiotech made its
final cost-sharing payment in 2011 in connectiothweiollaboration activities and has no further gations to us. Though the termination will
affect our future costs of development for ongaiagdiovascular programs, such as AMI, it signiftbamproves our ability to explore
cardiovascular and more comprehensive collaboratvelopment and commercialization arrangements ettier pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and medical products companies. drctise of a new AMI collaboration, Angiotech widl &ntitled to a future payment from us
equal to a percentage of cash license fee paymentsceive within the first six months from a thjpdrty related to such AMI collaboration,
and is not entitled to other downstream paymentsh s milestone payments, royalties or any psbiitring payments. The future payment, if
any, will be either (i) 15% of third-party licenfees if an AMI collaboration is established aftee tnitiation of enrollment in a Phase Il AMI
clinical trial, but before we have spent $5.0 roitlion the clinical trial, and within 24 months béttermination agreement, or (ii) 10% of third-
party license fees up to a maximum of $5.0 miliorAngiotech if an AMI collaboration is establishafier the initiation of enrollment in a
Phase Il AMI clinical trial, and after we have sp8B.0 million on the clinical trial, and within 36onths of the termination agreement.
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Bristol-Myers Squibb

In 2000, we entered into a collaboration with Brigflyers Squibb to provide cell lines expressinglwalidated drug targets produced using
our RAGE technology for compound screening and ldgveent. This initial collaboration was expande@@92 and again in 2006, and was in
its final phase as amended in 2009. Bristol-Myeysilsh uses the cell lines in its internal drug depment programs and, in exchange, we
receive license fee and milestone payments andwiéintitled to receive royalties on the sale gf @pproved products. Depending on the use
of a cell line by Bristol-Myers Squibb and the pregs of drug development programs benefiting frioenuse of such a cell line, we may
receive as much as approximately $5.5 million gdrime in additional license fees and milestoagmpents, though we cannot assure you tha
any further milestones will be achieved or thatwi receive any additional milestone payments2008, Bristol-Myers Squibb successfully
advanced into Phase Il clinical development a dandidate discovered using a target provided byheseby triggering a clinical developme
milestone payment to us.

We remain entitled to receive license fees fordtrghat were delivered to Bristol-Myers Squibbemolur completed collaboration, as well as
milestone payments and royalties on compounds dpedlby Bristol-Myers Squibb using our technolatmugh there can be no assurance
that we will achieve any such milestones or rogaltiAs of December 31, 2012, we received an aggregaount of $1.8 million in milestone
payments and $9.7 million in license fees sincariheption of our collaboration with Bristol-Mye8gjuibb.

The Bristol-Myers Squibb collaboration does notédawspecific termination date, but will terminatieem Bristol-Myers Squibb no longer has
an obligation to pay us royalties, which obligatgemnerally continues until the later of the expiatof the Bristol-Myers Squibb patent
covering an approved product and ten years afranuarcial sales of that product began. Though weeb®ristolMyers Squibb to file for ar
be issued patents for products developed underaifeboration, we are not aware of any patentsidda Bristol-Myers Squibb covering any
potential products related to the collaboratioreitfier party breaches its material obligations faild to cure that breach within 60 days after
notice from the non-breaching party, the non-bremrparty may terminate the collaboration.

Competition

We face significant competition with respect to #agious dimensions of our business. With regarolutoefforts to develop MultiStem as a
novel stem cell therapy, currently, there are alemof companies that are actively developing stelinproducts, which encompass a range o
different cell types, including embryonic stem selimbilical cord stem cells, adwderived stem cells and processed bone marrow deceis

Osiris Therapeutics, Inc., or Osiris, is currerghgaged in Phase Il and Phase lll clinical trial®lving Prochymal, an allogeneic stem cell
product based on mesenchymal stem cells, or M$@sate obtained from healthy consenting donors ase administered without tissue
matching. However, in contrast to MultiStem, MS@spthy greater donor to donor variability, limitegpansion potential, and limited
biological plasticity. In 2008, Osiris announcepatnership in which Genzyme acquired developmights to Prochymal and Chondrogen for
certain markets outside the United States and Gaimaeixchange for $130 million in license feestai$1.25 billion in clinical and sales
milestones, and royalties. In 2011, Sanofi U.SSanofi, acquired Genzyme, and in October 2012p%announced that the partnership had
been terminated, and Osiris had regained commateislopment rights to Prochymal and Chondrogen.
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Mesoblast Limited, or Mesoblast, is currently eregan clinical trials evaluating the safety andaf€y of Revascor, an allogeneic stem cell
product based on mesenchymal stem cell precurisatsite obtained from healthy consenting donoresg&ftells also appear to display limited
expansion potential and biological plasticity. BB, Mesoblast announced a partnership with Ceph#io., or Cephalon, in which Cephalon
paid an upfront license fee of $130 million, ande&gl to invest an additional $220 million in equity a 19.9% stake in Mesoblast. In additi
total regulatory milestone payments to Mesoblastdceeach $1.7 billion, assuming that the agreemesnlts in commercial treatments for
conditions including congestive heart failure, AN®arkinson’s disease and Alzheimer’s disease. 11 20eva Pharmaceuticals announced the
it had acquired Cephalon.

Other public companies are developing stem-reldtedhpies, including Aastrom Biosciences, IncAastrom, Stem Cells Inc., Johnson &
Johnson, Celgene Corporation, or Celgene, Adva@edidTrechnology, Inc., CRYO-CELL International, InPluristem Therapeutics, Inc., or
Pluristem, and Cytori Therapeutics, Inc., or Cytbriaddition, private companies, such as Gamidal@a, Plureon Corporation, NeoStem,
Inc., Tigenix NV and others, are also developinigjtberapy related products or capabilities. Gitlem magnitude of the potential opportunity
for stem cell therapy, we expect competition irs thiea to intensify in the coming years.

We also face competition in our efforts to devetompounds for the treatment of obesity. Recentlg, hew treatments were approved by the
FDA for the treatment of obesity, Belviq (Lorcasgriwhich was developed by Arena Pharmaceuticats, br Arena, and Qsymia (a
proprietary combination of phentermine and topirajavhich was developed by Vivus, Inc., or VivBsior to these recent approvals, there
was one approved therapeutic product on the mégkebesity, Xenical (also known as Alli), whichrizarketed by F. Hoffmanl-aRoche Ltd.
or Roche. Potential side effects associated wikimgaXenical / Alli include cramping, intestinalsdtiomfort, flatulence, diarrhea, and leakage o
oily stool. Another obesity drug, Meridia, was apyed for clinical use and marketed by Abbott Phamicals, but was withdrawn from the
market due to concerns regarding increased risiaafiovascular disease and stroke among patigatgytthe drug.

There are many other companies that have previaitg#ynpted or are attempting to develop novelitneats for obesity, and a wide range of
approaches are being taken. Some of these compadliede large, multinational pharmaceutical comesusuch as Bristol-Myers Squibb,
Merck & Co., Inc., Roche, Sanofi, GlaxoSmithKlinke,por GlaxoSmithKline, Eli Lilly and Company anthers. There are also a variety of
biotechnology companies developing treatments fesiy, including Orexigen Therapeutics, Neurodea#engen Inc., or Amgen, Regeneron
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Nastech Pharmaceutical Coympdizyme plc, Amylin Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Nearine Biosciences, Inc., Shionogi &
Co., Ltd., Metabolic Pharmaceuticals Limited, KypRharmaceutical Co., Ltd., and others. It is {ikblt, given the magnitude of the market
opportunity, many companies will continue to focusthe obesity area, and that competition will reniégh. If we are successful at
developing a 5HT2c agonist as a safe and effettdament for obesity, it is likely that other commies will attempt to develop safer and more
effective compounds in the same class, or willnagteto combine therapies in an effort to estabdigafer and more effective therapeutic
product.

We believe our most significant competitors ardyfiitegrated pharmaceutical companies and biotalclgly companies that have substantially
greater financial, technical, sales, marketing, lauthan resources than we do. These companies roegesliin obtaining regulatory approval
for competitive products more rapidly than we candur products. In addition, our competitors mayealop technologies and products that ar
cheaper, safer or more effective than those begwgldped by us or that would render our technolalggolete. Furthermore, some of these
companies may feel threatened by our activitiesstempt to delay or impede our efforts to devadapproducts or apply our technologies.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent applicationgepts, trademarks, and contractual provisions ¢tegt our proprietary rights. We believe
that to have a competitive advantage, we must dpvaahd maintain the proprietary aspects of ourteldyies. Currently, we require our
officers, employees, consultants, contractors, faaturers, outside scientific collaborators andngmoed researchers, and other advisors to
execute confidentiality agreements in connectiath Wieir employment, consulting, or advisory raaships with us, where appropriate. We
also require our employees, consultants, and advigbo we expect to work on our products to agoedigclose and assign to us all inventions
conceived during the work day, developed usingpoaperty, or which relate to our business. We alyehave over 130 patents for our
technologies.
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We have a broad patent estate with claims dirdctedmpositions, methods of production, and mettluddse of certain non-embryonic stem
cells and related technologies. We acquired owmerdipart of our stem cell technology and intefled property as a result of our 2003
acquisition of a holding company, which held thghts to the technology originally discovered atlthversity of Minnesota. We also have an
exclusive license to additional MAPC-related invens (or in other words, improvements) developedheyUniversity of Minnesota through
May 2009, and, under a collaborative research aggaewith KUL, we have an exclusive license to MARSated inventions developed at
KUL using the MAPC technology or intellectual proyeor that result from sponsored research fundedsh We also own and license
additional intellectual property develop by us atiders. Our broad intellectual property portfolansists of more than 80 issued patents (of
which twelve are United States patents) and mame 170 global patent applications around our stelfrtechnology and MultiStem product
platform. This includes nine United States patami$ more than 40 international patents that agpMAPC and related products, such as
MultiStem. The current intellectual property estatbich incorporates additional filings and maydmen over time, could provide coverage
our stem cell product candidates, manufacturinggsses and methods of use through 2030 and beyoaridermore, an extended period of
market exclusivity may apply for certain produasy(, exclusivity periods for orphan drug desigmatr biologics).

We have established a broad intellectual propestifgio related to our functional genomics tectogies and small molecule product
candidates. We have a broad patent estate witmgldirected to compositions, methods of making,rmethods of using our small molecule
drug candidates. We have six United States paterttdwo patent applications with broad claims degddo selective 5SHT2c agonists
discovered at Athersys that currently provide patenerage through as late as 2029. From our His@ai3 program, we have six United
States patents with broad claims directed to comgeualiscovered at Athersys from two distinct cheingeries that currently provide patent
coverage through as late as 2028. In addition,wmently have 35 issued patents (sixteen UniteteStaatents and nineteen international
patents) and three patent applications relatingptopositions and methods for the RAGE technology thirrently provide patent coverage
through as late as 2017, and four United Statemnpatind four patent applications relating to huprarteins and candidate drug targets that w
identified through the application of RAGE and otiner technologies that currently provide patenecage through as late as 2022. The
RAGE technology was developed by Dr. John Harringtod other Athersys scientists internally in thd-a990s.

We believe that we have broad freedom to use amunegrcially develop our technologies and productiadates. However, if successful, a
patent infringement suit brought against us magdars or any of our collaborators or licenseesdp er delay developing, manufacturing, or
selling potential products that are claimed toiige a third party’s intellectual property, unléisat party grants us rights to use its intellectual
property. In such cases, we may be required tdrolitanses to patents or proprietary rights okeostto continue to commercialize our
products. However, we may not be able to obtainli@eyses required under any patents or proprietghys of third parties on acceptable
terms, or at all. Even if we were able to obtaghts to the third party’s intellectual propertyesle rights may be non-exclusive, thereby giving
our competitors access to the same intellectuggetp. Ultimately, we may be unable to commerc@abome of our potential products or may
have to cease some of our business operationeesslaof patent infringement claims, which coudderely harm our business.

Research and Development

Our research and development costs, which congibyly of costs associated with external cliniti@l costs, preclinical study fees,
manufacturing costs, salaries and related persaosts$, legal expenses resulting from intellegiwaperty application processes, and
laboratory supply and reagent costs, were $19.6omin 2012, $18.9 million in 2011 and $14.8 nahiin 2010.

Government Regulation

Any products we may develop and our research anelaiement activities are subject to stringent goweent regulation in the United States
the FDA and, in many instances, by correspondingido and state regulatory agencies. The EuropegonUJor EU, has vested centralized
authority in the European Medicines Agency and Cdiemon Proprietary Medicinal Products to stant&rdeview and approval across EU
member nations.
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These regulatory agencies enforce comprehensittdetaregulations and guidelines governing the dievelopment process. This process
involves several steps. Initially, a company musiayate preclinical data to show safety before murasting may be initiated. In the United
States, a drug company must submit an IND to tha pior to securing authorization for human testimige IND must contain adequate data
on product candidate chemistry, toxicology and meliam and, where appropriate, animal researcimtesd support initial safety.

A Clinical Trial Agreement, or CTA, is the Europeanuivalent of the IND. CTA requirements are isshgegach competent authority within
the European Union and are enacted by local lad<darectives.

Any of our product candidates will require regutgtapproval and compliance with regulations mad&hited States and foreign government
agencies prior to commercialization in such coestriThe process of obtaining FDA or foreign reguiatgency approval has historically beer
extremely costly and time consuming. The FDA retgdaamong other things, the development, testiragufacture, safety, efficacy, record
keeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertigmgmotion, sale, and distribution of biologics arev drugs.

The standard process required by the FDA befoteaanpaceutical agent may be marketed in the UnitatéSincludes:
. preclinical tests in animals that demonstrate ageable likelihood of safety and effectivenessumhn patients

. submission to the FDA of an IND, which must beeogffective before clinical trials in humans camooence. If Phase | clinical
trials are to be conducted initially outside theitdth States, a different regulatory filing is requai, depending on the location of the
trial;

. adequate and well controlled human clinical $ri@l establish the safety and efficacy of the dnulgiologic in the intended disease
indication;

. for drugs, submission of a New Drug ApplicationNdDA, or a Biologic License Application, or BLA, i the FDA; anc
. FDA approval of the NDA or BLA before any commeidale or shipment of the dru

Preclinical studies can take several years to cetepand there is no guarantee that an IND basédose studies will become effective to
permit clinical trials to begin. The clinical dewpiment phase generally takes five to seven yeafsnger, to complete (i.e., from the initiation
of Phase | through completion of Phase Il studias)l such sequential studies may overlap or béiced. After successful completion of
clinical trials for a new drug or biologic produEtDA approval of the NDA or BLA must be obtainedhig process requires substantial time
effort and there is no assurance that the FDAauitlept the NDA or BLA for filing and, even if filethat the FDA will grant approval. In the
past, the FDA's approval of an NDA or BLA has taken average, one to two years, but in some instamay take substantially longer. If
questions regarding safety or efficacy arise, doithil studies may be required, followed by a resisbion of the NDA or BLA. Review and
approval of an NDA or BLA can take up to severadnge

In addition to obtaining FDA approval for each puot] each drug manufacturing facility must be icspd and approved by the FDA. All
manufacturing establishments are subject to in8pexby the FDA and by other federal, state, awdllagencies, and must comply with good
manufacturing practices, or GMP, requirements. Weat currently have any GMP manufacturing captidj and will rely on contract
manufacturers to produce material for any clintdals that we may conduct.

We must also obtain regulatory approval in othemtoes in which we intend to market any drug. Téguirements governing conduct of
clinical trials, product licensing, pricing, andmdursement vary widely from country to country.ABpproval does not ensure regulatory
approval in other countries. The current approvatess varies from country to country, and the tipent in gaining approval varies from that
required for FDA approval. In some countries, thke price of the drug must also be approved. Thangrreview period often begins after
market approval is granted. Even if a foreign ratpry authority approves a drug product, it mayaypyrove satisfactory prices for the prod
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In addition to regulations enforced by the FDA, ave also subject to regulation under the OccupatiSafety and Health Act, the
Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic SubstanCestrol Act, the Resource Conservation and Recofetyand other present and potential
future federal, state, or local regulations. Osesrch and development involves the controllecbfisazardous materials, chemicals, biolog
materials, and various radioactive compounds. Algiowe believe that our safety procedures for hiagdind disposing of such materials
currently comply in all material respects with #tandards prescribed by state and federal regoattbe risk of accidental contamination or
injury from these materials cannot be completeipielated. In the event of such an accident, weatbel held liable for any damages that re
and any such liability could exceed our availaklsources.

Employees

We believe that our success will be based on, amtmgy things, the quality of our clinical prograrosr ability to invent and develop superior
and innovative technologies and products, and bilityato attract and retain capable managementathdr personnel. We have assembled a
high quality team of scientists, clinical developrhemanagers, and executives with significant exgpee in the biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries.

As of December 31, 2012, we employed 48 full-timgp®yees, including 16 with Ph.D. degrees. In addito our employees, we also use the
service and support of outside consultants andsadsi None of our employees is represented byanuand we believe relationships with our
employees are good.

Available Information

We use the Investors section of our web site, wiherays.com, as a channel for routine distributibmportant information, including news
releases, analyst presentations and financialrmdtion. We post filings as soon as reasonably jgedile after they are electronically filed w

or furnished to, the SEC, including our annual,rtprdy, and current reports on Forms 10-K, 10-QJ &K; our proxy statements; and any
amendments to those reports or statements. All gastings and filings are available on the Invessmction of our web site free of charge. In
addition, this web site allows investors and oiht#rested persons to sign up to automaticallyiveoe-mail alerts when we post news release
and financial information on our web site. The SEH€b maintains a web site, www.sec.gov, that costegports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding isstiratsfile electronically with the SEC. The contentany web site referred to in this annual
report on Form 10-K is not incorporated by refeeemto this annual report unless expressly noted.

20



Table of Contents

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The statements in this section, as well as statenumscribed elsewhere in this annual report, othier SEC filings, describe risks that could
materially and adversely affect our business, fif@rcondition and results of operations, whichldalso cause the trading price of our equity
securities to decline. These risks are not the dsks that we face. Our business, financial coodiand results of operations could also be
affected by additional factors that are not prdgdatown to us or that we currently consider tarbenaterial to our operations.

We have incurred losses since inception and we ekp@ incur significant net losses in the foresedalfuture and may never become
profitable.

Since our inception in 1995, we have incurred gigait losses and negative cash flows from opamatigVe incurred net losses of $15 million
in 2012, $14 million in 2011 and $11 million in 2D1As of December 31, 2012, we had an accumulaédidof $234 million, and anticipate
incurring additional losses for at least the nextesal years. We expect to spend significant ressuover the next several years to enhance o
technologies and to fund research and developnientrgipeline of potential products. To date, dab#ally all of Athersys’ revenue has been
derived from corporate collaborations, license agrents and government grants. In order to achiefégbility, we must develop products
and technologies that can be commercialized by tisrough our existing or future collaborations.r@bility to generate revenues and becom
profitable will depend on our ability, alone or lvipotential collaborators, to timely, efficientipcdasuccessfully complete the development of
our product candidates. We have never earned reviemm selling a product and we may never do sopag of our product candidates have
been approved for sale, since they are currenthgtiested in humans and animal studies. We caaswitre you that we will ever earn revenue
or that we will ever become profitable. If we sust@sses over an extended period of time, we neayrtable to continue our business.

We will need substantial additional funding to ddep our products and for our future operations. ife are unable to obtain the funds
necessary to do so, we may be required to delajedzack or eliminate our product development aites or may be unable to continue our
business.

The development of our product candidates will rega commitment of substantial funds to conduetdbstly and time-consuming research,
which may include preclinical and clinical testimgcessary to obtain regulatory approvals and mingproducts to market. Net cash used in
our operations was $18 million in 2012, $14 millior2011 and $11 million in 2010.

At December 31, 2012, we had $26 million of casishcequivalent and investments, and we will nebdtantially more to advance our
product candidates through development. Furthernvezewill need to add additional capital to fund operations through the completion of
our current clinical trials. Our future capital t&gements will depend on many factors, including:

. our ability to raise capital to fund our operatip

. the progress and costs of our research and develdgnograms, including our ability to develop eurrent portfolio of therapeut
products, or discover and develop new ol

. our ability, or our partners ability and willingss, to advance partnered products or programghargpeed in which they are
advanced

. the cost of prosecuting, defending and enforcirtgmtaclaims and other intellectual property rigl

. the progress, scope, costs, and results of @atipical and clinical testing of any current otute pharmaceutical or MultiStem-
related products

. the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatapprovals
. the cost of manufacturing our product candide
. expenses related to complying with GMP of theraipgqubduct candidate:
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. costs of financing the purchases of additionaltedpiquipment and development technoloc
. competing technological and market developme

. our ability to establish and maintain collaboratand other arrangements with third parties tesessbringing our products to
market and the cost of such arrangeme

. the amount and timing of payments or equity itwests that we receive from collaborators or charig®r terminations of future
or existing collaboration and licensing arrangeraamd the timing and amount of expenses we incsupporting these
collaborations and license agreeme

. costs associated with the integration of any neerafon, including costs relating to future mergamd acquisitions with compan
that have complementary capabiliti

. expenses related to the establishment of saksnanketing capabilities for products awaiting awai or products that have been
approved

. the level of our sales and marketing expenses
. our ability to introduce and sell new produt

The extent to which we utilize our existing equtyrchase agreement with Aspire Capital Fund, LLiGAspire Capital, as a source of funding
will depend on a number of factors, including thevailing market price of our common stock, thewoé of trading in our common stock and
the extent to which we are able to secure funds mther sources. The number of shares that we gibipsAspire Capital under the purchase
agreement on any given day and during the terrheagreement is limited. Additionally, we and Asp@apital may not effect any sales of
shares of our common stock under the purchaseragrealuring the continuance of an event of defaudt a purchase price of less than $1
Even if we are able to access the remaining $11libmunder the purchase agreement as of DeceBbe2012, we will still need additional
capital to fully implement our business, operatamgl development plans.

We have secured capital historically from granerases, collaboration proceeds, and debt and egffid@sings. We will need to secure
substantial additional capital to fund our futuperations. We cannot be certain that additionaitabywill be available on acceptable terms ¢
all. In recent years, it has been difficult for quemies to raise capital due to a variety of factatsch may or may not continue. To the extent
we raise additional capital through the sale ofitgcgecurities, including to Aspire Capital, themsvship position of our existing stockholders
could be substantially diluted. If additional furat® raised through the issuance of preferred siodiebt securities, these securities are likely
to have rights, preferences and privileges seniout common stock. Fluctuating interest ratesaalgo increase the costs of any debt
financing we may obtain.

Failure to successfully address ongoing liquid@guirements will have a material adverse effeabumbusiness. If we are unable to obtain
additional capital on acceptable terms when needednay be required to take actions that harm asmiess and our ability to achieve cash
flow in the future, including possibly the surrendé our rights to some technologies or productarpmities, delaying our clinical trials or
curtailing or ceasing operations.

We are heavily dependent on the successful devetapdrand commercialization of MultiStem products, @if we encounter delays or
difficulties in the development of this product cditate, our business could be harmed.

Our success is heavily dependent upon the sucteesfelopment of MultiStem products for certainedises and conditions involving acute or
ischemic injury or immune system dysfunction. Ousibess could be materially harmed if we encoutiiféculties in the development of this
product candidate, such as:

. delays in the ability to manufacture the prodaajuantities or in a form that is suitable for aeguired preclinical studies or
clinical trials;

. delays in the design, enroliment, implementationanpletion of required preclinical studies anaicll trials;
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. an inability to follow our current developmentagegy for obtaining regulatory approval from tHeA-because of changes in the
regulatory approval proces

. less than desired or complete lack of efficacyafety in preclinical studies or clinical trials;c
. intellectual property constraints that preventrasif making, using, or commercializing the produtdidate

Our product candidates are in an early stage of dimpment and we currently have no therapeutic pratiiapproved for sale. If we are
unable to develop, obtain regulatory approval or rket any of our product candidates, our financiabadition will be negatively affected,
and we may have to curtail or cease our operations.

Many factors, known and unknown, can adverselycaffénical trials and the ability to evaluate aguct’s efficacy. During the course of
treatment, patients can die or suffer other advevsats for reasons that may or may not be retatéitk proposed product being tested. Even
unrelated to our product, certain events can negkrss adversely impact our clinical trials. Agsutt, our ability to ultimately develop and
market the products and obtain revenues would suffe

Even promising results in preclinical studies amtal clinical trials do not ensure successfululesin later clinical trials, which test broader
human use of our products. Many companies in alustry have suffered significant setbacks in adedratinical trials, despite promising
results in earlier trials.

We are in the early stage of product developmett,vee are dependent on the application of our t&lcigies to discover or develop therape
product candidates. We currently do not sell arpyrayed therapeutic products and do not expectye hay products commercially available
for several years, if at all. You must evaluaténuiéght of the uncertainties and complexities affieg an early stage biotechnology company.
Our product candidates require additional reseanthdevelopment, preclinical testing, clinical rggtand regulatory review and/or approvals
or clearances before marketing. To date, no omeit&nowledge has commercialized any therapeutidyxts using our technologies and we
might never commercialize any product using ountetogies and strategy. In addition, we may notsad in developing new product
candidates as an alternative to our existing plaotfd product candidates. If our current produahdidates are delayed or fail, or we fail to
successfully develop and commercialize new prodantlidates, our financial condition may be neggtiaéected, and we may have to curtail
or cease our operations.

We may not successfully maintain our existing cdilarative and licensing arrangements, or establisewnones, which could adversely affi
our ability to develop and commercialize our produandidates.

A key element of our business strategy is to consialize some of our product candidates throughataltations with other companies. Our
strategy includes establishing collaborations #&®hking agreements with one or more pharmacepbi@bchnology or device companies,
preferably after we have advanced product candidateugh the initial stages of clinical developmétowever, we may not be able to
establish or maintain such licensing and collalionaarrangements necessary to develop and comrieeaiar product candidates. Even if we
are able to maintain or establish licensing oradmitation arrangements, these arrangements maerast favorable terms and may contain
provisions that will restrict our ability to dev@lotest and market our product candidates. Anyifaito maintain or establish licensing or
collaboration arrangements on favorable terms cadlrsely affect our business prospects, finacoiatlition or ability to develop and
commercialize our product candidates.

Our agreements with our collaborators and licensggshave provisions that give rise to disputes@igg the rights and obligations of the
parties. These and other possible disagreemenks leaa to termination of the agreement or delaysollaborative research, development,
supply, or commercialization of certain productdiaates, or could require or result in litigationasbitration. Moreover, disagreements could
arise with our collaborators over rights to intetleal property or our rights to share in any offiltere revenues of products developed by our
collaborators. These kinds of disagreements caddltin costly and timeensuming litigation. Any such conflicts with owllaborators coul
reduce our ability to obtain future collaboratiggreéements and could have a negative impact onetatianship with existing collaborators.
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Currently, our material collaborations and licegsamrangements are our collaboration with Pfizedtdeelop and commercialize MultiStem for
the treatment of IBD, and our collaboration withIR3 develop and commercialize MAPC technology-blasielogic implants for certain
orthopedic applications in the bone graft substgunarket, and our license with the University afifdsota pursuant to which we license
certain aspects of the MultiStem technology. Tresangements do not have specific termination gedtiser, each arrangement terminates
upon the occurrence of certain events.

If our collaborators do not devote sufficient timend resources to successfully carry out their cadted duties or meet expected deadlir
we may not be able to advance our product candidatea timely manner or at all.

Our success depends on the performance by oubodditors of their responsibilities under our cotlediion arrangements. Some potential
collaborators may not perform their obligationsitimely fashion or in a manner satisfactory toTygically, we cannot control the amount of
resources or time our collaborators may devotaitgpoograms or potential products that may be dged in collaboration with us. We are
currently involved in multiple research and devehgmt collaborations with academic and researcitutisins. These collaborators frequently
depend on outside sources of funding to conducboplete research and development, such as gnaotsey awards. In addition, our
academic collaborators may depend on graduatergsjdeedical students, or research assistantatuctd certain work, and such individuals
may not be fully trained or experienced in certi@as, or they may elect to discontinue their pigdtion in a particular research program,
creating an inability to complete ongoing reseanch timely and efficient manner. As a result afgb uncertainties, we are unable to control
the precise timing and execution of any experimérds may be conducted.

Additionally, our current or future corporate caltaators will retain the ability to pursue othesearch, product development or commercial
opportunities that may be directly competitive watlr programs. If these collaborators elect tongiie or pursue other programs in lieu of
ours, we may not be able to advance product deredapprograms in an efficient or effective manifeat all. If a collaborator is pursuing a
competitive program and encounters unexpecteddinbar capability limitations, they may be motigdtto reduce the priority placed on our
programs or delay certain activities related tomnagrams or be unwilling to properly fund theiash of the development expenses for our
programs. Any of these developments could harnpoeduct and technology development efforts, whishld seriously harm our business.

We may experience delays in clinical trials and tadgtory approval relating to our products that cailadversely affect our financial results
and our commercial prospects for our pharmaceutiaal stem cell products.

In addition to the regulatory requirements for phiarmaceutical programs, we will also require ratprly approvals for each distinct
application of our stem cell product. In each casewill be required to conduct clinical trialsdemonstrate safety and efficacy of MultiStem,
or various products that incorporate or use Mudtist For product candidates that advance to climésting, we cannot be certain that we or a
collaborator will successfully complete the clifit@als necessary to receive regulatory produgtrayals. This process is lengthy and
expensive.

We intend to seek approval for our product caneisiéhrough the FDA approval process. To obtainleggry approvals, we must, among ot
requirements, complete clinical trials showing that products are safe and effective for a pawicindication. Under the approval process, we
must submit clinical and non-clinical data to deistosite the medication is safe and effective. Famgple, we must be able to provide data ant
information, which may include extended pharmacyp]dagxicology, reproductive toxicology, bioavailéity and genotoxicity studies to
establish suitability for Phase Il or large scatage 11l clinical trials.

All of our product candidates are at an early stafggevelopment. As these programs enter and psedheough early stage clinical
development, or complete additional non-clinicatiteg, an indication of a lack of safety or lackefficacy may result in the early termination
of an ongoing trial, or may cause us or any ofamllaborators to forego further development of gipalar product candidate or program. The
FDA or other regulatory agencies may require extenglinical trials or other testing prior to grarg approval, which could be costly and time
consuming to conduct. Any of these developmentslavbimder, and potentially prohibit, our ability (ommercialize our product candidates.
We cannot assure you that clinical trials will atf demonstrate that our products are safe orteféec
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Additionally, we may not be able to find acceptatddients or may experience delays in enrollingepés for our currently planned or any
future clinical trials. The FDA or we may suspenut olinical trials at any time if either believdsat we are exposing the subjects participating
in the trials to unacceptable health risks. The FiDAnstitutional review boards and/or institutibbasafety committees at the medical
institutions and healthcare facilities where wekgeesponsor clinical trials may not permit a ttialproceed or may suspend any trial
indefinitely if they find deficiencies in the conchwof the trials.

Product development costs to us and our poterdlibmorators will increase if we have delays irtitesor approvals or if we need to perform
more or larger clinical trials than planned. We estio continue to rely on third-party clinical astigators at medical institutions and
healthcare facilities to conduct our clinical tsighnd, as a result, we may face additional dejefantors outside our control. Significant delays
may adversely affect our financial results andatvamercial prospects for our product candidatescetaly our ability to become profitable.

The results seen in animal testing of our produ@rdidates may not be replicated in humans.

This annual report discusses the safety and effisaen in preclinical testing of our lead prodwntdidates, including MultiStem, in animals,
but we may not see positive results when our gtheduct candidates undergo clinical testing in hasna the future. Preclinical studies and
Phase | clinical trials are not primarily designedest the efficacy of a product candidate in haspdut rather to:

. test shor-term safety and tolerabilit
. study the absorption, distribution, metabolism efichination of the product candida

. study the biochemical and physiological effedtthe product candidate and the mechanisms ofriing action and the relationship
between drug levels and effect; ¢

. understand the product candic's side effects at various doses and sched

Success in preclinical studies or completed clirtitals does not ensure that later studies olstriacluding continuing non-clinical studies and
large-scale clinical trials, will be successful Wlmes it necessarily predict future results. The of failure in drug development is quite high,
and many companies in the biotechnology and phagut@al industries have suffered significant setsan advanced clinical trials, even after
promising results in earlier trials. Product cadiées may fail to show desired safety and efficadaiger and more diverse patient populations
in later stage clinical trials, despite having pexgsed through early stage trials. Negative orriokesive results from any of our ongoing
preclinical studies or clinical trials could resutdelays, modifications, or abandonment of ongainfuture clinical trials and the termination
of our development of a product candidate. Adddibn even if we are able to successfully comppgtetal Phase Il clinical trials, the FDA
still may not approve our product candidates.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval of any of oproduct candidates, the approved products may digexct to pos-approval studies and
will remain subject to ongoing regulatory requiremts. If we fail to comply, or if concerns are idéfied in subsequent studies, our approy
could be withdrawn and our product sales could hesgended.

If we are successful at obtaining regulatory apptéer MultiStem or any of our other product caratis, regulatory agencies in the United
States and other countries where a product witdde may require extensive additional clinicallsiar post-approval clinical studies that are
expensive and time consuming to conduct. In pddictherapeutic products administered for thetineat of persistent or chronic conditions,
such as obesity, are likely to require extensiiefoup studies and close monitoring of patienteafegulatory approval has been granted, fo
any signs of adverse effects that occur over a pmrgpd of time. These studies may be expensivdiarelconsuming to conduct and may
reveal side effects or other harmful effects ingras that use our therapeutic products after #neyon the market, which may result in the
limitation or withdrawal of our drugs from the matkAlternatively, we may not be able to conduattsadditional trials, which might force us
to abandon our efforts to develop or commerciadizgain product candidates. Even if post-approtaliges are not requested or required, aftel
our products are approved and on the market, thagkt be safety issues that emerge over time #watire a change in product labeling or that
require withdrawal of the product from the markettich would cause our revenue to decline.
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Additionally, any products that we may successfdiyelop will be subject to ongoing regulatory riegunents after they are approved. These
requirements will govern the manufacturing, packggmarketing, distribution, and use of our produtftwe fail to comply with such
regulatory requirements, approval for our produeéy be withdrawn, and product sales may be suspeide may not be able to regain
compliance, or we may only be able to regain coamgié after a lengthy delay, significant expensst,fevenues and damage to our reputatior

We may rely on third parties to manufacture our Miftem product candidate.

Our current business strategy relies on third eatth manufacture our MultiStem product candidates&cordance with good manufacturing
practices established by the FDA, or similar retjoites in other countries. These third parties matydeliver sufficient quantities of our
MultiStem product candidates, manufacture MultiSfgwduct candidates in accordance with specifioatior comply with applicable
government regulations. Additionally, if the maratfaed products fail to perform as specified, ousibess and reputation could be severely
impacted.

We expect to enter into additional manufacturingeagents for the production of product materidlany manufacturing agreement is
terminated or any third party collaborator exper&sa significant problem that could result in Eger interruption in the supply of product
materials to us, there are very few contract mastufars who currently have the capability to pragoar MultiStem product on acceptable
terms, or on a timely and cost-effective basis.dafenot assure you that manufacturers on whom weleglend will be able to successfully
produce our MultiStem product on acceptable teomsn a timely or cost-effective basis. We canrssuae you that manufacturers will be able
to manufacture our products in accordance withpsaduct specifications or will meet FDA or othequé@ements. We must have sufficient anc
acceptable quantities of our product materialsotodact our clinical trials and ultimately to marketr product candidates, if and when such
products have been approved by the FDA for margetinve are unable to obtain sufficient and acabf& quantities of our product material,
we may be required to delay the clinical testing ararketing of our products.

If we do not comply with applicable regulatory remements in the manufacture and distribution of oyroduct candidates, we may inc
penalties that may inhibit our ability to commerdiae our products and adversely affect our reven

Our failure or the failure of our potential collabtors or third party manufacturers to comply vétiplicable FDA or other regulatory
requirements including manufacturing, quality cohtlabeling, safety surveillance, promoting anplaiging may result in criminal prosecution,
civil penalties, recall or seizure of our produdtdal or partial suspension of production or ganuation, as well as other regulatory action
against our product candidates or us. Discovepr@fiously unknown problems with a product, suppleanufacturer or facility may result in
restrictions on the sale of our products, includingithdrawal of such products from the market. ®beurrence of any of these events would
negatively impact our business and results of djpera

If we are unable to attract and retain key persornred advisors, it may adversely affect our abilttyobtain financing, pursue
collaborations or develop our product candidates.

We are highly dependent on our executive officetd/@n Bokkelen, Ph.D., our Chief Executive Officas well as other executive and
scientific officers, including William Lehmann, J,]M.B.A., President and Chief Operating Officaxhd Harrington, Ph.D., Chief Scientific
Officer and Executive Vice President, Robert De&fsD., Executive Vice President, Regenerative kladj and Laura Campbell, CPA, Vice
President of Finance, as well as other personnel.

These individuals are integral to the developmenitiategration of our technologies and to our pnesad future scientific collaborations,
including managing the complex research processéshe product development and potential commezeidbn processes. Given their
leadership, extensive technical, scientific andficial expertise and management and operationaltiexge, these individuals would be
difficult to replace. Consequently, the loss ofvssgs of one or more of these named individualdccoesult in product development delays or
the failure of our collaborations with current d@ntlure collaborators, which, in turn, may hurt aiility to develop and commercialize prodt
and generate revenues.

Our future success depends on our ability to attratain and motivate highly qualified managemamd scientific, development and
commercial personnel and advisors. If we are unbégtract and retain key personnel and advisonsay negatively affect our ability to
successfully develop, test and commercialize ocodpet candidates.
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Our ability to compete may decline if we are notsessful in adequately protecting our patented asitier proprietary technologies.

Our success depends in part on our ability to atdad maintain intellectual property that protemis technologies and our products. Patent
positions may be highly uncertain and may involemplex legal and factual questions, including thiéitg to establish patentability of
compounds and methods for using them for which ek patent protection. We cannot predict the breafitlaims that will ultimately be
allowed in our patent applications, if any, incliglithose we have in-licensed or the extent to whielhmay enforce these claims against our
competitors. We have filed multiple patent applimas that seek to protect the composition of mattel method of use related to our progre
In addition, we are prosecuting numerous distirtept families directed to composition, methodproiuction, and methods of use of
MultiStem and related technologies. If we are unessful in obtaining and maintaining these pategitted to products and technologies, we
may ultimately be unable to commercialize prodtctd we are developing or may elect to developénftture.

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is therefore highly uncertain and we carassture you that:

. we were the first to file patent applicationd@invent the subject matter claimed in patentiapfibns relating to the technologies
or product candidates upon which we re

. others will not independently develop similar deatative technologies or duplicate any of our tetbgies;

. others did not publicly disclose our claimed tezlogy before we conceived the subject matter ohetlin any of our patent
applications

. any of our pending or future patent application result in issued patent
. any of our patent applications will not result imerferences or disputes with third parties regaydiriority of invention

. any patents that may be issued to us, our caldbis or our licensors will provide a basis fontoercially viable products or will
provide us with any competitive advantages or milf be challenged by third parti

. we will develop additional proprietary technologtlat are patentabl
. the patents of others will not have an adverseceéfa our ability to do business;

. new proprietary technologies from third partiesjuding existing licensors, will be available t@ensing to us on reasonable
commercial terms, if at al

In addition, patent law outside the United Stasasricertain and in many countries intellectual proplaws are undergoing review and
revision. The laws of some countries do not proigetlectual property rights to the same extend@mestic laws. It may be necessary or u:
for us to participate in opposition proceedingsdétermine the validity of our competitors’ pateotgo defend the validity of any of our or our
licensor’s future patents, which could result ibstantial costs and would divert our efforts aridraton from other aspects of our business.
With respect to certain of our inventions, we hdeeided not to pursue patent protection outsidéJiieed States, both because we do not
believe it is cost effective and because of comifiiddity concerns. Accordingly, our internationanapetitors could develop and receive foreign
patent protection for gene sequences and functnsghich we are seeking United States patent ptime, enabling them to sell products that
we have developed.

Technologies licensed to us by others, or in-liegngchnologies, are important to our business.sEbpe of our rights under our licenses may
be subject to dispute by our licensors or thirdipar Our rights to use these technologies anddctige the inventions claimed in the licensed
patents are subject to our licensors abiding byehas of those licenses and not terminating tHarparticular, we depend on certain
technologies relating to our MultiStem technologghsed from the University of Minnesota, and #renination of this license could result in
our loss of some of the rights that enable usitzethis technology, and our ability to developgucts based on MultiStem could be seriousl
hampered.
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In addition, we may in the future acquire rightatilitional technologies by licensing such rightsf existing licensors or from third parties.
Such in-licenses may be costly. Also, we geneddiyot control the patent prosecution, maintenam@nforcement of in-licensed
technologies. Accordingly, we are unable to exertii® same degree of control over this intellequaperty as we do over our internally
developed technologies. Moreover, some of our anadmstitution licensors, collaborators and sdfemtaidvisors have rights to publish data
and information to which we have rights. If we cahmaintain the confidentiality of our technologa®d other confidential information in
connection with our collaborations, our abilitypimtect our proprietary information or obtain pdtprotection in the future may be impaired,
which could have a significant adverse effect onlusiness, financial condition and results of atiens.

We may not have adequate protection for our unpatshproprietary information, which could adversefiffect our competitive position.

In addition to patents, we will substantially rely trade secrets, know-how, continuing technoldgdicevations and licensing opportunities to
develop and maintain our competitive position. Hegre others may independently develop substanté]lyivalent proprietary information a
techniques or otherwise gain access to our tractetseor disclose our technology. To protect cadérsecrets, we may enter into confidenti
agreements with employees, consultants and poteotiaborators. However, these agreements mapmotide meaningful protection of our
trade secrets or adequate remedies in the evemiaothorized use or disclosure of such informatidkewise, our trade secrets or know-how
may become known through other means or be indepgigddiscovered by our competitors. Any of thegergs could prevent us from
developing or commercializing our product candidate

If we do not continue to meet the listing standarestablished by The NASDAQ Capital Market, the coomstock may not remain listed fc
trading.

The NASDAQ Capital Market has established certaiangjtative criteria and qualitative standards ttaahpanies must meet in order to remair
listed for trading on these markets. We cannotantae that we will be able to maintain all necessaquirements for listing; therefore, we
cannot guarantee that our common stock will rerfisied for trading on The NASDAQ Capital Marketather similar markets.

We may be sued for product liability, which could\ersely affect our business.

Because our business strategy involves the developand sale by either us or our collaboratorsoafroercial products, we may be sued for
product liability. We may be held liable if any pitect we develop and commercialize, or any productcollaborators commercialize that
incorporates any of our technology, causes injurig dound otherwise unsuitable during productitegtmanufacturing, marketing, sale or
consumer use. In addition, the safety studies wet perform and the regulatory approvals requirecbtomercialize our pharmaceutical
products, will not protect us from any such lialyili

We carry product liability insurance that includewerage for human clinical trials. Currently, vaarg a $5 million per event, $5 million
annual aggregate coverage for both our produdigitiapolicy and our clinical trials protection. 8also intend to seek product liability
insurance for any approved products that we magldevor acquire. However, in the event there aoelpet liability claims against us, our
insurance may be insufficient to cover the exparisiefending against such claims, or may be insieffit to pay or settle such claims.
Furthermore, we may be unable to obtain adequattupt liability insurance coverage for commerceles of any of our approved products. If
such insurance is insufficient to protect us, @sauits of operations will suffer. If any produaHility claim is made against us, our reputation
and future sales will be damaged, even if we halegaate insurance coverage.
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Many potential competitors, including those who tegreater resources and experience than we do, adeyelop products or technologis
that make ours obsolete or noncompetitive.

We face significant competition with respect to puwvduct candidates. With regard to our effortdegelop MultiStem as a novel stem cell
therapy, currently, there are a number of compahigisare actively developing stem cell productsiclv encompass a range of different cell
types, including embryonic stem cells, adult-dedigéem cells, and processed bone marrow derivésl Gair future success will depend on ou
ability to maintain a competitive position with pext to technological advances. Technological agmknts by others may result in our
MultiStem product platform and technologies, aslaglour pharmaceutical formulations, becoming t#iso

We are subject to significant competition from phaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic compamieagdemic and research institutions,
government or other publicly funded agencies thatparrsuing or may pursue the development of tlreertp products and technologies that ar
substantially similar to our proposed therapeutadpcts and technologies, or that otherwise addhesmsdications we are pursuing. Our most
significant competitors include major pharmaceutimanpanies such as Pfizer, Roche, Johnson & Johi$amofi and GlaxoSmithKline, as
well as smaller biotechnology or biopharmaceutizshpanies such as Celgene, Osiris, Aastrom, Stdiw I@e., Cytori, Mesoblast, Pluristem,
Arena Pharmaceuticals, and Vivus. Most of our curamd potential competitors have substantiallagmeresearch and development
capabilities and financial, scientific, regulatomyanufacturing, marketing, sales, human resoues@bexperience than we do. Many of our
competitors have several therapeutic productshivat already been developed, approved and sucligssfnmercialized, or are in the proc

of obtaining regulatory approval for their therafieproducts in the United States and internatignal

Many of these companies have substantially greafgital resources, research and development resand experience, manufacturing
capabilities, regulatory expertise, sales and mantxgesources, established relationships with gores products companies and production
facilities.

Universities and public and private research in8tihs are also potential competitors. While thasgmnizations primarily have educational
objectives, they may develop proprietary techn@sgelated to stem cells or secure patent protettiat we may need for the development of
our technologies and products. We may attempttmée these proprietary technologies, but thesedi&s may not be available to us on
acceptable terms, if at all. Our competitors, eitdene or with their collaborative partners, mageeed in developing technologies or product
that are more effective, safer, more affordablmore easily commercialized than ours, and our cditope may obtain intellectual property
protection or commercialize products sooner thamaeDevelopments by others may render our procedidates or our technologies
obsolete.

Our current product discovery and development bollators are not prohibited from entering into aesk and development collaboration
agreements with third parties in any product fi€@dr failure to compete effectively would have gngficant adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The availability, manner, and amount of reimbursemtefor our product candidates from government andyate payers are uncertain, and
our inability to obtain adequate reimbursement fany products could severely limit our product sales

We expect that many of the patients who seek trewttmvith any of our products that are approvediarketing will be eligible for Medicare
benefits. Other patients may be covered by prikatdth plans. If we are unable to obtain or reé@iaquate levels of reimbursement from
Medicare or from private health plans, our abildysell our products will be severely limited. Téygplication of existing Medicare regulations
and interpretive coverage and payment determinatiomewly approved products is uncertain and thegelations and interpretive
determinations are subject to change. The Mediegscription Drug Improvement and Modernization, &ctacted in December 2003,
provides for a change in reimbursement methodotbgt/reduces the Medicare reimbursement rates &oyrdrugs, which may adversely
affect reimbursement for any products we may dexeltedicare regulations and interpretive deterniamatalso may determine who may be
reimbursed for certain services, and may limitgbel of patients our product candidates are beewglbped to serve.

Federal, state and foreign governments continyedpose legislation designed to contain or red@adth care costs. Legislation and
regulations affecting the pricing of products lier potential products may change further or bgsstbbefore any of our potential products
approved for marketing. Cost control initiativesdiyvernments or third-party payers could decrdasetice that we receive for any one or all
of our potential products or increase patient amasce to a level that make our products underldpireent become unaffordable. In addition,
government and private health plans persistentijiehge the price and cost-effectiveness of theraperoducts. Accordingly, these third
parties may ultimately not consider any or all of products under development to be cost effectivich could result in products not being
covered under their health plans or covered ondylatver price. Any of these initiatives or devetmgnts could prevent us from successfully
marketing and selling any of our products thataeroved for commercialization.
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Public perception of ethical and social issues sounding the use of adu-derived stem cell technology may limit or discogeathe use of
our technologies, which may reduce the demand far therapeutic products and technologies and redumg revenues.

Our success will depend in part upon our abilitdéwelop therapeutic products incorporating oralisced through our adult-derived stem cell
technology. For social, ethical, or other reasgoesernmental authorities in the United States ahdracountries may call for limits on, or
regulation of the use of, aduderived stem cell technologies. Although we dous# the more controversial stem cells derived feombryos o
fetuses, claims that adult-derived stem cell tetihgies are ineffective, unethical or pose a dangéhne environment may influence public
attitudes. The subject of stem cell technologiegeneral has received negative publicity and ambpsélic debate in the United States and
some other countries. Ethical and other conceroatatur adultderived stem cell technology could materially hthet market acceptance of «
therapeutic products and technologies, resultirgjrimnished sales and use of any products we dectallevelop using adult-derived stem
cells.

Even if we or our collaborators receive regulatoapproval for our products, those products may nebercommercially successft

Even if we develop pharmaceuticals or MultiStenatesil products that obtain the necessary regulatgpyoval, and we have access to the
necessary manufacturing, sales, marketing andhiison capabilities that we need, our success migp# a significant degree upon the
commercial success of those products. If theseystsdail to achieve or subsequently maintain miaakeeptance or commercial viability, our
business would be significantly harmed becauséduture royalty revenue or other revenue would heedelent upon sales of these products.
Many factors may affect the market acceptance antheercial success of any potential products thatnag discover, including:

. health concerns, whether actual or perceivednéavorable publicity regarding our obesity drusfem cell products or those of our
competitors

. the timing of market entry as compared to competiiroducts
. the rate of adoption of products by our collabarstind other companies in the indus

. any product labeling that may be required byRB& or other United States or foreign regulatorgmgjes for our products or
competing or comparable produc

. convenience and ease of administrat

. pricing;

. perceived efficacy and side effec

. marketing;

. availability of alternative treatment

. levels of reimbursement and insurance coverage
. activities by our competitor:
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If we are unable to create and maintain sales, matikg and distribution capabilities or enter intoggeements with third parties to perfori
those functions, we will not be able to commerczaiour product candidates.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distrimuttapabilities. Therefore, to commercialize ourdurct candidates, if and when such
products have been approved and are ready for tiragkeve expect to collaborate with third partiegperform these functions. We will either
need to share the value generated from the saeyoproducts and/or pay a fee to the contract safgmization. If we establish any such
relationships, we will be dependent upon the cdjpialsi of our collaborators or contract service\pders to effectively market, sell, and
distribute our product. If they are ineffectivesatling and distributing our product, or if theyodse to emphasize other products over ours, wi
may not achieve the level of product sales revethegsve would like. If conflicts arise, we may it able to resolve them easily or
effectively, and we may suffer financially as auleslif we cannot rely on the sales, marketing distribution capabilities of our collaborators
or of contract service providers, we may be forzedstablish our own capabilities. We have no eepee in developing, training or managing
a sales force and will incur substantial additicegdenses if we decide to market any of our fupmoglucts directly. Developing a marketing
and sales force is also time consuming and could/daunch of our future products. In addition, wi compete with many companies that
currently have extensive and wéllnded marketing and sales operations. Our mauetitd sales efforts may be unable to compete ssiody
against these companies.

We will use hazardous and biological materials inrdousiness. Any claims relating to improper hanaj, storage or disposal of these
materials could be time consuming and costly.

Our products and processes will involve the cotedostorage, use and disposal of certain hazaralodidiological materials and waste
products. We and our suppliers and other collabosatre subject to federal, state and local reigmisigoverning the use, manufacture, stor
handling and disposal of materials and waste prgd&wven if we and these suppliers and collabosatomply with the standards prescribed b
law and regulation, the risk of accidental contaation or injury from hazardous materials cannottpletely eliminated. In the event of an
accident, we could be held liable for any damagesresult, and any liability could exceed the t8vr fall outside the coverage of any
insurance we may obtain and exceed our financs@ukees. We may not be able to maintain insuranceoeptable terms, or at all. We may
incur significant costs to comply with current atdre environmental laws and regulations.

Disputes concerning the infringement or misapprogtion of our proprietary rights or the proprietarsights of others could be tim
consuming and extremely costly and could delay oesearch and development efforts.

Our commercial success, if any, will be signifidartitarmed if we infringe the patent rights of thpdrties or if we breach any license or other
agreements that we have entered into with regaoditéechnology or business.

We are aware of other companies and academicutistis that have been performing research in thesaof adult derived stem cells. In
particular, other companies and academic institstitave announced that they have identified nongonir stem cells isolated from bone
marrow or other tissues that have the ability tonfa range of cell types, or display the propeftglaripotency. To the extent any of these
companies or academic institutions currently havebtain in the future, broad patent claims, spatents could block our ability to use
various aspects of our discovery and developmertgss and might prevent us from developing or cortialeing newly discovered
applications of our MultiStem technology, or othemvconducting our business. In addition, it isgilsie that some of the pharmaceutical
product candidates we are developing may not benfmtile or may be covered by intellectual propeftthird parties.

We are not currently a party to any litigationgirfference, opposition, protest, reexamination graher potentially adverse governmental, ex
parte or inter-party proceeding with regard to patent or trademark positions. However, the lifersces and other technology industries are
characterized by extensive litigation regardingeptt and other intellectual property rights. Maifey $ciences and other technology companie:
have employed intellectual property litigation asay to gain a competitive advantage. If we becaomelved in litigation, interference
proceedings, oppositions, reexamination, protestloer potentially adverse intellectual propertggaredings as a result of alleged infringemer
by us of the rights of others or as a result obity of invention disputes with third parties, weght have to spend significant amounts of
money, time and effort defending our position aredmay not be successful. In addition, any clainetirgy to the infringement of third-party
proprietary rights or proprietary determinationgem if not meritorious, could result in costlydiéition, lengthy governmental proceedings,
divert management’s attention and resources, alinee@s to enter into royalty or license agreem#mds are not advantageous to us. If we do
not have the financial resources to support suigfation or appeals, we may forfeit or lose cermmercial rights. Even if we have the
financial resources to continue such litigatiorappeals, we may lose. In the event that we losenaebe forced to pay very substantial
damages; we may have to obtain costly licensegjgitiich may not be available to us on acceptabtag, if at all; or we may be prohibited
from selling products that are found to infringe fhatent rights of others.
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Should any person have filed patent applicationsbtained patents that claim inventions also cldilmgus, we may have to participate in an
interference proceeding declared by the relevatetpaegulatory agency to determine priority oféntion and, thus, the right to a patent for
these inventions in the United States. Such a pding could result in substantial cost to us e¥émel outcome is favorable. Even if successfu
on priority grounds, an interference action mayiites loss ofclaims based on patentability grounds raised inrttegference action. Litigatio
interference proceedings or other proceedings adivkett management’s time and efforts. Even unsssfoéclaims could result in significant
legal fees and other expenses, diversion of managesritime and disruption in our business. Uncatitas resulting from initiation and
continuation of any patent proceeding or relategdtion could harm our ability to compete and cblidve a significant adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openst

An adverse ruling arising out of any intellectuebjerty dispute, including an adverse decisiorodhe priority of our inventions, could
undercut or invalidate our intellectual propertyspion. An adverse ruling could also subject usigmificant liability for damages, including
possible treble damages, prevent us from usingntdopies or developing products, or require usegatiate licenses to disputed rights from
third parties. Although patent and intellectualgey disputes in the technology area are oftettegethrough licensing or similar
arrangements, costs associated with these arramggmay be substantial and could include licenss &d ongoing royalties. Furthermore,
necessary licenses may not be available to ustfiegdory terms, if at all. Failure to obtain ednse in such a case could have a significant
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

To the extent we enter markets outside of the Udiftates, our business will be subject to politicatonomic, legal and social risks in those
markets, which could adversely affect our business.

There are significant regulatory and legal barriendarkets outside the United States that we mwstcome to the extent we enter or attempt
to enter markets in countries other than the Uriteedes. We will be subject to the burden of conmglyvith a wide variety of national and
local laws, including multiple and possibly ovelpépy and conflicting laws. We also may experienifgcdlties adapting to new cultures,
business customs and legal systems. Any salespardtmns outside the United States would be stibjguolitical, economic and social
uncertainties including, among others:

. changes and limits in import and export contr
. increases in custom duties and tari
. changes in currency exchange ra
. economic and political instabilit
. changes in government regulations and Iz
. absence in some jurisdictions of effective lawpratect our intellectual property rights; a
. currency transfer and other restrictions and letgans that may limit our ability to sell certgimoducts or repatriate profits to the
United States
Any changes related to these and other factorslamlersely affect our business to the extent vier enarkets outside the United States.

Foreign governments often impose strict price cavltr on approved products, which may adversely affaa future profitability in those
countries, and the re-importation of drugs to thenited States from foreign countries that impose ggicontrols may adversely affect our
future profitability.

Frequently foreign governments impose strict paeetrols on newly approved therapeutic productaidfobtain regulatory approval to sell
products in foreign countries, we may be unablebiain a price that provides an adequate finametakn on our investment. Furthermore,
legislation in the United States may permit re-im@ion of drugs from foreign countries into theitéd States, including re-importation from
foreign countries where the drugs are sold at lgwiees than in the United States due to foreigregament-mandated price controls. Such a
practice, especially if it is conducted on a widesyl basis, may significantly reduce our poteitfigited States revenues from any drugs that
we are able to develop.
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If we elect not to sell our products in foreign cotries that impose government mandated price cotgreecause we decide it
uneconomical to do so, a foreign government or pateffice may attempt to terminate our intellectuptoperty rights in that country,
enabling competitors to make and sell our products.

In some cases we may choose not to sell a prodictareign country because it is uneconomicabte@under a system of government-
imposed price controls, or because it could seydirait our profitability in the United States otheer markets. In such cases, a foreign
government or patent office may terminate any iet&lial property rights we may obtain with resgedhat product. Such a termination could
enable competitors to produce and sell our prouuittat market. Furthermore, such products mayxpereed into the United States through
legislation that authorizes the importation of drdiggm outside the United States. In such an evemtnay have to reduce our prices, or we
may be unable to compete with low-cost providerswfdrugs, and we could be financially harmed essalt.

We may encounter difficulties managing our growtwhich could adversely affect our business.

At various times we have experienced periods afirgpowth in our employee numbers as a resultdrfaanatic increase in activity in
technology programs, genomics programs, collabgratisearch programs, discovery programs, and safageerations. At other times, we
have had to reduce staff in order to bring our asps in line with our financial resources. Our sssowill also depend on the ability of our
officers and key employees to continue to improweaperational capabilities and our managementinddion and financial control systems,
and to expand, train and manage our work force.

If we acquire products, technologies or other bussses, we will incur a variety of costs, may havegration difficulties and may
experience numerous other risks that could adveysaffect our business.

To remain competitive, we may decide to acquirdtamdhl businesses, products and technologies. Wtetly have no commitments or
agreements with respect to, and are not activelkisg, any material acquisitions. We have limitggerience in identifying acquisition targe
successfully acquiring them and integrating theto our current infrastructure. We may not be ablsuccessfully integrate any businesses,
products, technologies or personnel that we mightie in the future without a significant expendi of operating, financial and managemen
resources, if at all. In addition, future acquéits could require significant capital infusions &odld involve many risks, including, but not
limited to the following:

. we may have to issue convertible debt or equtusties to complete an acquisition, which wouldté our stockholders and could
adversely affect the market price of our commoulst

. an acquisition may negatively impact our resaftsperations because it may require us to inagel@ane-time charges to earnings,
amortize or write down amounts related to goodavild other intangible assets, or incur or assumstantial debt or liabilities, or it
may cause adverse tax consequences, substantiat@dion or deferred compensation chari

. we may encounter difficulties in assimilating antkgrating the business, technologies, prodpeissonnel or operations of
companies that we acquil

. certain acquisitions may disrupt our relationshithvexisting collaborators who are competitivetie ticquired busines

. acquisitions may require significant capital isifins and the acquired businesses, products ardEies may not generate
sufficient revenue to offset acquisition cot

. an acquisition may disrupt our ongoing businesgriliresources, increase our expenses and disttachanagemen
. acquisitions may involve the entry into a geogragibusiness market in which we have little oipnior experience; an
. key personnel of an acquired company may decidéonwbrk for us

Any of the foregoing risks could have a significadierse effect on our business, financial comtligind results of operations.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal offices are located at 3201 Carnégienue in Cleveland, Ohio. We currently lease apipnately 45,000 square feet of space for
our corporate offices and laboratories, with ste#téhe-art laboratory space. The lease began i0 200 currently expires in March 2016, and
we have the option to renew annually through 2@L&. rent is $267,000 per year and our rental ratertot changed since the lease incepti
2000. Also, we currently lease office and labonaspace for our Belgian subsidiary. The lease otyrexpires in July 2015, and we have an
option to renew annually through July 2022. Theuahment in Belgium is €121,100 and is subjectdustments based on an inflationary
index. Our total rent expense for all properties %415,000 in 2012.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may become subject to varlegal proceedings that are incidental to the @dirtconduct of our business. Currently,
there are no such proceedings.

ITEM 3A. _EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The information under this Item is furnished purgua Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of RegulatiorKS-

There exists no arrangement or understanding betaeg executive officer and any other person punsteawhich such executive officer was
elected. Each executive officer serves until hibersuccessor is elected and qualified.

The following sets forth the name, age, currenttfpssand principal occupation and employment dagitine past five years of our executive
officers.

Gil Van Bokkelen, Ph.D.
Age: 52

Dr. Van Bokkeleico-founded Athersys in October 1995 and has seagailir Chief Executive Officer and Chairman sincgést 2000.

Dr. Van Bokkelen served as Chief Executive Offigad Director since Athersys’ founding. Prior to M2806, he also served as Athersys’
President. From 2010 through 2012, Dr. Van Bokkselkewed as the Chairman of the Alliance for Regathar Medicine, a Washington D.C.
based consortium of companies, patient advocaaypgralisease foundations, and clinical and reseastitutions that are committed to the
advancement of the field of regenerative medicime, now servesx officio. He is also the Chairman of the Board of Goverfiorshe
National Center for Regenerative Medicine, andgdmged on a number of other boards, including tleéeBhnology Industry Organizati's
ECS board of directors (from 2001 to 2004, and f&fi@8 to present). He received his Ph.D. in Gesdtan Stanford University, his B.A. in
Economics from the University of California at Beldy, and his B.A. in Molecular Biology from the Wersity of California at Berkeley.

Dr. Van Bokkelen brings to the Board leadershifiergive business, operating, financial and sciergiXperience, and tremendous knowledge
of our Company and the biopharmaceutical indufiryVan Bokkelen also brings his broad strateggiori for our Company to the Board of
Directors and his service as the Chairman and CEQhersys creates a critical link between manageraad the Board, enabling the Boart
perform its oversight function with the benefitmnagement’s perspectives on the business. In@uditaving the CEO, and Dr. Van
Bokkelen, in particular, on our Board of Directpravides our Company with ethical, decisive anedffre leadership.

William (BJ) Lehmann, Jr., J.D.
Age: 47

Mr. Lehmanrjoined Athersys in September 2001 and has servedraBresident and Chief Operating Officer sinageJ2006. Prior to that
time, Mr. Lehmann was AthersyExecutive Vice President of Corporate DevelopmeitBinance from August 2002 until June 2006, whe
became Athersys’ President and Chief Operatingc®ffiFrom 1994 to 2001, Mr. Lehmann was with Mcléing Company, Inc., an
international management consulting firm, wherevieeked extensively with new technology and senhbiesed businesses in the firm'’s
Business Building practice. Prior to joining McKéys he worked at Wilson, Sonsini, Goodrich & RasatSilicon Valley law firm, and worke
with First Chicago Corporation, a financial institsn. Mr. Lehmann received his J.D. from Stanfomiuérsity, his M.B.A. from the University
of Chicago, and his B.A. from the University of KmDame.
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John J. Harrington, Ph.D.
Age: 45

Dr. Harrington co-founded Athersys in October 1995 and has seasalir Chief Scientific Officer, Executive Vice Bident and Director
since our founding. Dr. Harrington led the develemiof the RAGE technology as well as its applarafor gene discovery, drug discovery
and commercial protein production applications.i$ie listed inventor on over 20 issued or pendingéd States patents, has authored
numerous scientific publications, and has receivaderous awards for his work, including being namee of the top international young
scientists by MIT Technology Review in 2002. Dr.reiggton has overseen the therapeutic product dewetnt programs at Athersys since
their inception, and during his career, he has la¢dd positions at Amgen and Scripps Clinic. Heeheed his B.A. in Biochemistry and Cell
Biology from the University of California at Sandjo and his Ph.D. in Cancer Biology from Stanfordvérsity. Dr. Harrington’s scientific
experience and deep understanding of our Compamybined with his drive for innovation and excellenposition him well to serve on the
Board of Directors.

Robert J. Deans, Ph.D.
Age: 61

Dr. Deansjoined Athersys in February 2003 to lead the Corgjmregenerative medicine research and developméwitias and has served
our Executive Vice President since June 2011. Roitinat time, Dr. Deans was Vice President of Regative Medicine, until he was named
Senior Vice President of Regenerative MedicineuimeJ2006, and Executive Vice President in June 2D.1Deans is highly regarded as an
expert in stem cell therapeutics, with over tweyggrs of experience in this field. From 2001 to2d0r. Deans worked for early-stage
biotechnology companies. Dr. Deans was formerlyite President of Research at Osiris, a bioted@otompany, from 1998 to 2001 and
Director of Research and Development with the Imatlverapy Division of Baxter International, Inc.glebal healthcare company, from 1992
to 1998. Dr. Deans was also previously on faculty &C Medical School in Los Angeles, between 1984 998, in the departments of
Microbiology and Neurology at the Norris Comprehiee<Cancer Center. Dr. Deans was an undergradudté€Tareceived his Ph.D. at the
University of Michigan, and did his post-doctoradnk at UCLA in Los Angeles.

Laura K. Campbell, CPA
Age: 49

Ms. Campbeljoined Athersys in January 1998 and has servedia¥ioe President of Finance since June 2006. Msabell joined Athersys
initially as Controller, followed by Director of Rance and Senior Director of Finance, and has da&s&/ice President of Finance since June
2006. Prior to joining Athersys, she was at Ernst@ung LLP, a public accounting firm, for 11 yearsthe firm’s audit practice. During her
tenure with Ernst & Young LLP, Ms. Campbell speiiedi in entrepreneurial services and the bioteadyyindustry sector and participated in
several initial public offerings. Ms. Campbell rae her B.S., with distinction, in Business Adnsimation from The Ohio State University.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capitafhdaunder the symbol “ATHX.” Set forth below afeethigh and low sale prices for
our common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market fog periods indicated.

High Low

Year ended December 31, 201:

First Quarte! $2.3: $1.4¢
Second Quarte $1.71 $1.2¢
Third Quartel $1.7¢ $1.3¢
Fourth Quarte $1.47 $0.9¢
Year ended December 31, 2011:

First Quartel $3.0¢ $2.3¢
Second Quarte $3.1C $2.5(
Third Quartel $2.8¢€ $1.0C
Fourth Quarte $2.4z2 $1.1:

Holders

As of March 1, 2013, the number of holders of rdoeas approximately 613. Shares of common stodkatteaheld by financial institutions as
nominees for beneficial owners are deposited iartigpant accounts at DTC, and are considerea todbd of record by Cede & Co., as one
stockholder.

Dividend Policy

We would have to rely upon dividends and other paytsifrom our wholly owned subsidiary, ABT Holdi@@mpany, to generate the funds
necessary to make dividend payments, if any, orcoommon stock. ABT Holding Company, however, isalggdistinct from us and has no
obligation to pay amounts to us. The ability of AB®lding Company to make dividend and other paysemus is subject to, among other
things, the availability of funds and applicablatstlaws. However, there are no restrictions ssajpoaernment regulations or material
contractual arrangements that restrict the abdithBT Holding Company to make dividend and othayments to us. We did not pay cash
dividends on our common stock during the past theags. We do not anticipate that we will pay aiwdénds on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. Rather, we anticipate that Wleetain earnings, if any, for use in the devetemt of our business
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ITEM6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz
Revenues
Contract revenu
Grant revenu
Total revenue:
Costs and expense
Research and developmt
General and administrati
Depreciatior
Loss from operation
Other (expense) incom
Other income (expense), r
Interest incom

Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per shar

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and

diluted

Consolidated Balance Sheet Datz
Cash and cash equivalel
Available-for-sale securities, shi-tem
Working capital

Available-for-sale securities, lol-term
Total asset

Warrant liabilities and note payal
Total stockholder equity

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
$ 7,38( $ 9,01t $ 6,68~ $ 1,07¢ $ 1,88(
1,32¢ 1,32¢ 2,25¢ 1,08( 1,22¢
8,70¢ 10,34« 8,93¢ 2,15¢ 3,10t
19,63¢ 18,93( 14,77¢ 11,92( 16,50(
4,752 4,91¢ 5,387 5,621 5,47¢
32C 27¢ 284 23: 21¢
(16,007 (13,78() (11,517 (15,61F) (19,097)
1,23: (51) (69) (12€) (46)
34 85 203 37t 1,14¢€
$ (14,739 $ (13,740 $ (11,37) $ (15360 $ (17,997
$ (0.45) % (059 $ (060 $ (0.81) $ (0.95)
32,556,78 23,239,01 18,929,74 18,928,37 18,927,98

December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
$ 25,53: $ 8,78t $ 2,10t $ 11,167 $ 12,55
— 3,99¢ 13,07¢ 10,13¢ 15,46(
21,83: 7,01 9,10¢ 16,29: 26,78¢
— — — 5,08( 3,601
27,60: 15,70: 19,10¢ 28,33. 33,871

2,87¢ 98: — — —

20,24 7,29¢ 9,00t 18,951 31,56:
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and arialiysconjunction with “Item 8. Financial Statemgiind Supplementary Data” included
below in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are an international biotechnology company ihédcused primarily on the field of regenerativeditine. We have established a portfolio
of therapeutic product development programs toesidsignificant unmet medical needs in multipleaée areas. We are developing our lead
platform product, MultiSter® a patented and proprietary allogeneic stem cetyrbthat has been evaluated in two completed Riaisgcal
trials and is currently being evaluated in two angdPhase Il clinical trials. Our current clinickvelopment programs are focused on treating
inflammatory and immune disorders, neurologicaldiions, cardiovascular disease, and other conwitigVe are also applying our
pharmaceutical discovery capabilities to identifiyl @evelop small molecule compounds with potemtpgilications in indications such as
obesity, related metabolic conditions and cert@uarological conditions. These represent major avéabnical need, as well as substantial
commercial opportunities.

Current Programs

By applying our proprietary MultiStem cell therapgoduct, we have established therapeutic produaldpment programs treating
inflammatory and immune disorders, neurologicaldittons, cardiovascular disease, and other contditido date, we have advanced five
programs to the clinical development stage, inclgdhe following:

« Inflammatory Bowel DiseaseMultiStem is being evaluated in an ongoing PHasénical study involving administration of
MultiStem to patients suffering from UC, the mostemon form of IBD. This study is being conductedhwur partner, Pfizer, in
UC patients who have an inadequate response oefaaetory to current treatment, and is a doubiledhlplacebo controlled trial
that began enrolling patients in 2011. Enroliméithe trial is ongoing and designed to include agpnately 130 patients, with
initial results expected to be reported in the sddualf of 2013.

» Ischemic Stroke In an ongoing Phase Il clinical study, we areleating the administration of MultiStem to patieatso
have suffered an ischemic stroke. In contrastdattnent with thrombolytics, which must be administiewithin 3 to 4 hours after a
stroke, we are treating patients one to two dalgs #ie stroke has occurred. In preclinical studagninistration of a single dose of
MultiStem, even several days after a stroke, redlift significant and durable improvements. Thishde blind, placebo-controlled
trial is being conducted at leading stroke cerdersss the United States and may include sitesiioffe. The study is expected to
enroll approximately 136 patients. We completedfiftst patient cohorts, and the independent safaipitoring committee found in
2012 that MultiStem was safe and well tolerateldadh of the doses evaluated. Patient enrollmemgming and for the remainder
of the trial, patients are being randomized to ineceither high dose MultiStem or placebo. We apéite announcing initial results
for the study in the first half of 2014.

 Acute Myocardial Infarction We have evaluated the administration of MultiSiera Phase | clinical study to patients who
have suffered an AMI. In 2010, we announced prelany results for this study, demonstrating a fableaafety profile and
encouraging signs of improvement in heart functiormong patients that exhibited severely compromtigeadt function prior to
treatment. This data was published in a leading pgewed scientific journal in 2012. One-yealdal-up data suggested that the
benefit observed was sustained over time. We cdetplgreliminary planning for a Phase Il trial, an@i50 patient study has been
authorized by the FDA. Our plans to move the AMdgmam forward into subsequent development will delpen the availability of
capital resources, progress in our other clinitadies and our business development activities.
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» Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant / GviHi/e completed a Phase | clinical study of the adstriation of MultiStem to
patients suffering from leukemia or certain othkeold-borne cancers in which patients undergo ramfigherapy and then receive a
HSC transplant. Such patients are at significaskt fior serious complications, including GvHD, arbatance of immune system
function caused by transplanted immune cells tttatk various tissues and organs in the patier20lil and in 2012, we released
data from the study, which demonstrated the safebjultiStem in this indication and suggested thtaitiStem may have a
beneficial effect in reducing the incidence andesity of GVHD, as well as providing other benefithis program has been assig
orphan drug designation from the FDA, which proside with seven years of market exclusivity upgorapal and certain other
benefits. We met with the FDA to discuss the rasofithe clinical study and our proposed plandliernext phase of clinical
development in this area. Based on current plaasntend to be ready to start this study in th@sddalf of 2013, but the initiatic
will depend on the progress in our other clinicall$ and the achievement of certain business dpwetnt and financial objectives.

We are also collaborating with a leading transptaotip at the University of Regensburg in Germdmag has recently obtained authorizatio
initiate an institutional sponsored clinical tredploring the administration of MultiStem in patigffiollowing a liver transplant. We plan to
provide limited financial support for this invesdigr-sponsored Phase | study and provide the ptadwonduct the trial.

In addition to our current and anticipated clinidalelopment activities, we are engaged in pradirdevelopment and evaluation of
MultiStem in other inflammatory and immune, neugdt@l and cardiovascular disease areas, as wedtréain other indications. We conduct
such work both through our own internal researébresf and through a broad network of collaboratiaeshave established with investigators
at leading research institutions across the Uritadies and in Europe.

We are in discussions with third parties aboutatmating in the development of MultiStem for cerfarograms and may enter into one or
more business partnership(s) to advance thesegmsgr

We have also collaborated with RTI on the develapnoé products for certain orthopedic applicatiomshe bone graft substitutes market u:
our stem cell technologies. RTI's product developtragtivities are progressing, and in 2012, we atadrour agreement to accelerate $2.0
million of contingent milestone payments into 2@d2Zonnection with technical support to assist RiTits development efforts. We will also
receive royalty revenue from product sales shdudy bccur, as well as potential additional milestpayments.

We are also engaged in the development of novell smadecule therapies to treat obesity and otherdiions, such as schizophrenia.
Currently, we are focused on the development afmohighly selective compounds that act throughudation of a specific receptor in the
brain, the 5HT2c serotonin receptor. We are corndggireclinical evaluation of novel compounds thvathave developed that exhibit favore
attributes, including outstanding receptor selétgtias well as greater potency and activity thtren5HT2¢ agonists. We have also
demonstrated our compounds are complementary wigr agents and believe these compounds couldwechést in class weight loss, as well
as a superior safety and tolerability profile. Rermore, we have evaluated certain compounds glipieal models of schizophrenia that
exhibit an attractive selectivity profile and alsloserved that these compounds exhibit potent sff&¢e are in discussions with interested
companies and may elect to enter into a partnetehapgvance the development of our 5SHT2c agon@jnam, either for the treatment of
obesity, schizophrenia, or both indications.

Financial

We have incurred losses since inception of oparatio 1995 and had an accumulated deficit of $2Bdbomat December 31, 2012. Our losses
have resulted principally from costs incurred isg@&ch and development, clinical and preclinicatipct development, acquisition and
licensing costs, and general and administrativésassociated with our operations. We have usefirthiecing proceeds from private equity
and debt offerings and other sources of capitdkteelop our technologies, to discover and devdiepapeutic product candidates, develop
business collaborations and to acquire certaimiaolgies and assets.

In October 2012, we completed a public offeringayating net proceeds of approximately $18.3 mildlmmmugh the issuance of 19,802,000
shares of common stock at a price of $1.01 peresh@aiNovember 2012, the underwriters exercisedllrtheir right to purchase an additional
2,970,300 shares of common stock, solely to cover-allotments. The exercise of the full over-afient option generated an additional $2.8
million of net proceeds.

39



Table of Contents

In March 2012, we completed a private placememrrfaing generating net proceeds of approximatel¥ 88llion through the issuance of
4,347,827 shares of common stock and five-yearamésrto purchase 4,347,827 shares of common stitislaw exercise price of $2.07 per
share. The securities were sold in multiples akad combination of one share of common stock an@ugant to purchase one share of
common stock at an offering price of $2.07 perdixembination. The warrants have adiitistion price protection, subject to certain exieps.
As a result of the October 2012 public offering amdccordance with the terms of the warrants, ewgbkt and obtained stockholder approvi
February 2013 to reduce the exercise price of theseants to $1.01 per share.

In November 2011, we entered into an equity purelz@seement, which provides that Aspire Capitabimmitted to purchase up to an
aggregate of $20.0 million of shares of our comrsimtk over a two-year term, subject to our electimsell any such shares. Under the
agreement, we have the right to sell shares, sttg@ertain volume limitations and a minimum flgoice, at a modest discount to the
prevailing market price. During the quarter endet@nber 31, 2012, we sold no shares under theeABpirchase Agreement, and during the
year ended December 31, 2012, we sold 800,000sst@mrespire Capital at an average price of $1.57%pare. As of March 1, 2013, \
received aggregate proceeds of approximately $#l@munder the Aspire Purchase Agreement singéniteption.

In February 2011, we completed a registered dofeting with net proceeds of $11.8 million throutte issuance of 4,366,667 shares of
common stock and five-year warrants to purchase0]0®0 shares of common stock with an exercise @fi&3.55 per share. The securities
were sold in multiples of a fixed combination ofeoshare of common stock and a warrant to purch&sef@ share of common stock at an
offering price of $3.00 per fixed combination.

In 2012, we were awarded grant funding aggreg@81§ million to further advance our MultiStem pragrs and cell therapy platform,
including further development of MultiStem for tlreatment of TBI and further development of out terapy formulations and
manufacturing capabilities. The sources of fundimduding federal, state and European organizationtkare generally focused on the
advancement of our preclinical MultiStem prograassyell as process development and manufacturiingtass.

Results of Operations

Since our inception, our revenues have consistdidaesfse fees, contract revenues and milestone @atgnfrom our collaborators, and grant
proceeds primarily from federal, state and fourmdagrants. We have derived no revenue from the cential sale of therapeutic products to
date. Research and development expenses consistrityiof external clinical and preclinical studsefs, manufacturing costs, salaries and
related personnel costs, legal expenses resuttimg ihtellectual property prosecution processeslifia costs, and laboratory supply and
reagent costs. We expense research and developomstas they are incurred. We expect to contioueatke significant investments in
research and development to enhance our techns)aglgance clinical trials of our product candidagxpand our regulatory affairs and
product development capabilities, conduct prediihétudies of our product and manufacture our ptbdandidates. General and administre
expenses consist primarily of salaries and relpgrdonnel costs, professional fees and other catgpexpenses. We expect to continue to inct
substantial losses through at least the next seyeass.

The following table sets forth our revenues andeasgs for the periods indicated. The followingealdre stated in thousands.

Revenues
Year ended December 31
2012 2011 2010
Contract revenue $7,38( $ 9,01F $6,68¢
Grant revenu 1,32¢ 1,32¢ 2,25¢

$8,70¢ $10,34¢ $8,93¢
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Research and development expenses

Year ended December 31

Type of expens 2012 2011 2010

Personnel costs $ 5,097 $ 4,641 $ 4,12«
Research supplie 1,43t 1,31¢ 1,21¢
Facilities 964 944 87C
Clinical and preclinical development co 8,05: 7,49¢ 4,39¢
Sponsored resear: 1,381 1,40¢ 1,14¢
Patent legal fee 1,37: 1,70: 1,47
Other 1,18 1,21¢ 1,00z
Stoclk-based compensatic 15C 20& 54k

$19,63¢ $18,93( $14,77¢

General and administrative expenses

Year ended December 31

Type of expens 2012 2011 2010

Personnel costs $2,16: $1,927 $1,897
Facilities 28C 27C 27¢
Legal and professional fe 79¢ 1,00¢ 1,007
Other 1,18: 1,364 1,28:
Stoclk-based compensatic 331 347 921

$4,75¢ $4,91¢ $5,381

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Efdlecember 31, 2011

RevenuesRevenues decreased to $8.7 million for the yeae@&mkecember 31, 2012 from $10.3 million for 201antact revenue decreased
$1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 20d@pared to the year ended December 31, 2011 aledteethe impact of our arrangements
with Pfizer and RTI. Our contract revenues reftbetamortization of Pfizer payments, including 08@illion non-refundable up-front license
fee, over the estimated performance period thag@imlJune 2012, as well as the amortization @&.8 #hillion guaranteed license fee from the
RTI collaboration over the estimated performanagopethat ended in 2011, and also include the 20 million license payments from RTI
that was recognized in the fourth quarter of 2@ contract revenues may also include license fagsstone payments and royalties on
compounds developed by Bristol-Myers Squibb using of our technologies. As a result of the enchefé performance periods and absent
any new collaborations, we expect our contractmmaes to decline significantly in 2013 and to be pdsed of reimbursements from Pfizer for
outsourced central processing costs for the clipraduct, potential RTI royalty payments, and pdid license and milestone payments from
Bristol-Myers Squibb. Grant revenue remained cdestsat $1.3 million for the year ended December2812 and 2011 primarily due to
expiring grants being replaced with new grants. @ant revenues may fluctuate from period to pebased on the timing of grant-related
activities and the expiration and award of grants.

Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses increased triillon for the year ended December 31, 2012
from $18.9 million for the year ended DecemberZ111. The increase of $0.7 million related to ameéase in clinical and preclinical
development costs of $558,000, an increase in pred@osts of $456,000 and an increase in ressamblies of $119,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2012 from the comparable period irl 2These increases were partially offset by a deserén patent legal fees of $330,000, a
decrease in sponsored research costs of $27,00@, decrease in stock compensation expense of 865 clinical and preclinical
development costs relate primarily to costs assediaith our MultiStem clinical trials, and includiecreases in contract research organizatior
costs and clinical consulting costs in 2012, phytiaffset by less clinical manufacturing costs idgrthe period. Also in 2012, we incurred less
preclinical study costs and more process developowats for our MultiStem manufacturing process@spared to 2011. Lastly, our clinical
costs for the year ended December 31, 2011 weref le¢ now terminated Angiotech collaboration’stesharing amount of $312,000. The
increase in personnel costs related to an inclieasaaries and bonus, and the impact over thetpasyears of the addition personnel
supporting our preclinical and clinical programaislincrease in research supplies related primarigupplies for process development
activities and increased personnel. The decreagatéent legal costs resulted from reduced patersguution costs during the period. Spons
research costs decreased primarily due to a decieasant-funded programs that require collaboratith certain academic research
institutions. We expect our 2013 annual researchdmvelopment expenses to be higher than the 20dghses based on our planned clinical
development and process development activitiessaol costs will vary over time based on clinicalnmfacturing campaigns and the timing
and stage of clinical trials underway. Other thatemal expenses for our clinical and preclinicagrams, we do not track our research
expenses by project; rather, we track such expdnstee type of cost incurred.
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General and Administrative Expens€eneral and administrative expenses decreased8a$fion in 2012 from $4.9 million in 2011. The
$163,000 decrease in 2012 compared to 2011 waprduarily to a decrease in legal and professioeasfof $210,000 and a decrease in othe
general and administrative costs of $182,000 relaeutside services, partially offset by an imsein personnel costs of $235,000. We e:
our general and administrative expenses to contaihgemilar levels in 2013.

Depreciation.Depreciation expense increased to $320,000 in #0012 $278,000 in 2011 due to depreciation on nepitabpurchases.

Other Income (Expense), nébther income (expense), net, includes increasgslacreases in our warrant liabilities, cash aadksbased
milestone payments to our former lenders in conomatith our equity offerings that were completad2D12, foreign currency gains and los
related to our activities in Europe, and any redligains and losses on the sale of our assetseddgriized income of $2.4 million and $0.8
million in 2012 and 2011, respectively, from thduaion of our warrant liabilities. Cash and stdzksed milestone payments to our former
lenders were $1.3 million and $0.9 million in 20drd 2011, respectively. Also, in 2012, we recogihizeain of $183,000 related to an equity-
method investment that was liquidated.

Interest Income Interest income represents interest earned onasir and available-for-sale securities. Interesinme decreased to $34,000 in
2012 from $85,000 in 2011 due to the decline ininuestment balances as they were used to fundmenations. We expect our 2013 interest
income to reflect the impact of declining cash baés resulting from our ongoing and planned cliréeal preclinical development, and intei
earned on proceeds from any new financings or kasitransactions.

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Efdleckmber 31, 2010

RevenuesRevenues increased to $10.3 million for the yededrDecember 31, 2011 from $8.9 million for 2016ntact revenue increased
$2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 20drhgared to the year ended December 31, 2010 phnaaria result of our arrangements
with Pfizer and RTI. Our contract revenues reftbetamortization of Pfizer payments, including a0&@illion non-refundable up-front license
fee, over the estimated performance period, asagelhe amortization of a $3.0 million guaranteeerse fee from the RTI collaboration over
the estimated performance period that ended in.200f contract revenues may also include licenes, fimilestone payments and royalties on
compounds developed by Bristol-Myers Squibb using of our technologies. Grant revenue decreasé€drillion for the year ended
December 31, 2011 compared to the year ended Deredhh2010 primarily due to the timing of expendis that are reimbursed with grant
proceeds and a grant received in October 2010 fheninternal Revenue Service under section 48Dbefriternal Revenue Code aggregating
$733,000 for qualifying therapeutic discovery invesnts.

Research and Development Exper. Research and development expenses increase8.®mfillion for the year ended December 31, 2011
from $14.8 million in 2010. The increase of appmately $4.1 million related primarily to an increda clinical and preclinical development
costs of $3.1 million, an increase in personnetco§$517,000, an increase in sponsored reseasth of $259,000, an increase in patent lege
fees of $226,000, an increase in other costs 06 88D, and an increase in research supply andtieitosts of $172,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2011 compared to 2010. These incraasespartially offset by a decrease in stock-basedpensation expense of $340,000,
which declined as a result of a significant numifesptions becoming fully vested in 2010. The ims® in clinical and preclinical developm:
costs for the year ended December 31, 2011 refatethrily to costs associated with our MultiStermidal trials, including increased
manufacturing and process development costs. @Gnicall costs for the year ended December 31, 20812810 are reflected net of
Angiotech’s cost-sharing amount of $312,000 andB§B20, respectively. The Angiotech collaboratiorswerminated late in 2011. The
increase in personnel costs related to the additien the past twelve months of personnel supppdirr preclinical and clinical programs, and
annual merit increases in salaries. Sponsorednaseasts increased primarily due to an increaggant-funded programs that require
collaboration with certain academic research iastins. Patent legal fees increased related tonat®nal patent prosecution activities. Other
than external expenses for our clinical and présdirprograms, we do not track our research expebgeroject; rather, we track such expe
by the type of cost incurred.
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General and Administrative Expens€eneral and administrative expenses decreased9a$fion in 2011 from $5.4 million in 2010. The
$471,000 decrease in 2011 compared to 2010 waprduarily to a decrease in stock-based compensatipense of $574,000 from a
significant number of options becoming fully veste®010, partially offset by an increase in otbgpenses of $81,000.

Depreciation.Depreciation expense remained fairly consiste2d8,000 in 2011 and $284,000 in 2010.

Other Income (Expense), nébther income (expense), net, includes increasgslacreases in our warrant liabilities, cash aadksbased
milestone payments to our former lenders in conomatith our equity offerings, foreign currency gaiand losses related to our activities in
Europe, and any realized gains and losses on th@faur assets. We recognized income of $0.8anilin 2011 from the valuation of our
warrant liabilities. Cash and stock-based milesfgengments to our former lenders were $0.9 millio2011.

Interest Income Interest income represents interest earned onaslr and available-for-sale securities. Interesirite decreased to $85,000 in
2011 from $203,000 in 2010 due to the decline iniowestment balances as they were used to fundmenations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our sources of liquidity include our cash balareed available-for-sale securities. At December2®1,2, we had $25.5 million in cash and
cash equivalents. We have primarily financed owrapons through equity financings, business collations and grant funding. We conduct
all of our operations through our subsidiary, AB®ltHng Company. Consequently, our ability to fund operations depends on ABT Holding
Company’s financial condition and its ability to keadividend payments or other cash distributionsstoThere are no restrictions such as
government regulations or material contractualrayeanents that restrict the ability of ABT Holdingi@pany to make dividend and other
payments to us.

In October 2012, we completed a public offeringayating net proceeds of approximately $18.3 miliorough the issuance of 19,802,000
shares of common stock at a price of $1.01 pereshaiNovember 2012, the underwriters exercisedllrtheir right to purchase an additional
2,970,300 shares of common stock, solely to cover-allotments. The exercise of the full over-atient option generated an additional $2.8
million of net proceeds.

In March 2012, we completed a private placememrrfaing generating net proceeds of approximatel¥ 88llion through the issuance of
4,347,827 shares of common stock and five-yearamésrto purchase 4,347,827 shares of common stitislaw exercise price of $2.07 per
share. The securities were sold in multiples okadf combination of one share of common stock amguaant to purchase one share of
common stock at an offering price of $2.07 perdixembination. The warrants have adiitistion price protection, subject to certain exieps.
As a result of the October 2012 public offering amdccordance with the terms of the warrants, eugbt and obtained stockholder approvi
February 2013 to reduce the exercise price of theseants to $1.01 per share.

In November 2011, we entered into an equity puretz@geement, which provides that Aspire Capitabimmitted to purchase up to an
aggregate of $20.0 million of shares of our comrsimtk over a two-year term, subject to our electimsell any such shares. Under the
agreement, we have the right to sell shares, sttg@ertain volume limitations and a minimum flgoice, at a modest discount to the
prevailing market price. As of March 1, 2013, wegiged aggregate proceeds of $2.9 million undeetiwty purchase agreement since its
inception ($1.3 million for the year ended Decem®ikr2012).

In February 2011, we completed a registered dofeting with net proceeds of $11.8 million throutte issuance of 4,366,667 shares of
common stock and five-year warrants to purchase0]0®0 shares of common stock with an exercise @fi&3.55 per share. The securities
were sold in multiples of a fixed combination ofeoshare of common stock and a warrant to purch&sef@ share of common stock at an
offering price of $3.00 per fixed combination.
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In connection with our equity offerings, our fornienders were entitled to milestone payments timlremaining balance of an original $2.25
million milestone was paid in cash and stock. Weleneash and stock-based milestone payments ohdilliGn to our former lenders during
the year ended December 31, 2012, which settlefirthebalance of this contingent obligation, payirb% of the milestone through the
issuance of our common stock. The former lendes i@ceived in 2007 seven-year warrants to purché8®26 shares of common stock with
an exercise price of $5.00. The exercise of suaiamnts could provide us with cash proceeds. Noavasrwere exercised as of December 31,
2012.

Under the terms of our agreement with Pfizer, veeddigible to receive milestone payments of upX@5million upon the successful
achievement of certain development, regulatory@mmercial milestones, though there can be no asserthat we will achieve any
milestones. No significant milestone payments Haen received as of December 31, 2012. Pfizer pajsr manufacturing product for
clinical development and commercialization purpo&dizer has responsibility for development, retpiaand commercialization and will pay
us tiered royalties on worldwide commercial saleBloltiStem IBD products. Alternatively, in lieu abyalties and certain commercialization
milestones, we may elect to co-develop with Pfared the parties will share development and comralization expenses and profits/losses or
an agreed basis beginning at Phase Il clinicaéligoment.

In November 2011, we reached an agreement withgkagh to terminate the collaboration agreementliiaedse between the parties, reflec

a change in Angiotech’s business and financiatesgsa As a result of the termination, we regaineth@rship of all rights for developing our
stem cell technologies and products for cardiovasdisease indications, including AMI, congestieart failure, chronic ischemia, and
peripheral vascular disease, and Angiotech no longg any license rights or options with respectuotechnologies and products. In the case
of a new AMI collaboration, Angiotech will be e¢itl to a future payment from us equal to a percgntd cash license fee payments we
receive within the first six months from a thirdrarelated to such AMI collaboration, and is notiged to other downstream payments, such
as milestone payments, royalties or any profitisiggpayments. The future payment, if any, will lither (i) 15% of third-party license fees if
an AMI collaboration is established after the ation of enrollment in a Phase 1l AMI clinical tidut before we have spent $5.0 million on
clinical trial, and within 24 months of the termfima agreement, or (ii) 10% of third-party licerfses up to a maximum of $5.0 million to
Angiotech if an AMI collaboration is establishedeafthe initiation of enrollment in a Phase Il ARlinical trial, and after we have spent $5.0
million on the clinical trial, and within 36 montla$ the termination agreement.

Under the terms of our RTI agreement, we received illion of license fee payments. In accordawié the partnership agreement, we are
also eligible to receive an additional $35.5 millio cash payments upon the successful achievesfieettain commercial milestones, though
there can be no assurance that such milestonebendthieved, and no milestone payments have leeeived as of December 31, 2012. In
addition, we will receive tiered royalties on waride commercial sales of implants using our tecbgieis.

We remain entitled to receive license fees fordtrghat were delivered to Bristol-Myers Squibbemolur completed 2001 collaboration, as
well as milestone payments and royalties on comgsdeveloped by Bristol-Myers Squibb using our tedbgy, though there can be no
assurance that we will achieve any such milestonesyalties.

In April 2012, we entered into an arrangement ligh Global Cardiovascular Innovation Center anddleveland Clinic Foundation in which
we are entitled to proceeds of up to $500,000 énfoihm of a forgivable loan to fund certain rema@preclinical work using MultiStem to tre
congestive heart failure and for preparing the @oygfor an investigational new drug application|dD with the FDA. Interest on the loan
accrues at a fixed rate of 4.25% per annum, aadded to the outstanding principal. The loan wélifbrgiven based on the achievement of a
certain milestone, unrelated to the preclinicalkyavithin three to four years. As of December 3112, we had drawn $166,000 of this
financing.
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In February 2012, we were awarded grant fundingeagging $3.6 million to further advance our Mulé® product programs and cell therapy
platform. Specifically, we were awarded a SmalliBass Innovation Research Fastack grant of up to $1.9 million from the Natiorastitute
of Neurological Disorders and Stroke to develop tMaém for the treatment of TBI. In addition, owbsidiary based in Belgium was awarded
a $1.2 million (€0.9 million) grant from BelgiumAgency for Innovation by Science and Technologfutther develop cell therapy
formulations and manufacturing capabilities, ad aglthe aforementioned $0.5 million in fundingnfrthe Global Cardiovascular Innovation
Center to work in other areas, such as using Meltito treat chronic cardiovascular disease.

In 2011, we entered into an alliance with Fast Fodya nonprofit subsidiary of the National Muléclerosis Society, pursuant to which Fas
Forward will fund the development of MultiStem fiie treatment of multiple sclerosis through thiadjlof an IND. Fast Forward will commit
up to $640,000 to fund the advancement of the arago clinical development stage. In return, upaetsessful achievement of certain
development and commercialization milestones, welevoemit certain milestone payments to Fast Fodwar

When we hold investments, our available-for-saig#es typically include United States governmebligations and corporate debt
securities. We have been investing conservative#ytd the ongoing economic conditions and haveipred liquidity and the preservation of
principal in lieu of potentially higher returns. Asresult, we have experienced no losses on theipai of our investments and have held our
investments until maturity. All available-for-saecurities had matured as of December 31, 2012, Although the unfavorable market and
economic conditions have resulted in a decreaseroarket capitalization, there has been no imperitt to the value of our assets. Our fixed
assets are used for internal research and devefd@and, therefore, are not impacted by these exttéantors.

We will require substantial additional funding irder to continue our research and product developpr®grams, including preclinical
evaluation and clinical trials of our product cataties. At December 31, 2012, we had available aadlcash equivalents of $25.5 million,
which included the net proceeds from our Octobdr228ublic offering. As a result, we intend to meat short-term liquidity needs with
available cash. Over the longer term, we will make of available cash, but will have to generattahal funding to meet our needs. We are
actively exploring business development opportasifor certain of our MultiStem programs and oual$molecule 5HT2c program, as well
grant-funding opportunities. Additionally, we amgging capital from time to time through the equityrchase agreement with Aspire Capital,
subject to its volume and price limitations. Weoatsanage our cash by deferring certain discretiooasts and stage certain development ¢
to extend our operational runway, as needed. Qwer, tve may consider the sale of additional egsgtyurities, or possibly borrowing from
financing institutions.

Our capital requirements over time depend on a murabfactors, including progress in our clinicev@lopment programs, our clinical and
preclinical pipeline of additional opportunitiesdatheir stage of development, additional exteroats such as payments to contract research
organizations and contract manufacturing orgarorati additional personnel costs, and the cosifing find prosecuting patent applications
and enforcing patent claims. The availability afidis impacts our ability to advance multiple clinipeograms concurrently, and any shortfa
funding could result in our having to delay or ailrtesearch and development efforts. Further gieguirements may change at any time due
to technological advances, business developmeinttacir competition from other companies. We canassure you that adequate funding

be available to us or, if available, that it wilt vailable on acceptable terms.

We expect to continue to incur substantial loskesugh at least the next several years and may losses in subsequent periods. The amoun
and timing of our future losses are highly uncert&ur ability to achieve and thereafter sustaofitability will be dependent upon, among
other things, successfully developing, commerdiajzand obtaining regulatory approval or cleararfoesur technologies and products
resulting from these technologies.

Cash Flow Analysis

Net cash used in operating activities was $17.#anjl$14.5 million and $10.6 million in 2012, 204hd 2010, respectively, and represel
the use of cash in funding preclinical and clinidalelopment activities. We expect that net cagll irs operating activities will increase in
2013 compared to 2012 in connection with increassdarch and development expenses of our MultiSliemcal trials and later stage clinical
development. Net cash used in operating activitassfluctuated significantly over the past few ggaimarily due to the receipt of
collaboration fees and payment of specific clintcall costs, such as clinical manufacturing andti@ct research organization costs.
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Net cash provided by investing activities was $8ilion, $8.6 million and $1.5 million in 2012, 2@Jand 2010, respectively. The fluctuatic
from period to period were due to the timing of ghases and maturity dates of investments and ttolhase of equipment. Purchases of
equipment were $347,000, $590,000 and $390,00012,2011 and 2010, respectively. We expect thatapital equipment expenditures v
continue at similar levels in 2013 compared to 2012

Financing activities provided cash of $30.5 milliar2012 primarily related to the March privateqaenent and the October 2012 public
offering, $12.6 million in 2011 related to the Fe&ry 2011 registered direct offering and the ihi#ispire Capital investment in November
2011, and financing activities neither used nowjated cash in 2010.

Investors in our March 2012 private placement neeffive-year warrants to purchase an aggregade3df7,827 shares of common stock with
an exercise price of $2.07 per share, with antitidih price protection, subject to certain excapioAs a result of the October 2012 public
offering and in accordance with the terms of theramts, we sought and obtained stockholder appiovétbruary 2013 to reduce the exercise
price of these warrants to $1.01 per share. Afsstors in our February 2011 registered direeroff received five-year warrants to purchas
an aggregate of 1,310,000 shares of common stdbkamiexercise price of $3.55 per share. The eseqafisuch warrants could provide us
with cash proceeds. No warrants have been exeratdedcember 31, 2012.

Our contractual payment obligations as of Decem3tie£012 are as follows:

Payment due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total Less than 1 Yea 1-3 Years 3-5 Years More than 5 Years

Operating leases for facilities and equipment Isas $1,334,00! $  444,00( $890,00( $ — $ —

We lease office and laboratory space under operégases. Our lease for our corporate offices abdrhtories began in 2000 and currently
expires in March 2016, and we have the option neweannually through 2019. Our rent is $267,000yper and our rental rate has not
changed since the lease inception in 2000. Alsdease office and laboratory space for our Belgialosidiary that currently expires in July
2015 and includes options to renew annually thralugi 2022, and the annual rent of $159,000 isestltp adjustments based on an
inflationary index. Our total rent expense for@ibperties was $415,000 in 2012.

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Management Estimags

The SEC defines critical accounting policies as¢hthat are, in management’s view, important tgotrérayal of our financial condition and
results of operation and demanding of managemgmitsgment. Our discussion and analysis of finanoaldition and results of operations are
based on our consolidated financial statements;twi@ve been prepared in accordance with Unitet@<Stgenerally accepted accounting
principles. The preparation of these financialestagnts requires us to make estimates on experamten various assumptions that we believ
are reasonable under the circumstances, the redwitsich form the basis for making judgments abtbetcarrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from otheurces. Actual results may differ from thosénestes.
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A discussion of the material implications of unegértties associated with the methods, assumptiothestimates underlying our critical
accounting polices is as follows:

Revenue Recognitio

Our license and collaboration agreements may contaitiple elements, including license and techgglaccess fees, research and
development funding, manufacturing revenue, coatiag, milestones and royalties. The deliverableden such an arrangement are evaluate
under Accounting Standards Codification, or ASG3-€8, Multiple-Element Arrangement&ffective January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2009
13, Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements, &UA2009-13, which amended the guidance in ASC &6rthe accounting for
arrangements involving the delivery of more thae efement. Pursuant to the new standard, eachreelggeliverable is evaluated to determine
whether it qualifies as a separate unit of accogriiased on whether the deliverable has “standealalue” to the customer. The
arrangement’s consideration that is fixed or deteatvle is then allocated to each separate unitodunting based on the relative selling price
of each deliverable. In general, the consideraditotated to each unit of accounting is recognagthe related goods or services are delive
limited to the consideration that is not contingepon future deliverables.

We adopted this new accounting standard on a petigspébasis for agreements containing multiple eets entered into on or after January 1,
2011, and for any agreements entered into pridatwary 1, 2011, but materially modified on or raffitat date.

The primary impact of adopting the new standaekjzected to be the earlier recognition of revemmuerfultiple element arrangements. The
adoption of ASU 2009-13 did not have a materialastpn our consolidated results of operationsHentear ended December 31, 2011, or on
our financial position as of December 31, 2011. iflygact of adopting this new accounting standakjgendent on the terms and conditions
of any future arrangements that we may enter b include multiple elements and arrangementseaiato prior to January 1, 2011 that are
materially modified. Depending on the terms of angh arrangements, the adoption of this accoustamgdard may have a material impact on
our consolidated results of operations or finangdition as it may have the potential effect stleevenue deferral for new collaborations tha
we have historically experienced. We recognize@mere of $7.9 million for the year ended Decembe2B11 and deferred revenue of $3.1
million as of December 31, 2011 pertaining to dadleations which were entered into prior to our awpof ASU 2009-13 and which were not
modified on or after January 1, 2011. The perforoegmeriod for our multiple element arrangementsdoasiuded.

For agreements entered into prior to January 11 20l not materially modified thereafter, we comirio apply our prior accounting policy
with respect to such arrangements. Under this pdiiee deliverables under the arrangement are atedduo assess whether they have
standalone value and objective and reliable evig@fdair value, and if so, are accounted for amgle unit. We then recognize revenue for
each unit based on the culmination of the earngmgsess under ASC 605-S25, issued as Staff Acauytilletin, or SAB, Topic 13, and our
estimated performance period for the single urficoounting based on the specific terms of eatlhlmrative agreement. We subsequently
adjust the estimated performance periods, if apfatsy on a prospective basis based upon avaifable and circumstances. Future changes i
estimates of the performance period may matenalpact the timing of future revenue recognized. Aimis received prior to satisfying the
revenue recognition criteria for contract revenaiesrecorded as deferred revenue in the accompabgiance sheets. Reimbursement amc
(other than those accounted for using collaboraimrounting) paid to us are recorded on a grods lmathe statements of operations as
contract revenues.

Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2010,-Re&¥enue Recognition—Milestone Methdthe adoption of the new standard did not
have a material impact on our consolidated resiltperations for the year ended December 31, #0bh our financial position as of
December 31, 2011 as we had been recognizing revieom at-risk, performance milestones that aressurtive in the period that the
milestone is achieved, as defined in the respectiviracts.

We entered into collaboration agreements with P&zel RTI that contain multiple elements and deéiées. For a description of the
collaboration agreement and the determination ofraat revenues, see Note E to our audited coraelidfinancial statements incorporated by
reference into this prospectus.

Also included in contract revenue are license feesived from Bristol-Myers Squibb, which are sfieally set forth in the license and
collaboration agreement as amounts due to us lmasedr completion of certain tasks (e.g., delivang acceptance of a cell line) and
development milestones (e.qg., clinical trial Phjasasd as such, are not based on estimates thatisceptible to change. Such amounts are
invoiced and recorded as revenue as tasks are eted@nd as milestones are achieved.
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Similarly, grant revenue consists of funding undest reimbursement programs primarily from fedarad state sources for qualified research
and development activities performed by us, ansliak, are not based on estimates that are sudedptithange. Such amounts are invoiced
(unless prepaid) and recorded as revenue as tesksmpleted.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost anrierfprofit sharing are reviewed to determine theimesof the arrangement and the nature of
the collaborative parties’ businesses. The arraegésrare also reviewed to determine if one parsysade or primary responsibility for an
activity, or whether the parties have shared resipdity for the activity. If responsibility for aactivity is shared and there is no principal pg¢
then the related costs of that activity are recogphiby us on a net basis in the statement of dpesate.g., total cost less reimbursement from
collaborator). If we are deemed to be the princigzaty for an activity, then the costs and reverassociated with that activity are recognized
on a gross basis in the statement of operatiores a€bounting may be susceptible to change if the@af a collaborator’s business changes.
Currently, our only collaboration accounted foraonet basis is our cost-sharing collaboration Witigiotech, which was terminated in 2011.

Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgreréd by outside contractors, who manage and pertfloe trials. We obtain initial estimates
of total costs based on enrollment of subjectgeptananagement estimates and other activitiesuahciosts are typically charged to us and
recognized as the tasks are completed by the abotyand if we are invoiced based on progress paysnas opposed to actual costs, we
develop estimates of work completed to date. Aatielmical trial costs may be subject to revisi@ssclinical trials progress, and any revision:
are recorded in the period in which the facts g rise to the revisions become known.

Investments in Availabl-for-Sale Securities

We determine the appropriate classification of gtre=nt securities at the time of purchase and atiate such designation as of each balance
sheet date. Our investments typically consist priipnaf United States government obligations andpcoate debt securities, which are
classified as available-for-sale and are valueédas quoted prices in active markets for identsslets (Level 1). Available-f@ale securitie
are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gaind losses, net of tax, reported as a compomhectamulated other comprehensive income.
The amortized cost of debt securities is adjuste@mortization of premiums and accretion of disgeuo maturity. Such amortization or
accretion is included in interest income. Realigaths and losses on available-for-sale securitieénaluded in interest income. The cost of
securities sold is based on the specific identificamethod. Interest earned on securities cl&skiis available-for-sale is included in interest
income. Since the elements related to accountinthé&se investments are reflected on monthly sttésnthe amounts are not based on
estimates that are susceptible to change. Nonardfrancial assets are in markets that are notect

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseatrtight-line method and use a Black-Schole®ogiricing model to estimate the
grant-date fair value of share-based awards. Thea®d term of options granted represent the perfitiche that option grants are expected to
be outstanding. We use the “simplified” method atcualate the expected life of option grants givenlonited history and determine volatility
by using our historical stock volatility. Estimatefsfair value are not intended to predict actuailife events or the value ultimately realized by
persons who receive equity awards.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantramntsed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifadébrfeitures differ from those estimates and
if our expectations on forfeitures changes. If atfarfeitures vary from the estimate, we will rgoize the difference in compensation expens
in the period the actual forfeitures occur or wbgtions vest.

All of the aforementioned estimates and assumptima®valuated on a quarterly basis and may chamfpects and circumstances warrant.
Changes in these assumptions can materially affeatstimate of the fair value of our share-bassanents and the related amount recognize
in our financial statements.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forwarodkiog statements within the meaning of the PriBgeurities Litigation Reform Act of
1995 that involve risks and uncertainties. Thesedod-looking statements relate to, among otherghi the expected timetable for
development of our product candidates, our growetegy, and our future financial performance, udahg our operations, economic
performance, financial condition, prospects, afeeofuture events. We have attempted to identifwéod-looking statements by using such
words as “anticipates,” “believes,” “can,” “contiafl “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “myd’ “plans,” “potential,” “should,”
“suggest,” “will,” or other similar expressions. @e forward-looking statements are only predictam are largely based on our current
expectations. These forward-looking statementsapipea number of places in this annual report.

” ow ” o " ou ” o

In addition, a number of known and unknown riskg;artainties, and other factors could affect treueacy of these statements. Some of the
more significant known risks that we face are fhksrand uncertainties inherent in the processsabgering, developing, and commercializ
products that are safe and effective for use asahutmerapeutics, including the uncertainty regayaivarket acceptance of our product
candidates and our ability to generate revenues fdllowing risks and uncertainties may cause @twal results, levels of activity,
performance, or achievements to differ materiaiynf any future results, levels of activity, perf@mee, or achievements expressed or implie
by these forward-looking statements:

. uncertainty regarding market acceptance of oodget candidates and our ability to generate reegnucluding MultiStem for the
treatment of IBD, AMI, stroke and other diseasddations, and the prevention of GvH

. our ability to raise capital to fund our operatip
. final results from our MultiStem clinical trial

. the possibility of delays in, adverse results af] axcessive costs of the development prot
. our ability to successfully initiate and completmical trials and obtain all necessary regulatapprovals to commercialize our
product candidate:

. changes in external market factc
. changes in our indust's overall performance
. changes in our business strate

. our ability to protect our intellectual propertyrgfolio;
. our possible inability to realize commercially valile discoveries in our collaborations with phareudical and other biotechnolo
companies

. our ability to meet milestones under our collahioraagreements

. our collaborator ability to continue to fulfill their obligations wer the terms of our collaboration agreem

. our possible inability to execute our strategy thuehanges in our industry or the economy gener

. changes in productivity and reliability of suppsg

. the success of our competitors and the emergenoevotompetitors; an

. the risks mentioned elsewhere in this annual repofform 1-K under Item 1A"Risk Factor¢’
Although we currently believe that the expectaticefected in the forward-looking statements agsomable, we cannot guarantee our future
results, levels of activity or performance. We utaee no obligation to publicly update forward-land statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, excepbtherwise required by law. You are advised, howgteeconsult any further disclosures we

make on related subjects in our reports on Forr® 18-K and 10-K furnished to the SEC. You shouiderstand that it is not possible to
predict or identify all risk factors. Consequentpu should not consider any such list to be a detaset of all potential risks or uncertainties.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK ET RISK
Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to interest rate risk is related toimuestment portfolio and our borrowings. Fixeteraavestments and borrowings may have
their fair market value adversely impacted fromraes in interest rates. Due in part to these factaur future investment income may fall
short of expectations. Further, we may suffer Isssénvestment principal if we are forced to saturities that have declined in market value
due to changes in interest rates. We invest ourssxcash primarily in debt instruments of the Uhéates government and its agencies and
corporate debt securities, and as of December@I2,2ve had no investments. We have been investingervatively due to the current
economic conditions and have prioritized liquidityd the preservation of principal in lieu of potalty higher returns. As a result, we have
experienced no losses on the principal of our itmaents.

We enter into loan arrangements with financialiindbns when needed and when available to us. étdinber 31, 2012, we had no borrow
outstanding other than a forgivable note payaldeaated with local grant funding bearing fixedigiwable interest of 4.25% per annum.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEinm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Athersys, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Athersys, Inc. as of December 31, 2882011, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and compsaleloss, stockholders’ equity and cash flowselach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2012. These financial stateraemthe responsibility of the Company’s managemeat responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ait @fuithe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnéxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsg significant estimates made by managementgaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated financial position
of Athersys, Inc. at December 31, 2012 and 201d the consolidated results of its operations andash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2012, in conformitly W. S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 12, 2013
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

December 31

2012 2011
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 25,53 $ 8,78t
Available-for-sale securitie — 3,99¢
Accounts receivabl 49C 68¢
Prepaid clinical trial cosi — 62¢
Prepaid expenses and otl 28€ 332
Total current asse 26,30¢ 14,43¢
Equipment, ne 1,29¢ 1,26
Total asset $ 27,608 $ 15,70:
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 1,767 $ 2,301
Accrued compensation and related ben: 827 444
Accrued clinical trial cost 95C 872
Accrued expense 934 663
Deferred revenu — 3,14(
Total current liabilities 4,47¢ 7,42(
Note payable 16¢ —
Warrant liabilities 2,70¢ 982
Stockholder equity:
Preferred stock, at stated value; 10,000,000 slzaurtt®rized, and no shares issued and outstantling a
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 slard®rized, 53,058,632 and 24,487,260 shares i
and outstanding at December 31, 2012 and Decenih@031, respectivel 53 24
Additional paic-in capital 253,88¢ 226,20¢
Accumulated other comprehensive inca — 28
Accumulated defici (233,699 (218,96()
Total stockholder equity 20,24% 7,29¢
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 27,608 $ 15,70:

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compserehoss

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Revenues
Contract revenu
Grant revenu
Total revenue
Costs and expense
Research and development (including stock compiemsexpense of $150, $205
and $545 in 2012, 2011and 2010, respectiv
General and administrative (including stock compéins expense of $331, $347
and $921 in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respecti
Depreciatior
Total costs and expens
Loss from operation
Other expense, n
Income from change in fair value of warra
Interest incom
Net loss

Basic and diluted net loss per common shali

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diad
Items included in other comprehensive income (lc
Proportional share of comprehensive (loss) incofrexjaity method
investmen
Unrealized (loss) gain on availa-for-sale securitie

Other comprehensive (loss) income ite
Comprehensive los:

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31

2012

$ 7,38(
1,32¢
8,70¢

19,63¢

4,75:
32¢

24,70
(16,007
(1,179)
2,401

_ 3
$ (14,73

$  (0.49
32,556,78

(29)

_§28)
$ (14,769

2011 2010
$ 9,01t $ 6,68¢
1,32¢ 2,25¢
10,34« 8,93¢
18,93( 14,77¢
4,91¢ 5,381
27¢ 284
24,12¢ 20,45(
(13,780 (11,517
(86%) (69)
81z —
85 20<
$ (13,749 $  (11,37)
$ (0.59 $ (0.60
23,239,01 18,929,74
28 —
(26) (45)
2 (45
$ (13,74 $ (11,429
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Balance at January 1, 2010
Stock based compensati
Issuance of common sto
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss) ite
Balance at December 31, 2C
Stock based compensati
Issuance of common stock and warrants, net of
issuance cos!
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss) ite
Balance at December 31, 2C
Stock based compensati
Issuance of common stock and warrants, net
issuance cos!
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss) ite
Balance at December 31, 201

See accompanying notes.

Athersys, Inc.

(In Thousands, Except Share Amounts)

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated

Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Other Total
Statec Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholder¢
Number Par Paid-in

Value of Shares Value Capital Income Deficit Equity

$ — 18,929,33 $ 19 $ 212,70: $ 71 $ (19383) $ 18,957
_ — — 1,46¢ — — 1,46¢€
= 1,34¢ — 4 — - 4
— — — — — (11,377 (11,377
— — — — (49 — (45)
— 18,930,67 19 214,17: 26 (205,219 9,00t
— — — 552 — — 552
— 5,556,58: 5 11,48( — — 11,48t
— — — — — (13,74¢) (13,74¢)
— — — — 2 — 2
— 24,487,26 24 226,20t 28 (218,96() 7,29¢
— — — 481 — — 481
— 28,571,37 29 27,20: — — 27,23:
— — — — — (14,73%) (14,73%)
= = = = (29) = (29)

$ — 53,058,63 $ 53 $ 253,88¢ $ — $ (23369 $ 20,24;
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In Thousands)

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciatior
Realized gain on investments and avail-for-sale securitie
Stoclk-based compensatic
Issuance of common stock to former lenc
Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti
Amortization of premium on availat-for-sale securities and oth
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Deferred revenu
Net cash used in operating activit
Investing activities
Purchase of availat-for-sale securitie
Proceeds from maturities of availa-for-sale securitie
Purchases of equipme
Net cash provided by investing activiti
Financing activities
Proceeds from note payat
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warnaet
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivi
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$(14,735)  $(13,740 $(11,37)
32( 27¢ 284
(189) (55) —
481 552 1,46¢
1,00¢ 682 —
(2,400 (812) —
11 58 22F
19¢ 1,74¢ (1,859
58C (511) (63)
201 98¢ 562
(3,140 (3,669 16
(17,665 (14,489 (10,597
— (12,509 (8,839
4,23 21,67 10,75:
(347) (590) (390)
3,89( 8,57¢ 1,52¢
16€ — —
30,35’ 12,59t —
30,52 12,59¢ —
16,74¢ 6,68( (9,067)
8,78t 2,10¢ 11,16°
$2553 $ 8788 $ 210¢
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Athersys, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A. Background

We are an international biopharmaceutical comphayis focused primarily in the field of regeneratmedicine and operate in one business
segment. Our operations consist primarily of resdeand product development activities.

B. Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include eapants and results of operations and those oivbotly-owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have baamated in consolidation. Investments in joint tees are accounted for using the equity
method when we do not control the investee, buehibg ability to exercise significant influence ptlee investee’s operations and financial
policies. We liquidated our investment in our joienture in January 2012 and recognized a gairi®38$00.

Revenue Recognition

Our license and collaboration agreements may aontaitiple elements, including license and techgglaccess fees, research and
development funding, manufacturing revenue, coatiag, milestones and royalties. The deliverableden such an arrangement are evaluate
under Accounting Standards Codification (*“ASC”) 625, Multiple-Element ArrangementEffective January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2009-
13, Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(i&SU 2009-13"), which amended the guidance in A&I5-25 on the accounting for
arrangements involving the delivery of more thae efement. Pursuant to the new standard, eachreglqugliverable is evaluated to determine
whether it qualifies as a separate unit of accogritiased on whether the deliverable has “stanceatatue” to the customer. The arrangeneent
consideration that is fixed or determinable is thBocated to each separate unit of accountingcdbasdhe relative selling price of each
deliverable. In general, the consideration allogdteeach unit of accounting is recognized as ¢teted goods or services are delivered, limite
to the consideration that is not contingent updarideliverables.

We adopted this new accounting standard on a petigpébasis for agreements containing multiple &ets entered into on or after January 1,
2011, and for any agreements entered into pridatwary 1, 2011, but materially modified on or raffitat date.

The primary impact of adopting the new standaekjzected to be the earlier recognition of revemmuerfultiple element arrangements. The
adoption of ASU 2009-13 did not have a materialastmpn our consolidated results of operationstHerytears ended December 31, 2011 and
2012, or on our financial position as of DecemlirZ)11 and 2012. The impact of adopting this negoanting standard is dependent on the
terms and conditions of any future arrangementsviieamay enter into that include multiple elemeanid arrangements entered into prior to
January 1, 2011 that are materially modified. Dejiram on the terms of any such arrangements, thptiaxhoof this accounting standard may
have a material impact on our consolidated resilgperations or financial position as it may h#éve potential effect of less revenue deferral
for new collaborations than we have historicallpesenced. We recognized revenue of $7.9 milliortlie year ended December 31, 2011 an
deferred revenue of $3.1 million as of December2®1.,1 pertaining to collaborations which were ezdento prior to our adoption of ASU
2009-13 and which were not modified on or afteruzam 1, 2011. The performance period for our mldtglement arrangements concluded in
2012.

For agreements entered into prior to January 11 20 not materially modified thereafter, we comirio apply our prior accounting policy
with respect to such arrangements. Under this pdiiee deliverables under the arrangement are atedduo assess whether they have
standalone value and objective and reliable evig@fdair value, and if so, are accounted for amgle unit. We then recognize revenue for
each unit based on the culmination of the earngmgsess under ASC 605-S25, issued as Staff Acauyitilletin (“SAB”) Topic 13, and our
estimated performance period for the single urfiscoounting based on the specific terms of eatlhlmarative agreement. We subsequently
adjust the estimated performance periods, if apfatEy on a prospective basis based upon avaifable and circumstances. Future changes i
estimates of the performance period may matenalpact the timing of future revenue recognized. Aimis received prior to satisfying the
revenue recognition criteria for contract revenaiesrecorded as deferred revenue in the accompabgiance sheets. Reimbursement amc
(other than those accounted for using collaboraimrounting) paid to us are recorded on a grods lmathe statements of operations as
contract revenues.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contial)

Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted ASU 2010,-RE¥enue Recognition — Milestone Methdtie adoption of the new standard did not
have a material impact on our consolidated resiltperations for the year ended December 31, 0bh our financial position as of
December 31, 2011 as we had been recognizing revieom at-risk, performance milestones that aressuttive in the period that the
milestone is achieved, as defined in the respectiviracts.

Also included in contract revenue are license feesived from Bristol-Myers Squibb, which are sfieally set forth in the license and
collaboration agreement as amounts due to us lmasedr completion of certain tasks (e.g., delivang acceptance of a cell line) and
development milestones (e.g., clinical trial ph@sasd as such, are not based on estimates thatiseeptible to change. Such amounts are
invoiced and recorded as revenue as tasks are eted@nd as milestones are achieved.

Similarly, grant revenue consists of funding unclest reimbursement programs primarily from fedaral state sources for qualified research
and development activities performed by us, angliab, are not based on estimates that are sudeeptithange. Such amounts are invoiced
(unless prepaid) and recorded as revenue as tesksmapleted.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with ataréty of three months or less when purchased todst equivalents. Cash equivalents are
primarily invested in money market funds and conuia¢paper. The carrying amount of our cash eqaivial approximates fair value due to
the short maturity of the investments.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contial)
B. Accounting Policies, continued

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures, which aqmsisarily of costs associated with external aaliand preclinical study fees,
manufacturing costs, salaries and related persmusts$, legal expenses resulting from intelleghwaperty application processes, and
laboratory supply and reagent costs, includingatliamd allocated overhead expenses, are chargeghémse as incurred.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost auririprofit sharing are reviewed to determine themeaof the arrangement and the nature of
the collaborative parties’ businesses. The arraegiésrare also reviewed to determine if one parsysade or primary responsibility for an
activity, or whether the parties have shared resipdity for the activity. If responsibility for aactivity is shared and there is no principal pg¢
then the related costs of that activity are recogphiby us on a net basis in the statement of dpesate.g., total cost less reimbursement from
collaborator). If we are deemed to be the princpzaty for an activity, then the costs and reveragsociated with that activity are recognized
on a gross basis in the statement of operatioresathounting may be susceptible to change if the@af a collaborator’s business changes.
Our only collaboration accounted for on a net bagis our cost-sharing collaboration with Angiot&farmaceuticals, Inc. (“Angiotech”),
which was terminated in 2011.

Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgreréd by outside contractors, who manage and perfloe trials. We obtain initial estimates
of total costs based on enrollment of subjectgeptananagement estimates and other activitiesighcists are typically charged to us and
recognized as the tasks are completed by the abotyand if we are invoiced based on progress paysnas opposed to actual costs, we
develop estimates of work completed to date. Aatelimical trial costs may be subject to revisiassclinical trials progress, and any revision:
are recorded in the period in which the facts tina rise to the revisions become known.

Royalties

We may be required to make future royalty paymemtertain parties based on product sales und=rdie agreements. We did not pay any
royalties during the three-year period ended Deeer8h, 2012.

Investments in Available-for-Sale Securities

We determine the appropriate classification of gtre=nt securities at the time of purchase and atiate such designation as of each balance
sheet date. Our investments typically consist atedhStates government obligations and corporate skcurities, which are classified as
available-for-sale and are valued based on quaiedspin active markets for identical assets (Léyelvailable-for-sale securities are carried
at fair value, with the unrealized gains and loseesof applicable tax, reported as a componeatofimulated other comprehensive income.
The amortized cost of debt securities is adjuste@mortization of premiums and accretion of disgeuo maturity. Such amortization or
accretion is included in interest income. Realigaths and losses on available-for-sale securitieénaluded in interest income. The cost of
securities sold is based on the specific identificamethod. Interest earned on securities cla&skiis available-for-sale is included in interest
income. None of our financial assets are in marltetsare not active.

Long-Lived Assets

Equipment is stated at acquired cost less accuetutigpreciation. Laboratory and office equipmeatdapreciated on the straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives (three to ten yeaeasehold improvements are amortized over tbetshof the lease term or estimated useful
life.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contial)
B. Accounting Policies, continued

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment wédamnts or changes in circumstances indicate hieatdrrying amount of the asset or relatec
group of assets may not be recoverable. If the@gpduture undiscounted cash flows are less thamrarrying amount of the asset, an
impairment loss is recognized at that time. Measrg of impairment may be based upon appraisakehaalue of similar assets or
discounted cash flows.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contial)
B. Accounting Policies, continued

Patent Costs and Rights

Costs of prosecuting and maintaining patents atehpaights are expensed as incurred. As of DeceBihe2012, we have filed for broad
intellectual property protection on our proprietégghnologies. We currently have numerous UnitedeStpatent applications and
corresponding international patent applicationatesl to our technologies, as well as many issudtttlStates and international patents.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Unrealized gains and losses on our available-fter-securities are the only components of accumdilatieer comprehensive income.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Our accounts receivable are generally comprisedrafunts due from collaborators and granting auiilesrand are subject to concentration of
credit risk due to the absence of a large numbeustomers. At December 31, 2012, the majoritywfaccounts receivable are due from
granting authorities. We do not require collatéraim these customers.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States requires management 1
make estimates and assumptions that affect the @noeported in the financial statements and acemiyipg notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseeairttight-line method and use a Black-Schole®pgiricing model to estimate the fair
value of option awards. The expected term of ogtigranted represent the period of time that ofjiamts are expected to be outstanding. We
use the “simplified” method to calculate the expeédife of option grants given our limited histarfyexercise activity and determine volatility
by using our historical stock volatility. The faialue of our restricted stock units are equal ®dlosing price of our common stock on the date
of grant and is expensed over the vesting period stnaight-line basis. Estimates of fair valuerastintended to predict actual future events o
the value ultimately realized by persons who rezeiguity awards.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantrantbed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifahébrfeitures differ from those estimates. If
actual forfeitures vary from the estimate, we retpg the difference in compensation expense ipéned the actual forfeitures occur or when
options vest.

All of the aforementioned estimates and assumptime®valuated on a quarterly basis and may chamfpects and circumstances warrant.
Changes in these assumptions can materially affeatstimate of the fair value of our share-bassanents and the related amount recognize
in our financial statements.
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contial)
B. Accounting Policies, continued
The following weighted-average input assumptionsawesed in determining the fair value of the Conyfmatockbased compensation awar

December 31

2012 2011 2010
Volatility 117.3% 125.7% 119.5%
Risk-free interest rat 0.8% 1.5% 1.0%
Expected life of optiol 5.72 year: 5.96 year 4.09 year
Expected dividend yiel 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Income Taxes

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determbeeskd on the differences between the financialrtieggoand tax basis of assets and liabilities
and are measured using the tax rate and laws tiyriereffect. We evaluate our deferred income tateedetermine if a valuation allowance
should be established against the deferred taxsasisd the valuation allowance should be redugsased on consideration of all available
evidence, both positive and negative, using a “nlikedy than not” standard.

We had no liability for uncertain income tax pasits as of December 31, 2012 and 2011. Our polityriecognize potential accrued interest
and penalties related to the liability for uncertaix benefits, if applicable, in income tax experidet operating loss and credit carryforwards
since inception remain open to examination by guanthorities, and will for a period post utilizati

Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share has been dechpsing the weighted-average number of sharesmamon stock outstanding during the
period. We have outstanding options and warramtisatte not used in the calculation of diluted neslper share because to do so would be ai
dilutive. The following instruments were excludedrh the calculation of diluted net loss per sharedoise their effects would be anti-dilutive:

Year ended December 3C

2012 2011 2010
Outstanding options 4,058,18 4,499,60: 4,308,01
Restricted stock unit 70,81« 39,30( 0
Outstanding warrani 5,806,85: 6,435,49! 5,125,49

9,935,85. 10,974,39 9,433,50!

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiegbbform with current year presentations.

C. Equipment
December 31

Equipment consists of (in thousanc 2012 2011
Laboratory equipment $ 6,741 $ 6,43(
Office equipment and leasehold improveme 3,84z 3,80¢
10,58 10,23¢
Accumulated depreciatic (9,289 (8,969
$ 1,29/ $ 1,26
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Athersys, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contial)

D. Financial Instruments
Investments in Availat-for-Sale Securities

Our available-for-sale securities typically includeited States government obligations and corpatabe securities. As of December 31, 2011
all of our investments were in United States gorent obligations, including government-backed agenn@nd we had no investments at
December 31, 2012.

The following is a summary of available-for-salewsties (in thousands) at December 31, 2011:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair
Cost Losses Gains _Value
December 31, 201:
United States government obligations, includingegament-
backed agencie $ 3,99¢ $ — $ — $ 3,99¢

We had no realized gains or losses on the saleadfbble-forsale securities for any of the periods presentedealized gains and losses on
available-for-sale securities are excluded fronrmiegs and are reported as a separate componeivic&hslders’ equity within accumulated
other comprehensive income until realized. Wherilabvig-for-sale securities are sold in the futdhe, cost of the securities will be specifically

identified and used to determine any realized gainss. There was no net unrealized gain on aMeitéor-sale securities as of December 31,
2012 and 2011.

Fair Value Measuremen
We classify the inputs used to measure fair vaite the following hierarchy:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fortidahassets or liabilities

Level Z Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets forlsingissets or liabilities, or unadjusted quotedgxifor identical or similar ass¢
or liabilities in markets that are not active, mputs other than quoted prices that are obserdabtee asset or liability

Level & Unobservable inputs for the asset or liabil
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Athersys, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contial)

D. Financial Instruments, continued

The following table provides a summary of the ficiahassets and liabilities measured at fair value recurring basis as follows: (in

thousands):
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2012 Usil
Balance as ¢ Quoted Prices in Significant Other
Active
December Markets for Observable Significant
31, Identical Inputs Unobservable
Description 2012 Assets (Level 1 _ (Level2) Inputs (Level 3
Warrant liabilities $ 2,70¢ $ — $ — $ 2,70¢
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2011 Usii
Balance as ¢ ) . Significant Other
Quoted Prices ir
Active
December Markets for Observable Significant
31, Identical Inputs Unobservable
Description 2011 Assets (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3
Available-for-sale securities $ 3,99¢ $ 3,99¢ $ — $ —
Warrant liabilities $ 98¢ $ — $ — $ 98¢

We review and reassess the fair value hierarctgsifieations on a quarterly basis. Changes fromcuzeter to the next related to the
observability of inputs in a fair value measurenmmaly result in a reclassification between fair eahierarchy levels. There were no
reclassifications for all periods presented.

Fair value is based upon quoted market pricestimeamarkets for our level 1 investments. The eated fair value of warrants accounted fc
liabilities, representing a level 3 fair value ma&s was determined on the issuance date and sudrgggmarked to market at each financial
reporting date. The fair value of the warrantssisneated using the expected volatility based orhibtorical volatilities of comparable
companies from a representative peer group seléeised on industry and market capitalization, uaiBjack-Scholes pricing model. The fair
value of the warrants issued in March 2012 is deitezd using probability weightealverage assumptions that give consideration texbecise
price repricing feature that is dependent uporctresummation of future qualified offerings, as defl, and requisite stockholder approval.
following inputs were used at December 31, 2012:

Warrants Issued
Warrants Issued

February 2011 March 2012
Expected volatility 71.2% 80.7%
Risk-free interest rat 0.36% 0.72%
Expected life 3.0¢ years 4.2Cyears
Fair value at December 31, 2012
(in thousands) $ 24¢ $ 2,46(

A roll-forward of fair value measurements usingngfigant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the vaauts is as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31, 201
Balance January 1, 2012 $ 98¢
Issuance of warrants March 20 4,13(
Settlement: —
(Gain) included in other income (expense), netttierperioc (2,409
Balance December 31, 2012 $ 2,70¢
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D. Financial Instruments, continued

Financing Arrangement

We lease office and laboratory space under opgrégases. The lease for our corporate offices alnoratories began in 2000 and currently
expires in March 2016, and we have the option n@weannually through 2019. Our rent is $267,000ygar and our rental rate has not
changed since the lease inception in 2000. Alsdease office and laboratory space for our Belgiaosidiary, which currently expires in July
2015 and includes options to renew annually thraligi 2022, with annual rent of $159,000, subjeddjustments based on an inflationary
index

Aggregate rent expense was approximately $415%8%7,000 and $387,000 in 2012, 2011 and 2010, c&sply. The future annual minimu
lease commitments at December 31, 2012 are appatedyr$444,000 for 2013, $453,000 for 2014, $370 @0 2015, and $67,000 for 2016.

In April 2012, we entered into an arrangement ligh Global Cardiovascular Innovation Center anddleeland Clinic Foundation pursuant
to which we are entitled to proceeds of up to $800,in the form of a forgivable loan to fund cemte@maining preclinical work using
MultiStem to treat congestive heart failure anddmparing the program for an investigational newgdapplication with the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration. Interest on the loan accrues fixed rate of 4.25% per annum, and is addegdamutstanding principal. The principal
and interest on the loan will be forgiven basedh@nachievement of a certain milestone, unrelaietie preclinical work, within three to four
years. As of December 31, 2012, we have drawn $066of this financing, which is reflected on thédamze sheet as a r-current note
payable, including interest.

Our former lenders retained a right to receive liemg milestone payments up to $1.3 million as etPmber 31, 2011 (from an original
amount of $2.25 million) upon the occurrence ofaerevents, and the final balance was settledlinrf 2012 in connection with equity
offerings during the year. We elected to pay 75%hefmilestone payments in shares of common stottleger-share offering prices in 2012
and $1.3 million in cash and stock-based milesfmmgnents were recognized as other expense in #relype2011, milestone expense was $0.
million and no milestone expense was incurred ih(R0

We paid no interest during the three years endextibber 31, 2012.

E. Collaborations and Revenue Recognition
Pfizer

In 2009, we entered into a collaboration with Rfiee. (“Pfizer”) to develop and commercialize ddultiStem® product candidate to treat
inflammatory bowel disease (“IBD”) for the worldvddnarket. Under the terms of the agreement, wevext@ non-refundable up-front
payment from Pfizer and research funding and sugbosugh June 2012. In addition, we are eligibledceive milestone payments upon the
successful achievement of certain development|agmy and commercial milestones, for which we aagtd the nature of the events
triggering these contingent payments and concltldatthese events constituted substantive milesttiveg will be recognized as revenue in
period in which the underlying triggering event o In concluding that each milestone is substantive considered factors such as whether
the associated consideration fairly representeettie level of effort required to reach the mibest or the value added to the product based o
the achievement of such milestone. No significaiféstone revenue has been recognized to date.

Pfizer pays us for manufacturing product for cladidevelopment and commercialization purposesePfias responsibility for development,
regulatory and commercialization and will pay @sdd royalties on worldwide commercial sales of tMitém IBD products. Alternatively, in
lieu of royalties and certain commercializationestbnes, we may elect to co-develop with Pfizerthedgarties will share development and
commercialization expenses and profits/losses aaga@ed basis beginning at Phase 11l clinical dgwalent.

We evaluated the facts and circumstances of theeaggnt and determined the Pfizer agreement hadpheudeliverables that should be
combined into a single unit of accounting. We ratpgd the license and technology access fee ardnadsand development funding ratably
on a straight-line basis over the estimated perdmiee period, which was completed mid-2012, and aredsmanufacturing revenue beginning
upon the culmination of the earnings process aoogmized it over the performance period of the leshdnit of accounting.
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Angiotech

In November 2011, we reached an agreement withgkagh Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Angiotech”) to teraisthe collaboration agreement and
license between the parties, reflecting a changegiotech’s business and financial strategy. Assailt of the termination, we regained
ownership of all rights for developing our steml tethnologies and products for cardiovascularatisandications such as acute myocardial
infarction (“AMI”), and Angiotech no longer has ahigense rights with respect to our technologiesgiadtech made its final cost-sharing
payment in 2011 in connection with collaboratiotivaties and has no further obligations to us.

In the case of a new AMI collaboration, AngiotecHi tve entitled to a future payment from us equehtpercentage of cash license fee
payments we receive within the first six monthsifra third-party related to such AMI collaboratiamd is not entitled to other downstream
payments. The future payment, if any, will be eitfie15% of third-party license fees if an AMI taboration is established after the initiation
of enrolliment in a Phase Il AMI clinical trial, bbefore we have spent $5.0 million on the clinicial, and within 24 months of the termination
agreement, or (ii) 10% of third-party license fepsto a maximum of $5.0 million to Angiotech if &M collaboration is established after the
initiation of enroliment in a Phase Il AMI clinicfial, and after we have spent $5.0 million on ¢heical trial, and within 36 months of the
termination agreement. Prior to the terminatiothef collaboration, our clinical costs were recordetiof Angiotech’s cost-share
reimbursements, which amounted to $312,000 and,$628n 2011 and 2010, respectively.

RTI Biologics, Inc

In 2010, we entered into an agreement with RTI&jals, Inc. (“RTI") to develop and commercializelogic implants using our technology
for certain orthopedic applications in the bondtgsabstitutes market. Under the terms of the agees, we received a $5.0 million license fee
in installments, of which $3.0 million was guaradeand received in 2010 and 2011, and $2.0 milias contingent upon future events and
considered a substantive milestone at the incepfitine agreement. We evaluated the facts androgtances and determined the RTI
agreement had obligations constituting deliverablas concluded that it has multiple deliverablesluding deliverables relating to the gran

a license to our technology and performance ofareseand development services, and concludedhbaétdeliverables should be combined
into a single unit of accounting. We recognized$Be) million guaranteed license fee ratably ofraight-line basis over the estimated
performance period, which was completed in 2011.

In September 2012, RTI agreed to make the remaBa@ million license fee payments by December2B12, and we agreed to provide RTI
with certain technical support through December2RiL2. The $2.0 million consideration associatetth Wie amendment was recognized over
the performance period from September 2012 thraegember 2012.

We are also eligible to receive $35.5 million irslegayments upon the successful achievement @icedmmercial milestones. We evaluatec
the nature of the events triggering these contingapments and concluded that these events areastilie and that revenue will be recogni

in the period in which each underlying triggeringst occurs. In addition, we will receive tieregatiies on worldwide commercial sales, if
any, of implants using our technologies. No milastor royalty revenue has been recognized to date.

F. Capitalization and Warrant Liability
Capitalization

At December 31, 2012, we had 100.0 million shafemmmon stock and 10.0 million shares of undegiphareferred stock authorized. No
shares of preferred stock have been issued ascafniteer 31, 2012.

The following shares of common stock were resefeeduture issuance (in thousands):

December 31

2012 2011
Stock-based compensation plans 5,49( 5,50(
Warrants to purchase common st— 2007 offering — 4,97¢
Warrants to purchase common st— former lender: 14¢ 14¢
Warrants to purchase common st— 2011 offering 1,31(C 1,31(C
Warrants to purchase common st— 2012 offering 4,34¢ —

11.29; 11,93¢
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In October 2012, we completed a public offeringayating net proceeds of approximately $18.3 mildlmmmugh the issuance of 19,802,000
shares of common stock at a price of $1.01 peesthaiNovember 2012, the underwriters exercisedlirtheir right to purchase an additional
2,970,300 shares of common stock, solely to cover-allotments. The exercise of the full over-afient option generated an additional $2.8
million of net proceeds.

In March 2012, we completed a private placemerarfaing generating net proceeds of approximately 88llion through the issuance of
4,347,827 shares of common stock and five-yearamésrto purchase 4,347,827 shares of common stiticlkaw exercise price of $2.07 per
share. The securities were sold in multiples akad combination of one share of common stock an@ugant to purchase one share of
common stock at an offering price of $2.07 perdixembination, and the warrants include price mtide in the event we sell stock below the
exercise price, as defined. As a result of the Ret@012 public offering and in accordance withtdrens of the warrants, we sought and
obtained stockholder approval in February 2013%thice the exercise price of these warrants to §iebshare.

In November 2011, we entered into an equity purelz@seement, which provides that Aspire Capitald-lhC (“Aspire Capital”) is

committed to purchase up to an aggregate of $20l@mpof shares of our common stock over a twosyeam, subject to our election to sell
any such shares. Under the agreement, we hav@thda sell shares, subject to certain volumethitions and a minimum floor price, at a
modest discount to the prevailing market price pAg of the agreement, Aspire Capital made arainitvestment of $1.0 million in us through
the purchase of 666,667 shares of our common sitiok.50 per share in 2011, and received 266,66ifi@hl shares as compensation for its
commitment. In 2012, we sold an additional 800,808@res to Aspire Capital at an average price &#fter share (no shares were sold during
the quarter ended December 31, 2012). As of Decethe€2012, we have received aggregate proceeasppbximately $2.3 million under the
equity purchase agreement since its inception.

In February 2011, we completed a registered dofeting with net proceeds of $11.8 million throute issuance of 4,366,667 shares of
common stock and five-year warrants to purchase0]0®0 shares of common stock with an exercise @fi&3.55 per share. The securities
were sold in multiples of a fixed combination ofeoshare of common stock and a warrant to purch&sef@ share of common stock at an
offering price of $3.00 per fixed combination.

Warrant Liabilities

We account for common stock warrants as eitheililigls or as equity instruments depending on iecsic terms of the warrant agreement.
Registered common stock warrants that could requish settlement are accounted for as liabilités.classify these warrant liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet as a non-current tigbithich is revalued at fair value at each balastoeet date subsequent to the initial issuance
We use the Black-Scholes valuation model to vateenarrant liability at its fair value. Changestlie fair market value of the warrant are
reflected in the consolidated statement of opematés other income (expense).

The warrants we issued in both the March 2012 priptacement and the February 2011 registeredtdiffsring each contain a provision for
net cash settlement in the event that there isidaimental transaction (e.g., merger, sale of sotially all assets, tender offer, or share
exchange). If a fundamental transaction occurshithvthe consideration issued consists of all @astock in a non-public company, then the
warrant holder has the option to receive cash emuaiBlack Scholes value of the remaining unesectiportion of the warrant. Further, the
March 2012 warrants include price protection ingkient we sell stock below the exercise price,gised. As a result of the October 2012
public offering and in accordance with the termshef warrants, we sought and obtained stockholo@roaal in February 2013 to reduce the
exercise price of these 4,347,827 warrants to $iedEhare.
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The warrants have been classified as liabilitisg@posed to equity, due to the potential caskesatht upon the occurrence of certain ever
described above, and are recorded at their fairegaht each balance sheet date. See Note D.

As of December 31, 2012, we had the following @rtdtng warrants to purchase shares of common stock:

Number of
Underlying Shares Exercise Price Expiration
149,02¢ $5.00 June 8, 201
1,310,001 $3.55 February 2, 201
4,347,82 $2.07 March 14, 201'
5,806,85.

G. Stock-Based Compensation

We have two incentive plans that authorized aneggge of 5,500,000 shares of common stock for asmarémployees, directors and
consultants. These equity incentive plans authdhieessuance of equity-based compensation inaitme 6f stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, restricted stock uniexsfgrmance shares and units, and other stock-lmsarts to qualified employees, directors and
consultants. As of December 31, 2012, a total 9 shares of common stock have been issued undenaity incentive plans.

As of December 31, 2012, a total of 1,362,258 shasere available for issuance under our equity arsation plans and stock-based awards
to purchase 4,128,998 shares of common stock westanding (including 70,814 of restricted stocksiand certain assumed options from
2007 covering 1,075 shares). We recognized $481 882,000 and $1,466,000 of stock-based compensaxpense in 2012, 2011 and 2010
respectively.

Stock Options

The weighted average fair value of options gramezD12, 2011 and 2010 was $1.21, $2.30 and $2R2Hkare, respectively. The total fair
value of options vested during 2012, 2011 and 2049 $420,000, $570,000 and $1,835,000, respectieRecember 31, 2012, total
unrecognized estimated compensation cost relatedwested stock options was approximately $491,80ich is expected to be recognizec
the end of 2016 using the straight-line method. We&ghted average contractual life of unvestedomystiat December 31, 2012 was 8.12 years
There is no aggregate intrinsic value of fully eesbption shares and option shares expected tasedtDecember 31, 2012 since the market
value was less than the exercise price of the nptt the end of the year.

A summary of our stock option activity and relabefibrmation is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Number Exercise
of Options Price
Outstanding January 1, 2010 4,001,14 $ 4.9
Grantec 390,43° 2.9¢
Exercisec — —
Forfeited / Terminated / Expire (83,579 6.3¢
Outstanding December 31, 20 4,308,01: 4.7:
Grantec 213,58t¢ 2.61
Exercisec — —
Forfeited / Expirec (22,000 3.4¢€
Outstanding December 31, 20 4,499,60. 4.6:
Grantec 290,15( 1.44
Exercisec — —
Forfeited / Expirec (731,56 4.92
Outstanding December 31, 201 4,058,18. $ 4.3€
Vested during 2012 227,97" $ 2.3¢
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 20 3,761,92: $ 4.5¢

68



Table of Contents

Athersys, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (contial)

December 31, 201,

Options Outstanding Options Vested and Exercisablt
Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Average Weighted
Remaining Remaining
Number Contractual Average Number Contractual Average
of Exercise of Exercise
Exercise Price Options Life Price Options Life Price
$1.23-2.96 838,60 6.21 2.1¢ 568,03: 5.0¢€ 2.3¢
$3.10-5.00 3,098,501 4.37 4.8¢  3,072,81 4.3¢ 4.8¢
$5.28-7.80 120,00( 7.0¢ 5.2¢ 120,00( 7.0¢ 5.2¢
$90.66 1,07¢ 0.3t $90.6¢ 1,07t 0.3¢  $90.6¢
4,058,18: 3,761,92;

Restricted Stock Uni
A summary of our restricted stock unit activity asethted information is as follows:

Number
of
Restricted
Weighted
Stock Average
Units Fair Value
Outstanding December 31, 2010 — $ —
Grantec 39,30( 2.6¢
Vested/Issue — —
Forfeited/Expirec — —
Outstanding December 31, 20 39,30( $ 2.6¢
Grantec 56,71¢ 1.4
Vested/Issue! (9,819 2.6¢
Forfeited/Expirec (15,389 1.8¢
Outstanding December 31, 201 70,81« $ 1.8¢
Vested/Issued during 201: 9,81¢ $ 2.6¢
Vested/Issued cumulative at December 31, 2012 9,81¢ $ 2.6¢

The weighted average fair value of restricted stauks granted in 2012 was $1.43 per share. Resfrigtock units that vested during 2012 \
9,819 and none vested in 2011. At December 31,,20181 unrecognized estimated compensation ctetiebto unvested restricted stock units
was approximately $109,000, which is expected teelbegnized by the end of 2016 using the straiigiet+#hethod.

H. Income Taxes

We had net operating loss and research and develupax credit carryforwards of approximately $22500 and $4,176,000, respectively
December 31, 2012, and approximately $54,918,00054r176,000, respectively at December 31, 201¢h Sisses and credits may be use
reduce future taxable income and tax liabilitied aull expire at various dates between 2027 and®203

We have net operating loss carryforwards of appnately $6,698,000 (“Pre-Merger NOL”") that are liedtfor use under Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code to an annual net operatsgydarryforward of $464,000. The Pre-Merger NOL rnaysed to reduce future taxable
income and tax liabilities and will expire at vargodates between 2013 and 2027. However, as & oésulr most recent equity offerings, all
the net operating loss and credit carryforwards beagignificantly limited for use under Section 382he Internal Revenue Code.
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Significant components of our deferred tax assetsa follows (in thousands):

December 31

2012 2011
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 24,31¢ $ 18,67
Net operating loss carryforwar— Pre-Merger NOL 2,271 2,43t
Research and development credit carryforw. 4,17¢ 4,17¢
License fee 0 684
Compensation expen 2,94¢ 2,82¢
Other 502 477
Total deferred tax asse 34,22 29,27:
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass (34,229 (29,279
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —

Because of our cumulative losses, the deferreddagts have been fully offset by a valuation alloyeaWe have not paid income taxes for the

three-year period ended December 31, 2012.

I. Profit Sharing Plan and 401(k) Plan

We have a profit sharing and 401(k) plan that cegetbstantially all employees and allows for disonary contributions by us. We began
making employer contributions to this plan in 20a4d the expense was approximately $98,000 in 288,000 in 2011, and $0 in 2010.

J. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table presents quarterly data forykars ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, in thdesaercept per share data:

2012
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year
Revenues $2,747 $2657 $1,01tf $2,28¢ $ 8,70¢
Net loss $(4,330  $(3,719) $(3,449 $(3,23) $(14,73Y)
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $(0.179) $ (0.1 $(0.12 $(0.0) $ (0.45
2011
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year
Revenues $299( $243t $2,35¢ $256F $10,34
Net loss $(3,930 $(3,229 $(2,34) $(4,257) $(13,74¢
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ (0.1 $ (0.1 $(0.100 $ (0.1 $ (0.59

Due to the effect of quarterly changes to outstam@hares of common stock and weightings, the ahossper share will not necessarily ec

the sum of the respective quarters.
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ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and proceduresAn evaluation was carried out under the supervisioth with the participation of our
management, including our principal executive @ffiand our principal financial officer, of the effveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period coverethibyahnual report on Form 10-K. Based on that eatan, these officers have concluded that
as of December 31, 2012, our disclosure contradspracedures are effective.

Management'’s report on internal control over finandal reporting: Management is responsible for establishing and taigimg adequate
internal control over financial reporting, as stietm is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Einthe supervision and with the
participation of management, including our printigeecutive officer and principal financial officave conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting based on the framework in Internal Contrelntegrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tred@ommission. Based on this evaluation underrdmadwork in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework, management concluded thaintennal control over financial reporting was etiee as of December 31, 2012.

Changes in internal control: During the fourth quarter of 2012, there has beeohange in our internal control over financialogmg that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially affect, our internal control over fir@al reporting.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On January 7, 2013, the Board of Directors of thenBany, upon the recommendation of the Compens@tonmittee of the Board of
Directors of the Company, approved a cash bonwenineg plan, or the Plan, for the year ended Deeer@h, 2013 for the named executive
officers of the Company. The Plan provides thahgaarticipant is eligible to earn a bonus during &lward term of January 1, 2013 through
December 31, 2013. The Plan provides for the faligwarget bonus percentages of the named exeafficer’s salary during the award ter
weighted as set forth below on the achievemenpetified corporate goals, with the remainder baseohdividual/functional performance. T
corporate goals include advancing the Companyfsaal programs for MultiStem, advancement of sgetg@artnership and program activities,
and executing against the established operatinmggrid capital acquisition objectives. There isaroally adopted plan document for the Plan

Targe

Weighting on
Title Bonus Corporate Goa
Chief Executive Officer 40% 10C%
President & Chief Operating Offic: 33% 80%
Executive Vice President & Chief Scientific Offic 33% 80%
Executive Vice President, Regenerative Medi 30% 60%
Vice President of Financ 25% 60%

A summary of the plan is attached to this annyabreon Form 10-K as Exhibit 10.54 and is herelmpiporated herein by reference thereto.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information regarding Athersys’ directors, udihg the identification of the audit committee @hd audit committee financial expert, is
incorporated by reference to the information corediin Athersys’ Proxy Statement with respect ®2813 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
or the 2013 Proxy Statement, under the headingsctieh of Directors” and “The Board of Directorsdaits Committees”. Information
concerning executive officers is contained in [®&fof Part | of this annual report on Form 10-K enthe heading “Executive Officers of the
Registrant”.

The information regarding Section 16(a) benefioighership reporting compliance is incorporateddfgmence to the material under the
heading “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership RepgrtCompliance” in the 2013 Proxy Statement.

Athersys has adopted a code of ethics that apialiees principal executive officer, principal finaial officer and principal accounting officer.
Athersys’ code of ethics is posted under the Inusdab of its website at www.athersys.com. Athemsill post any amendments to, or waivers
of, its code of ethics that apply to its principakcutive officer, principal financial officer apdincipal accounting officer on its website.

ITEM11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information regarding executive officer andedior compensation is incorporated by referentbednformation contained in the 2013
Proxy Statement under the heading “Executive Corsgution”.

The compensation committee report is incorporatereference to the information contained in the2Btoxy Statement under the heading
“Compensation Committee Report”.

ITEM12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The information regarding security ownership otaier beneficial owners and management is incorpdray reference to the information
contained in the 2013 Proxy Statement under thdihgdBeneficial Ownership of Common Stock”.

The information regarding compensation plans umdéch equity securities are authorized for issudadacorporated by reference to the
information contained in the 2013 Proxy Statememnten the heading “Equity Compensation Plan Inforomat

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information regarding certain relationships agldted transactions and director independenicedsporated by reference to the
information contained in the 2013 Proxy Statememntean the heading “The Board of Directors and iten@uttees”.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding fees paid to and servicevigexl by our independent registered public accogrfirm during the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 and the pre-approvigigebhnd procedures of the audit committee isripm@ted by reference to the
information contained in the 2013 Proxy Statememnten the heading “Ratification of the Appointmehtradependent Auditors”.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(3)(1) Financial Statements:

The following consolidated financial statement#\tfersys, Inc. are included in Item 8:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&812011
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compsealehoss for each of the years ended Decembet@®P, 2011 and 2010
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityeeh of the years ended December 31, 2012, 2@ 2G&0
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow for eachef#ars ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

All schedules for which provision is made in thelgable accounting regulation of the SEC are equired under the related instructions or
are not applicable and, therefore, omitted.

(a)(3) Exhibits.

Exhibit No. Exhibit Descriptior

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,asended as of August 31, 2007 (incorporated héneneference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Registration Stagetnon Form S-3/A (Registration No. 333-144433dilvith the
Commission on October 10, 20(

3.2 Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct80eR007 (incorporated herein by reference to BkBild to the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0€-52108) filed with the Commission on October 31, 2(

4.1 Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcEsthibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFmrm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on January 28,1(

4.2 Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcEsthibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFamrm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on March 15, 20

10.1* Research Collaboration and License Agreement, deted December 8, 2000, by and between Atheragsahd Bristol-

Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeego Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current &¢pn Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

10.2* Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, date of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd. Bristol-Myers
Squibb Company (incorporated herein by referendextabit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Reportrarm 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207

10.3* Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersgsaimd Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeedo Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current 8¢pn Form 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207
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10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10t

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14t

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abg between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (incorgar&erein by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Current Reportfamrm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with tBemmission on June 14,
2007)

Sublicense Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2@96and between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (incafed herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Current RepmrtForm 8-K (Commission No. 000-52108) filed witletCommission on June 14,
2007)

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of April 28, 2000, by and among Atherbys, and the stockholde
of Athersys, Inc. parties thereto (incorporateceireby reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the registrai@urrent Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as ofaignz0, 2002, by and
among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholders, thedtors, Biotech and the Stockholders (each asatkbfinthe Amended and
Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated ai$ 2§ 2000, by and among Athersys, Inc. and tbheldolders of Athersys, In
parties thereto) (incorporated herein by refer¢ndexhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s Current RepmrtForm 8-K (Commission No.
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RedtBegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of Nier 19, 2002, by and
among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholders, thestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (each asetkfinthe Amended and
Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated ai 2§ 2000, as amended, by and among Athersgs aimd the stockholders of
Athersys, Inc. parties thereto) (incorporated hrebsi reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the registraftisrent Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, liyaanong Athersys, In
and the Existing Stockholders (as defined ther@mtprporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.¢he registrang Current Repo
on Form K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Athersys, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensation Plandrporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10d fhe registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Loan and Security Agreement, and Supplement, degexd November 2, 2004, by and among Athersys, Advanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending & Leasing INc., and Costella Kirsch IV, L.P. (incorporategtein by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Fofra@ (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the Corasidn on November 14,
2007)

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemetegddes of October 30, 2007, by and among ABT Hgldlompany,
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending bedsing IV, Inc., and Costella Kirsch 1V, L.P.dorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s QerdytReport on Form 10-Q (Commission No. E®E08) filed with the Commissic
on November 14, 200°

Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dateaf &eptember 29, 2006, by and among Athersys, Atvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending & Leasing INc., and Costella Kirsch IV, L.P. (incorporategtein by reference to Exhibit
10.13 to the registra’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefilacember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 298, by and between
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorpagtherein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to thestegnt’'s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employigrgement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betwamanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Van Bokkelen (incaigted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to #ggigtrant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datedbdDecember 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. Gil Van
Bokkelen (incorporated herein by reference to ExHib.16 to the registrant’s Current Report on F&4k (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 29&, by and between
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incogted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to thygsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employigrgement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betwamanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and John Harrington (incoaped herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to thgsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datedb&December 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. John J.
Harrington (incorporated herein by reference toikixf10.19 to the registrant’'s Current Report omr@-K (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&m/between Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Camphbatbfiporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the registrant’'s @atrReport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521d8§fwith the Commission
on June 14, 200"

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &4ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and Laura
Campbell (incorporated herein by reference to Bxii®.21 to the registrant’s Current Report on F@&ik (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 200and between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. asttbkR Deans, Ph.D.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1G@%he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 00(62108) filec
with the Commission on June 14, 20!

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and Robe
Deans (incorporated herein by reference to ExAibiP6 to the registrant’s Current Report on Fork @ommission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, dateb&October 3, 2003, by and among Athersys, kdvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpadrhatrein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the regig’s Current Report on Form
8-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. aillievd Lehmann
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1G@&e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 00(62108) filec
with the Commission on June 14, 20i
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10.32°
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Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by refererm&xhibit 10.29 to the registrant’s Current ReportForm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datebéSeptember 10, 2001, by and among Athersys, Alvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incoqted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to thygisteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancethBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officerd,axknowledged by
Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, LLC (incorporateéihdry reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the registeaa@urrent Report on Form 8-
K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by bedveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and namedutive officers, an
acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, lih€b{porated herein by reference to Exhibit 10@ghe registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of JW®0Z, by and among Athersys, BTHC VI, Inc. and btues (as defined therein)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@&e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@aission No. 000-52108)
filed with the Commission on June 14, 20

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 10220y and between Regents of the University ofridsota and MCL LLC,
assumed by ReGenesys, LLC through operation of eneng November 4, 2003 (incorporated herein byregfee to Exhibit 10.34
to the registrars Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Strategic Alliance Agreement, by and between Ayygric. and Angiotech, dated as of May 5, 2006diporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the registrant’'s @atReport on Form 8-K/A (Commission No. 000-521fi&y with the
Commission on October 9, 20C

Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaboration and lnise Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006, byeimeeen Athersys, Inc.
and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated imebg reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the registrar@urrent Report on Form
8-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, Offis and Directors and Officers (incorporated helbgineference to Exhibit
10.1 to the registra’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on August 6, 20

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2011 Cash Bonus IncerRiam (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBi#t1 to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddwem31, 2010 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed vifitt Commission on
March 25, 2011

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2012 Cash Bonus IncerRiam (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBiB6 to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddoem31, 2011 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed vtfita Commission on
March 28, 2012
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10.46

10.47

Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as cEBber 18, 2009, by and between Athersys, Inc., ABIding Company, ar
Pfizer (incorporated herein by reference to ExHilbi#d2 to the registrant's Annual Report on FornKlfor the year ended
December 31, 2009 (Commission No. -33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Stand-by License Agreement, dated as of DecemhexI®, by and between Regents of the UniversitMiohesota, ABT
Holding Company and Pfizer (incorporated hereindfgrence to Exhibit 10.43 to the registrant’s AalnReport on Form 16-for
the year ended December 31, 2009 (Commission Nk-33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Amendment dated as of March 31, 2009 to the Exdi@i#laboration and License Agreement, by and betwithersys, Inc. and
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company effective JanuarydQ@ (incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiL k0 the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on April 9, 20(

Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2010,nayeanong Athersys,
Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (as definedetmr(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi4b to the registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembeRBQ@9 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed with the Quission on March
11, 2010)

License and Technical Assistance Agreement, dated September 10, 2010, between ABT Holding Comzard RTI
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1he registrant’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-@r{tnission No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on November 8, 20

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorpedaherein by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to thesteant's Annual Report on
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 (CommisNimn002-33876) filed with the Commission on March 25, 20

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Nemployee Directors (incorporated herein by refeesto Exhibit 10.48 to
the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for ylear ended December 31, 2010 (Commission No. 38¥€ filed with the
Commission on March 25, 201

Athersys, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Tecentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective 1n@011)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.tefistrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K (ComnauedNo. 001-33876) filed
with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for NBmployee Directors pursuant to the Athersys, Aroended and Restated
2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Amended and Rest&fésttive June 16, 2011) (incorporated hereindfgnence to Exhibit
10.49 to the registra’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on May 6, 20.

Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Nosarehdh 2011, by and between Athersys, Inc. andraspapital Fund, LL(
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cassion No. 00133876) filec
with the Commission on November 14, 20

Termination Agreement, dated as of November 1112B¢ and between Athersys, Inc. and ABT Holdingrpany (f/k/a
Athersys, Inc.) and Angiotech (incorporated by refee to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's CurreepBrt on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on November 141 PX
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First Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Agreerdated as of November 17, 2011, by and betweenrgyhelnc. and
Aspire Capital Fund, LLC (incorporated by referetm&xhibit 10.47 to the registrant’'s Registratitatement on Form S-1
(Commission No. 33-178418) filed with the Commission on December 9,2

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedahterein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the tegig’'s Quarterly Report ¢
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on August 10, 2C

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of NoveritheP011, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Aspagital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cdssion No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on November 14, 20

Amendment No. 3 to Extended Collaboration and LseeAgreement, dated January 31, 2012, by and betd@& Holding
Company and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorfeddy reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registmQuarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on May 14, 20

First Amendment to License and Technical Assistakgeement, dated September 17, 2012, by and betéB& Holding, Inc.
and RTI Biologics, Inc. (incorporated herein byereihce to Exhibit 10.52 to the registrant’'s Regtgin Statement on Form S-
1/A (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on October 23, 2(

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Marc2092, by and between Athersys, Inc. and the sigiestthereto
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1ad#e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on March 15, 20:

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2013 Cash Bonus IncerRiam

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firn
Power of Attorney

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hixecutive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a}ld6d 15d-14(a)
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Laura K. Campbell, Vice Presiderfit-inance, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a-14(a) anelf%al) adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hExecutive Officer, and Laura Campbell, Vice Riest of Finance,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted putdagdection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Documer
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh
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101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

* Confidential treatment requested as to certainqust which portions have been filed separatelywie SEC
t Indicates management contract or compensatory ptantract or arrangement in which one or moreatlars or executive officers of the
registrant may be participar
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized, in the city of Cleveland, Stateddfio, on March 12, 2013.

ATHERSYS, INC.

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Gil Van Bokkeler
Title: Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed belptine following persons on behalf of 1
registrant and in the capacities and on the dalieated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the March 12, 2013
Gil Van Bokkelen Board of Directors (Principal Executive

Officer)
/s/ Laura K. Campbell Vice President of Finance (Principal Finan March 12, 2013
Laura K. Campbel Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
* Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific March 12, 2013
John J. Harringto Officer and Director
*
Lorin J. Randal Director March 12, 201:
*
Kenneth H. Traul Director March 12, 201!
*
Jack L. Wyszomiersk Director March 12, 201
*
Lee E. Babis: Director March 12, 201!
*
Ismail Kola Director March 12, 201!

* Gil Van Bokkelen, by signing his name hereto, sibereby sign this Form 10-K on behalf of eacthefabove named and designated
directors of the Company pursuant to Powers ofrAtg executed by such persons and filed with tlei$tées and Exchange
Commission

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Gil Van Bokkeler
Attorney-in-fact
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.
3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Exhibit Descriptior

Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,asended as of August 31, 2007 (incorporated héneneference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Registration Stagetnon Form S-3/A (Registration No. 333-144433dilvith the
Commission on October 10, 20(

Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct80eR2007 (incorporated herein by reference to BkBil to the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on October 31, 2(

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcEsthibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on January 28,1(

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcEsthibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on March 15, 20

Research Collaboration and License Agreement, deted December 8, 2000, by and between Atheragsahd Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeego Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current 8¢pn Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, date of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd.Bristol-Myers
Squibb Company (incorporated herein by referendextabit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Reportrarm 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207}

Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersgsaimd Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeego Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current &&jpn Form 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abg between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (incorgaraerein by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Cotieeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-5210®dfiwith the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Sublicense Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2@96and between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (inorafed herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Cotfieeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-5210dfiwith the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of April 28, 2000, by and among Atherbys, and the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretodiporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 torégmgistrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RegtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as ofagnz0, 2002,
by and among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholdbes|nvestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (eadafefined in the
Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as April 28, 2000, by and among Athersys, dnd the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretodd@mporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10./h#oregistrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. Amended and RegtRegistration Rights Agreement, dated as of Ndpex 19, 2002
by and among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholdbes|nvestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (eadafefined in the
Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as April 28, 2000, as amended, by and atmrsys, Inc.
and the stockholders of Athersys, Inc. partiesatogr(incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiBlto the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, ldyaanong Athersys, In
and the Existing Stockholders (as defined ther@mtprporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1@.¢hie registrans Current Repo
on Form K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Athersys, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensation Plandrporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10d.fhe registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Loan and Security Agreement, and Supplement, deted November 2, 2004, by and among Athersys, Kdvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending & Leasing INc., and Costella Kirsch IV, L.P. (incorporategtein by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Fofra@ (Commission No. 000-52108) filed with the Corasidn on November 14,
2007)

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemeteddss of October 30, 2007, by and among ABT Hgdompany,
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending bedsing IV, Inc., and Costella Kirsch 1V, L.P.dorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s QerdytReport on Form 10-Q (Commission No. G®E08) filed with the Commissic
on November 14, 200°

Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dateaf &eptember 29, 2006, by and among Athersys, Atvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc., Venture Lending & Leasing INc., and Costella Kirsch IV, L.P. (incorporategtein by reference to Exhibit
10.13 to the registra’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 29&, by and between
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorp@gtherein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to thestegnt’'s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employ#grégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betweanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Van Bokkelen (incaigted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to #gistrant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datedbdDecember 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaime Dr. Gil Van
Bokkelen (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiB.16 to the registrant’s Current Report on F&4k (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 29&, by and between
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incogted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to thygsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employigrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betweanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and John Harrington (incoaped herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to thygsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecbdDecember 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. John J.
Harrington (incorporated herein by reference toikixfi0.19 to the registrant's Current Report omf@-K (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&r/between Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Camphbatbfiporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the registrant’'s @atrReport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521d8§fwith the Commission
on June 14, 200"

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &4ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and Laura
Campbell (incorporated herein by reference to Bxii®.21 to the registrant’s Current Report on F@&ik (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2003&nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. asttbkR Deans, Ph.D.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1G@%he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 00(62108) filec
with the Commission on June 14, 20i

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and Robe
Deans (incorporated herein by reference to ExAibiR6 to the registrant’s Current Report on Fork @ommission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, dateb&October 3, 2003, by and among Athersys, kdvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpadrhatrein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the regig’s Current Report on Form
8-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. aillievd Lehmann
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1G@&e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 00(62108) filec
with the Commission on June 14, 20i

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &say 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotheraggunc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by referere&xhibit 10.29 to the registrant’s Current ReprtForm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datebéSeptember 10, 2001, by and among Athersys, Adlvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incogted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to thgsteant’s Current Report on
Form ¢&-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancethBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officerd,axknowledged by
Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, LLC (incorporate@ihdry reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the registea@urrent Report on Form 8-
K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by bettveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and namedutive officers, and
acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, lih€b{porated herein by reference to Exhibit 10@ghe registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of JU@08&, by and among Athersys, BTHC VI, Inc. and btoes (as defined therein)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1a@#e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 00(62108) filec
with the Commission on June 14, 20i
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10.34

10.35

10.36"

10.37*

10.38’

10.39

10.40

10.41°

10.42-

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 10220y and between Regents of the University ofridsota and MCL LLC,
assumed by ReGenesys, LLC through operation of eneng November 4, 2003 (incorporated herein byregiee to Exhibit 10.34
to the registrar's Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Strategic Alliance Agreement, by and between Aygric. and Angiotech, dated as of May 5, 2006djiporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the registrant’'s @atReport on Form 8-K/A (Commission No. 000-521fi&y with the
Commission on October 9, 20C

Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaboration and lise Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2006, bpetneeen Athersys, Inc.
and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated imebg reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the registrar@urrent Report on Form
8-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, Offis and Directors and Officers (incorporated hebgineference to Exhibit
10.1 to the registra’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on August 6, 20

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2011 Cash Bonus IncerRiam (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBi#t1 to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddwem31, 2010 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed vifitt Commission on
March 25, 2011

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2012 Cash Bonus InceriRiea (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBiB6 to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddoemn31, 2011 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed vtfita Commission on
March 28, 2012

Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as cEBber 18, 2009, by and between Athersys, Inc., ABIding Company, ar
Pfizer (incorporated herein by reference to ExHibit42 to the registrant’s Annual Report on ForrKifor the year ended
December 31, 2009 (Commission No. -33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Stand-by License Agreement, dated as of Decemhe&xQI®, by and between Regents of the UniversitMiohesota, ABT
Holding Company and Pfizer (incorporated hereimdfgrence to Exhibit 10.43 to the registrant’s AalnfReport on Form 16-for
the year ended December 31, 2009 (Commission Nk-33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Amendment dated as of March 31, 2009 to the Exdi@i#laboration and License Agreement, by and betwithersys, Inc. and
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company effective JanuarydQ@ (incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiL 10 the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on April 9, 20(

Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2010,ruyaanong Athersys,
Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (as definedetmr(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi4b to the registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembeRBQ@9 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed with the Quission on March
11, 2010)

License and Technical Assistance Agreement, dated September 10, 2010, between ABT Holding Comigand RTI
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1he registrant’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-@r{tnission No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on November 8, 20

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorpedaherein by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to thesteant's Annual Report on
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 (CommisNimn002-33876) filed with the Commission on March 25, 20
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10.51
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10.53
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21.1

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for NBmployee Directors (incorporated herein by refeesto Exhibit 10.48 to
the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for ylear ended December 31, 2010 (Commission No. G8¥&) filed with the
Commission on March 25, 201

Athersys, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Tecentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective 1n@011)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.tefgistrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K (ComnuesNo. 00133876) filed witt
the Commission on June 20, 2C

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for NBmployee Directors pursuant to the Athersys, Aroended and Restated
2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Amended and Restafésttive June 16, 2011) (incorporated hereindfgnence to Exhibit 10.49
to the registrars Quarterly Report on Form -Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on May 6, 20

Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Noaehdh 2011, by and between Athersys, Inc. andraspapital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cassion No. 001-33876) filed
with the Commission on November 14, 20

Termination Agreement, dated as of November 11126¢ and between Athersys, Inc. and ABT Holdingrpany (f/k/a Athersy:
Inc.) and Angiotech (incorporated by referencexbibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report amrig 8-K (Commission No. 001-
33876) filed with the Commission on November 141 X

First Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Agreerdated as of November 17, 2011, by and betweenrgyhelnc. and Aspir
Capital Fund, LLC (incorporated by reference to iBkH.0.47 to the registrant’s Registration Statatren Form S-1 (Commission
No. 33:-178418) filed with the Commission on December 9,1

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedaterein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the tegig’'s Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on August 10, 20

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of NoveritheP011, by and between Athersys, Inc. and Aspagital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cassion No. 001-33876) filed
with the Commission on November 14, 20

Amendment No. 3 to Extended Collaboration and LseeAgreement, dated January 31, 2012, by and betd@& Holding
Company and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorpeddy reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registmQuarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on May 14, 20

First Amendment to License and Technical Assistakmeement, dated September 17, 2012, by and betéBa& Holding, Inc.
and RTI Biologics, Inc. (incorporated herein byereihce to Exhibit 10.52 to the registrant’'s Regigin Statement on Form S-1/A
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on October 23,2X

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Marc2022, by and between Athersys, Inc. and the sigiestthereto (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to the regisfs Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission Nal-33876) filed with the
Commission on March 15, 201

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2013 Cash Bonus IncerRiam

List of Subsidiarie:
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23.1
24.1
311

31.2

32.1

101.INS
101.SCFH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?ablic Accounting Firn
Power of Attorney

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hixecutive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a}ld6d 15d-14(a)
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Laura K. Campbell, Vice Presiderfit-inance, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a-14(a) anel#%al) adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairman and €hExecutive Officer, and Laura Campbell, Vice Rient of Finance,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted putdag@ection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

* Confidential treatment requested as to certainqust which portions have been filed separatelywie SEC
T Indicates management contract or compensatory ptantract or arrangement in which one or moreatiars or executive officers of the
registrant may be participar
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EXHIBIT 10.54

SUMMARY OF ATHERSYS, INC.
2013 CASH BONUS INCENTIVE PLAN

On January 7, 2013, the Board of Directors of Adlgey Inc. (the “Company”ypon the recommendation of the Compensation Coreendt th
Board of Directors of the Company, approved a ¢asius incentive plan (the “Plan”) for the year eh@=cember 31, 2013 for the named
executive officers of the Company. The Plan prositieat each participant is eligible to earn a baturing the award term of January 1, 2013
through December 31, 2013. The Plan provides ®ifdhowing target bonus percentages of the namedugive officer’s salary during the
award term, weighted as set forth below on theeagment of specified corporate goals, with the iade based on individual/functional
performance. The corporate goals include advarttiegcompany’s clinical programs for MultiStem, extdeg against the established
operating plan and capital acquisition objectia®] advancement of strategic partnership and progddivities. There is no formally adopted

plan document for the Plan.

Targe
Weighting on
Title Bonus Corporate Goa
Chief Executive Officer 40% 10C%
President & Chief Operating Offic: 3% 80%
Executive Vice President & Chief Scientific Offic 33% 80%
Executive Vice President, Regenerative Medit 30% 60%

Vice President of Financ 25% 60%



Name of Subsidiary
ABT Holding Company (formerly Athersys, Inc.)
Advanced Biotherapeutics, Ir
Athersys Limitec
ReGenesys LL(
ReGenesys BVB/

SUBSIDIARIES OF ATHERSYS, INC.

EXHIBIT 21.1

Jurisdiction
Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
Delaware
Belgium



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdllewing Registration Statements:

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
()

(6)
(7)

Registration Statement (Forn-3, No. 33.-185991) dated January 11, 20

Registration Statement (Forn-3, No. 33.-180411) dated March 28, 201

Registration Statement (Forn-8, No. 33.-175023) dated June 20, 2011 pertaining to the Ajfseinc. Lon-Term Incentive Plar
Registration Statement (Forn-3, No. 33.-164336) dated January 14, 20

Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-1478iated November 14, 2007 pertaining to the Aggersic. Equity Incentive
Compensation Plal

Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-1478&ited November 14, 2007 pertaining to the Agrgerinc. Long-Term Incentive
Plan, anc

Registration Statement (Forn-3/A, No. 33:-144433) dated October 10, 20!

of our report dated March 12, 2013, with resped¢h&consolidated financial statements of AtherBys,included in this Annual Report
(Form 10-K) of Athersys, Inc. for the year endect®mber 31, 2012.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 12, 2013



EXHIBIT 24.1

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of thedensigned officers and directors of Athersys, lad)elaware corporation,
hereby constitutes and appoints of Gil Van BokkelWilliam Lehmann, Jr., and Laura K. Campbell, @adh of them, as his true and lawful
attorney or attorneys-ifact, with full power of substitution and revocatjdor each of the undersigned and in the namegepknd stead of ea
of the undersigned, to sign on behalf of each efuhdersigned an Annual Report on Form 10-K forfideal year ended December 31, 2012
pursuant to Section 13 of the Securities ExchangeoA1934 and to sign any and all amendments¢h sunnual Report, and to file the same,
with all exhibits thereto, and other documentsanreection therewith including, without limitatioa,Form 12b-25 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting to said attorneyttorreeys-in-fact, and each of them, full power anthority to do so and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary taohe th and about the premises, as fully to allntg#@nd purposes as the undersigned might ¢
could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirmaigthat said attorney or attorneysfact or any of them or their substitute or subgtisumay
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

This power of attorney may be executed in multg@anterparts, each of which shall be deemed amatigith respect to the person
executing it.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereustohir hands as of the 13th day of February 2013.

Signature Title
/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen
Gil Van Bokkeler Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Boafdoectors

/sl Laura K. Campbell
Laura K. Campbel Vice President of Financ

/s/ John J. Harrington
John J. Harringto Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific Offiaerd Directol

/s/ Lorin J. Randall
Lorin J. Randal Director

/sl Jack L. Wyszomierski
Jack L. Wyszomiersk Director

/s/ Kenneth H. Traub
Kenneth H. Traul Director

/s/ Ismail Kola
Ismail Kola Director

/sl Lee E. Babiss
Lee E. Babis: Director




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Gil Van Bokkelen, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Athersys, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financedarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentihisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyaport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldlave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

March 12, 2013

/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen

Gil Van Bokkeler
Chief Executive Officer an
Chairman of the Board of Directa



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Laura K. Campbell, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Athersys, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financedarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentihisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyaport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldlave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

March 12, 2013

/sl Laura K. Campbell

Laura K. Campbel
Vice President of Financ



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Athersys;.I(the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endEtember 31, 2012, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), each of the undersigned officefshe Company certifies, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant taoBea®6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thasuoh officer’'s knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exgnidashe Repor

Date: March 12, 2013

/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen
Name: Gil Van Bokkele
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

/sl Laura K. Campbell
Name: Laura K. Campbe
Title: Vice President of Financ

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is notdofiled as part of the Report or as a
separate disclosure docume



